DATE:

TO:

AIR POLLUTION CONTROL
BOARD

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO Fes D

DIANNE JACOB
Second District

AIR POLLUTION CONTROL DISTRICT Dl
i D
June 20, 2007

San Diego County Air Pollution Control Board

SUBJECT: ADOPTION BY REFERENCE OF NEW SOURCE PERFORMANCE

STANDARDS (NSPS) FOR SOLID WASTE COMBUSTION: SUBPARTS
Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, AND EEEE, AMENDING REGULATION X
(District: All)

SUMMARY:

Overview

The Environmental Protection Agency has promulgated the following New Source
Performance Standards that apply to new or modified solid waste combustion
operations: Subpart Eb for large municipal waste combustion units; Subpart Ec for
hospital/medical/infectious waste incinerators; Subpart AAAA for small municipal
waste combustion units; Subpart CCCC for commercial and industrial solid waste
incineration units; and Subpart EEEE for other solid waste incineration units.

There are currently no facilities in San Diego County subject to these New Source
Performance Standards. However, the Air Pollution Control District has recently
received several inquiries concerning proposals for new facilities that involve solid
waste combustion that potentially are subject to one of these New Source Performance
Standards. Therefore, it is requested that the Board adopt federal Subparts Eb, Ec,
AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE by reference. Adoption by reference will amend Regulation
X (Standards of Performance for New Stationary Sources) to incorporate a Federal
Register reference to these subparts.

After adoption by reference, the Air Pollution Control District will then request
delegation from the Environmental Protection Agency to become the primary agency to
implement and enforce federal Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE locally.

Recommendation(s)

AIR POLLUTION CONTROL OFFICER

1. Find that it can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility that the adoption
of the proposed amendments to Regulation X may have a significant effect on the
environment, and the adoption of those proposed amendments is exempt from the
provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to California
Code of Regulations, Title 14, Section 15061(b)(3).



SUBJECT: ADOPTION BY REFERENCE OF NEW SOURCE PERFORMANCE
STANDARDS (NSPS) FOR SOLID WASTE COMBUSTION: SUBPARTS Eb,
Ec, AAAA, CCCC, AND EEEE, AMENDING REGULATION X  (District:
Al

2. Adopt the resolution titled Resolution Adding By Reference Federal New Source
Performance Standards (NSPS) Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE to
Regulation X of the Rules and Regulations of the San Diego County Air Pollution
Control District.

3. Direct the Air Pollution Control Officer to request delegation from the
Environmental Protection Agency to implement and enforce federal Subparts Eb,
Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE.

Fiscal Impact
The recommended action will have no fiscal impact on the District. Subparts Eb, Ec,
AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE will be enforced with existing staff.

Business Impact Statement

Delegation to implement and enforce a federal Subpart by a local agency is generally
preferred by affected businesses. They can continue to work with the Air Pollution
Control District to resolve any compliance issues that may arise rather than deal directly
with the federal agency.

The recommended action will provide consistency between local and federal
requirements, will impose no new requirements and, therefore, will not have any
significant negative impacts on business.

Advisory Board Statement
There was no quorum at the Air Pollution Control Advisory Committee. The members
present supported the recommendation at its April 11, 2007, meeting.

BACKGROUND:

Federal New Source Performance Standards (NSPSs) are regulations that establish minimum air
pollution control standards for specific industries. They are promulgated as Subparts of Part 60
of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and
apply uniformly throughout the country. EPA notices the final regulations and any subsequent
amendments in the Federal Register (FR). EPA can enforce NSPSs but often delegates primary
implementation and enforcement authority to State and local air pollution control agencies. After
such a delegation, EPA retains the authority to enforce the NSPS, but in most situations the State
or local agency enforces the regulation instead.

The EPA promulgated 40 CFR Part 60 Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE to fulfill the
requirements of Section 111 and 129 of the Federal Clean Air Act, which requires regulations for
solid waste combustion units. These NSPSs regulate emissions of oxides of nitrogen (NOx),
particulate matter, carbon monoxide, sulfur dioxide (SO2), and toxic compounds (dioxins/furans,
cadmium, mercury, lead, and hydrogen chloride) from certain categories of solid waste

-2-



SUBJECT: ADOPTION BY REFERENCE OF NEW SOURCE PERFORMANCE
STANDARDS (NSPS) FOR SOLID WASTE COMBUSTION: SUBPARTS Eb,
Ec, AAAA, CCCC, AND EEEE, AMENDING REGULATION X (District:
All)

combustion units. Several types of solid waste combustion units are not subject to these
regulations; such as regulated hazardous waste incinerators, co-fired units burning limited
amounts of solid waste, and qualifying small power and cogeneration facilities burning
homogeneous waste (except for those burning shredded or pellitized municipal solid waste).

The Subparts apply to waste combustion units that are constructed or modified after specified
dates. San Diego County has no existing waste combustion units that are in the categories of
solid waste combustion units covered by these regulations. Thus, these regulations will only
apply to new units. There is one proposal for a green waste combustion unit currently under
evaluation by the District that is potentially subject to one of these NSPSs. In addition, the Air
Pollution Control District (District) has recently received several inquires regarding solid waste
combustion units, such as green waste combustion and conversion of green waste to other fuels,
that would potentially be subject to one of these NSPSs.

The EPA promulgated Subparts Eb and AAAA to regulate and reduce emissions from large
(waste capacity greater than 250 tons per day) and small (waste capacity between 35 tons per day
and 250 tons per day) municipal solid waste combustion units, respectively. Subpart Eb was
promulgated in 1995 and last amended in 2006 (71 FR 27335, 5/10/06). Subpart AAAA was
promulgated in 2000 (65 FR 76355, 12/6/00). The regulations are applicable to the combustion
of municipal solid waste, with or without energy recovery.

The EPA promulgated Subpart Ec in 1997 to regulate and reduce emissions from hospital and
medical-infectious waste incinerators and amended it in 2000 (65 FR 61753, 10/17/00). The
regulation is applicable to all combustion units that combust hospital and medical-infectious
waste except pyrolysis units, which heat waste in the absence of oxygen. Normal cremation of
human or animal remains are not subject to this regulation.

The EPA promulgated Subpart CCCC in 2000 to regulate and reduce emissions from commercial
and industrial solid waste incineration units. The regulation was last amended in 2005 (70 FR
55580, 9/22/05). Subpart CCCC is applicable to commercial and industrial solid waste that is
combusted at a commercial or industrial facility without energy recovery. Several categories of
incinerators are exempt from this regulation including agricultural waste incineration units,
municipal waste combustion units, hospital and medical-infectious waste incineration units
regulated under Subpart Ec, pathological waste incinerators, material recovery units, and
laboratory analysis units.

The EPA promulgated Subpart EEEE in 2005 (70 FR 74892, 12/16/05) to regulate and reduce
emissions from other solid waste incinerators. Other solid waste incinerators are very small
municipal solid waste combustion units, those with a waste capacity less than 35 tons per day,
and institutional solid waste incinerators. Institutional solid waste incinerators are solid waste
incinerators that combust solid waste, without energy recovery, at a land-based institutional
facility. Institutional facilities include facilities owned or operated by an organization having a
governmental, educational, civic, or religious purpose such as a school, hospital, prison, military

-3-



SUBJECT: ADOPTION BY REFERENCE OF NEW SOURCE PERFORMANCE
STANDARDS (NSPS) FOR SOLID WASTE COMBUSTION: SUBPARTS Eb,
Ec, AAAA, CCCC, AND EEEE, AMENDING REGULATION X (District:
Al

installation, or church. This regulation exempts combustion units that are regulated under any
other NSPS and several other types of combustion units including pathological waste
incineration units, materials recovery units, laboratory analysis units, governmental contraband or
prohibited goods incinerators, and temporary use incinerators used in disaster recovery.

There was no opposition to adopting Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE by reference or
other issues raised at the public workshop held on March 14, 2007.

Socioeconomic Impact Assessment

Section 40728.5 of the State Health and Safety Code requires the District to perform a
socioeconomic impact assessment for new and revised rules and regulations significantly
affecting air quality or emission limitations. Amending Regulation X of the District Rules and
Regulations by adding federal Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE will not significantly
affect air quality or emission limitations since there are no existing affected sources and any new
affected source would already be subject to the regulation. Therefore, a socioeconomic impact
assessment is not required.

Compliance with Board Policy on Adopting New Rules

On February 2, 1993, the Board directed that, with the exception of a regulation requested by
business or a regulation for which a socioeconomic impact assessment is not required, no new or
revised regulation shall be implemented unless specifically required by federal or State law. The
proposed adoption of federal Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE is consistent with this
Board directive.

Comparison to Existing Requirements

Health and Safety Code Section 40727.2 requires that whenever the District proposes adopting,
amending, or repealing a rule or regulation, an analysis be prepared to identify and compare the
air pollution control elements of the proposal with corresponding elements of existing or
proposed federal or District requirements. Pursuant to Section 40727.2(g), however, this analysis
is not necessary if the District finds that the proposed rule does not impose a new emission limit
or standard, nor make an existing emission limit or standard more stringent, nor impose new or
more stringent monitoring, reporting, or recordkeeping requirements. The proposed amendments
do not impose new or more stringent standards or monitoring, reporting, or recordkeeping
requirements.

Environmental Statement

The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires an environmental review for certain
actions. The District has conducted a preliminary review of whether the CEQA applies to
amending Regulation X of the District Rules and Regulations by adding federal Subparts Eb, Ec,
AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE by reference. Federal Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE are
already applicable for solid waste combustion, and are proposed to be adopted by reference in
their entirety. It is certain there is no possibility that this action may have a significant adverse
effect on the environment. Therefore, the adoption of amendments to Regulation X is exempt

-4-



SUBJECT: ADOPTION BY REFERENCE OF NEW SOURCE PERFORMANCE
STANDARDS (NSPS) FOR SOLID WASTE COMBUSTION: SUBPARTS Eb,
Ec, AAAA, CCCC, AND EEEE, AMENDING REGULATION X (District:
Al

from the provisions of the CEQA pursuant to California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Section
15061(b)(3).

Linkage to the County of San Diego’s Strategic Plan

The County's five-year strategic plan includes an Environment Initiative to ensure environmental
preservation and enhance quality of life. Facilitating enforcement of federal Subparts Eb, Ec,
AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE on sources that may emit toxic air pollutants or sizeable amounts of
oxides of nitrogen, particulate matter, carbon monoxide, and sulfur dioxide fulfills the objective
to restore air quality by ensuring reduced emissions, thus protecting public health.

Respectfully submitted,
VPRI WP AT T wz/ // - 94
CHANDRA L. WALLAR OND A. FERNANDEZ
Deputy Chief Administrative Officer Air Pollution Control Officer (Acting)

ATTACHMENTS

Attachment A - Resolution titled Resolution Adding by Reference Federal New Source
Performance Standards (NSPS) Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE to
Regulation X of the Rules And Regulations of the San Diego County Air
Pollution Control District.

Attachment B - Change Copy of Regulation X
Attachment C - New Source Performance Standard Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC and EEEE

Attachment D - Workshop Report



SUBJECT: ADOPTION BY REFERENCE OF NEW SOURCE PERFORMANCE
STANDARDS (NSPS) FOR SOLID WASTE COMBUSTION: SUBPARTS Eb,
Ec, AAAA, CCCC, AND EEEE, AMENDING REGULATION X (District:

All)
AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET
CONCURRENCE(S)

COUNTY COUNSEL REVIEW X] Ye:—l\o 5/ 1 /97

Written disclosure per County Charter

Section 1000.1 required [ ]Yes [X]No
GROUP/AGENCY FINANCE DIRECTOR [ ]Yes [XIN/A
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER [ ]Yes [XIN/A

Requires Four Votes [ 1Yes [X]No
GROUP/AGENCY INFORMATION

TECHNOLOGY DIRECTOR [ 1Yes [XIN/A
CHIEF TECHNOLOGY OFFICER [ ]Yes [XIN/A
DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES [ ]Yes [XIN/A

Other Concurrence(s): N/A
ORIGINATING DEPARTMENT: Air Pollution Control District, County of San Diego
CONTACT PERSON(S):

Raymond A. Fernandez

Name

(858) 586-2700

Phone

(858) 586-2701

Fax

0176

Mail Station
Raymond.Fernandez@sdcounty.ca.gov
E-mail

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE: ”/ // M

Raymond A. Fernandez,
Air Pollution Control Officer (Acting)



SUBJECT: ADOPTION BY REFERENCE OF NEW SOURCE PERFORMANCE
STANDARDS (NSPS) FOR SOLID WASTE COMBUSTION: SUBPARTS Eb,
Ec, AAAA, CCCC, AND EEEE, AMENDING REGULATION X (District:
All)

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET
(continued)

PREVIOUS RELEVANT BOARD ACTIONS:
February 2, 1993 (APCB #2) Delayed implementation of new or revised regulations unless
requested by business, specifically ordered by federal or State law, or for which a socioeconomic

impact assessment is not required.

BOARD POLICIES APPLICABLE:
N/A

BOARD POLICY STATEMENTS:
N/A

CONTRACT AND/OR REQUISITION NUMBER(S):
N/A



MEETING DATE: JUNE 20, 2007
RESOLUTION NO. 07-137 ATTACHMENT A

Re Rules and Regulations of the)
Air Pollution Control District )
of San Diego County . ....... )

RESOLUTION ADDING BY REFERENCE FEDERAL NEW SOURCE
PERFORMANCE STANDARDS (NSPS) SUBPARTS Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE
TO REGULATION X OF THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE SAN DIEGO
COUNTY AIR POLLUTION CONTROL DISTRICT

On motion of Member _Slater—Price  , seconded by Member Cox , the
following resolution is adopted:

WHEREAS, the San Diego County Air Pollution Control Board, pursuant to Section 40702
of the Health and Safety Code, adopted Rules and Regulations of the Air Pollution Control
District of San Diego County; and

WHEREAS, said Board now desires to amend said Rules and Regulations; and

WHEREAS, notice has been given and a public hearing has been had relating to the
amendment of said Rules and Regulations pursuant to Section 40725 of the Health and Safety
Code; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to section 40727 of the Health and Safety Code, the San Diego County
Air Pollution Control Board makes the following findings:

(1) (Necessity) The addition by reference of Federal NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA,
CCCC, and EEEE is necessary in order to receive delegation from the United States
Environmental Protection Agency to implement and enforce Federal NSPS Subparts Eb,
Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE, as required pursuant to the Section 105 grant from U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency to the Air Pollution Control District;

(2) (Authority) The addition by reference of Federal NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA,
CCCC, and EEEE is authorized by Health and Safety Code section 40702;

(3) (Clarity) Federal NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE can be easily
understood by persons directly affected by them,;

(4) (Consistency) The adoption of Federal NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC,
and EEEE merely incorporates by reference the Federal NSPS Subparts adopted pursuant to
Section 111 of the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. § 7411), and Federal NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec,
AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE align with, and not in conflict with or contrary to, existing
statutes, court decisions, and State and federal regulations;

(5) (Non-duplication) The addition by reference of Federal NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec,
AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE will not duplicate existing district or federal requirements, but
merely incorporates the Federal NSPS Subparts;

Resolution Regulation X — Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE A-1
6/20/07



(6) (Reference) The addition by reference of Federal NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA,
CCCC, and EEEE is necessary to receive delegation from the United States Environmental
Protection Agency to implement and enforce Federal NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA,
CCCC, and EEEE in accordance with Clean Air Act section 111 (42 U.S.C. § 7411); and

WHEREAS, the Air Pollution Control Board further finds that an analysis of existing
requirements applicable to the source or category is not required by Section 40727.2 of the
Health and Safety Code because the proposed addition of Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and
EEEE does not impose new or more stringent requirements; and

WHEREAS, the Air Pollution Control Board further finds pursuant to Health and Safety
Code section 40001 that the addition by reference of Federal NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA,
CCCQC, and EEEE is required to receive delegation to implement the Federal NSPS and will
promote the attainment of ambient air quality standards; and

WHEREAS, the Air Pollution Control Board further finds that an assessment of
socioeconomic impacts is not required by Health and Safety Code section 40728.5 for addition
by reference of Federal NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE because it will not
significantly affect air quality or emission limitations,

NOW THEREFORE IT IS RESOLVED AND ORDERED by the San Diego County Air
Pollution Control Board that the Rules and Regulations of the Air Pollution Control District of
San Diego County be and hereby are amended as follows:

Proposed amendment to the Preamble to Regulation X adding Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and
EEEE by reference is to read as follows:

REGULATIONX. STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR NEW
STATIONARY SOURCES (NSPS) (Rev. Effective (Date of Adoption))

The provisions of Part 60, Chapter I, Title 40, of the Code of Federal Regulations, (40 CFR 60),
applicable to the subparts listed in this Regulation are hereby adopted by reference on the date shown
and made part of the Air Pollution Control District Rules and Regulations. Whenever any source is
subject to more than one rule, regulation, provision, or requirement relating to the control of any air
contaminant, in cases of conflict or duplication the most stringent rule, regulation, provision, or
requirement shall apply.

All new sources of air pollution and all modified or reconstructed sources of air pollution shall
comply with the applicable standards, criteria, and requirements set forth herein. For the purpose of
this Regulation, the word “Administrator” as used in 40 CFR 60 shall mean the Air Pollution Control
Officer of the San Diego County Air Pollution Control District, except that the Air Pollution Control
Officer shall not be empowered to approve alternate test methods, alternate standards or work
practices. Other deviations, if any, from the provisions of 40 CFR 60 which are adopted by the Air
Pollution Control Board are noted in the reference to the affected Subpart.

Resolution Regulation X — Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE A-2



The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) retains concurrent enforcement authority for these

standards pursuant to Section 113 of the federal Clean Air Act, as amended, if the EPA Administrator

desires to exercise it, including those not yet adopted by the Air Pollution Control District.

The addition of federal Subparts by reference to Regulation X shall take effect and be in force on
the date of delegation of enforcement authority to the San Diego County Air Pollution Control

District by EPA.

SUBPART D
40CFR60.40-46

SUBPART Da

40CFR60.40a-49a

STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR FOSSIL-FUEL-FIRED
STEAM GENERATORS FOR WHICH CONSTRUCTION IS
COMMENCED AFTER AUGUST 17,1971

FR Citation

39 FR 20791, June 14, 1974
40 FR 2803, Jan. 16, 1975
40 FR 46256, Oct. 6, 1975
41 FR 51398, Nov. 22, 1976
42 FR 37936, July 25, 1977
42 FR 61537, Dec. 5, 1977
43 FR 9278, Mar. 7, 1978
44 FR 33612, June 17, 1979
44 FR 76787, Dec. 28, 1979
45 FR 36077, May 29, 1980
45 FR 47146, July 14, 1980
46 FR 57498, Nov. 24, 1981
48 FR 3736, Jan. 27, 1983
51 FR 42797, Nov. 25, 1986
52 FR 28954, Aug. 4, 1987
54 FR 6662, Feb. 14, 1989
54 FR 21344, May 17, 1989
55 FR 5212, Feb. 14, 1990
61 FR 49976, Sept. 24, 1996
65 FR 61752, Oct. 17, 2000

Adoption Date

Delegation Date

October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
Not Yet Adopted

Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending

STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR ELECTRIC UTILITY
STEAM GENERATING UNITS FOR WHICH CONSTRUCTION

IS COMMENCED AFTER SEPTEMBER 18, 1978

FR Citation

44 FR 33613, June 11, 1979
48 F4 3737, Jan. 27, 1983
54 FR 6663, Feb. 14, 1989
54 FR 21344, May 17, 1989
55 FR 5212, Feb. 14, 1990
55 FR 18876, May 7, 1990
63 FR 49453, Sept. 16, 1998
64 FR 7464, Feb. 12, 1999
65 FR 61752, Oct. 17, 2000
66 FR 18551, April 10, 2001

Adoption Date
October 17,2001

October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001

Resolution Regulation X — Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE

Delegation Date
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending




SUBPART Db

40CFR60.40b-49b

SUBPART Dc

40CFR60.40c-48c

SUBPART Eb

40CFR60.50b-59b

66 FR 31178, June 11, 2001
66 FR 42610, Aug. 14, 2001
70 FR 28653, May 18, 2005
70 FR 51268, Aug. 30, 2005
71 FR 9876, Feb. 27, 2006
71 FR 33399, June 9, 2006

" October 17, 2001

Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted

Pending

STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR INDUSTRIAL-
COMMERCIAL-INSTITUTIONAL STEAM GENERATING UNITS

FR Citation

51 FR 42768, Nov. 25, 1986
52 FR 47842, Dec. 16, 1987
54 FR 51824, Dec. 18, 1989
54 FR 51819, Dec. 18, 1989
55 FR 5212, Feb. 14, 1990
55 FR 18876, May 7, 1990
60 FR 28062, May 30, 1995
61 FR 14031, Mar. 29, 1996
62 FR 52641, Oct. 8, 1997
63 FR 49454, Sept. 16, 1998
64 FR 7464, Feb. 12, 1999
65 FR 13243, Mar. 13, 2000
65 FR 61752, Oct. 17, 2000
66 FR 18553, April 10, 2001
66 FR 42610, Aug. 14, 2001
66 FR 49834, Oct. 1, 2001
69 FR 40773, July 7, 2004
71 FR 9881, Feb. 27, 2006
71 FR 33400, June 9, 2006

Adoption Date
April 25,2001
April 25,2001
April 25,2001
April 25,2001
April 25,2001
April 25,2001
April 25,2001
April 25,2001
April 25,2001
April 25,2001
April 25,2001
April 25,2001
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted

Delegation Date
Pending

Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending

STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR SMALL INDUSTRIAL-
COMMERCIAL-INSTITUTIONAL STEAM GENERATING UNITS

FR Citation

55 FR 37683, Sept. 12, 1990
61 FR 20736, May 8, 1996
64 FR 7465, Feb. 12, 1999
65 FR 61752, Oct. 17, 2000
71 FR 9884, Feb. 27, 2006

Adoption Date
Aug. 13,1997

Aug. 13, 1997

Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted

Delegation Date
June 24, 1998

June 24, 1998

STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR LARGE MUNICIPAL
WASTE COMBUSTORS FOR WHICH CONSTRUCTION IS
COMMENCED AFTER SEPTEMBER 20, 1994 OR FOR WHICH
MODIFCATION OR RECONSTRUCTION COMMENCED AFTER

JUNE 19, 1996

FR Citation

60 FR 65419, Dec. 19, 1995
62 FR 45120 ,Aug. 25, 1997
62 FR 45125 ,Aug. 25, 1997

Adoption Date

(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)

Resolution Regulation X — Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE

Delegation Date



SUBPART Ec
40CFR60.50c-58¢c

SUBPART K
40CFR60.110-113

SUBPART Ka
40CFR60.110a-115a

SUBPART Kb
40CFR60.110b-117b

65 FR 61753, Oct. 17, 2000
66 FR 36476, July 12,2001
66 FR 57827, Nov. 16, 2001
71 FR 27335, May 10, 2006

(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)

STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR HOSPITAL/MEDICAL/
INFECTIOUS WASTE INCINERATORS FOR WHICH
CONSTRUCTION IS COMMENCED AFTER JUNE 20, 1996

FR Citation
62 FR 48382, Sept. 15, 1997
65 FR 61753, Oct. 17, 2000

Adoption Date
(Date of Adoption)

(Date of Adoption)

Delegation Date

STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR STORAGE VESSELS FOR
PETROLEUM LIQUIDS FOR WHICH CONSTRUCTION,
RECONSTRUCTION, OR MODIFICATION COMMENCED AFTER
JUNE 11, 1973, AND PRIOR TO MAY 19, 1978

FR Citation

39 FR 9317, March 8, 1974
39 FR 13776, April 17, 1974
39 FR 20794, June 14, 1974
42 FR 37937, July 25, 1977
45 FR 23379, April 4, 1980
48 FR 3737, Jan. 27, 1983
52 FR 11429, April 8, 1987
65 FR 61755, Oct. 17, 2000

Adoption Date

(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)

Delegation Date

STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR STORAGE VESSELS FOR
PETROLEUM LIQUIDS FOR WHICH CONSTRUCTION,
RECONSTRUCTION, OR MODIFICATION COMMENCED AFTER
May 18, 1978, AND PRIOR TO July 23, 1984

FR Citation

45 FR 23379, April 4, 1980
45 FR 83229, Dec. 18,1980
48 FR 3737, Jan. 27, 1983
52 FR 11429, April 8, 1987
65 FR 61756, Oct. 17, 2000
65 FR 78275, Dec. 14, 2000

Adoption Date

(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)

Delegation Date

STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR VOLATILE ORGANIC
LIQUID STORAGE VESSELS (INCLUDING PETROLEUM LIQUID
STORAGE VESSELS) FOR WHICH CONSTRUCTION,
RECONSTRUCTION, OR MODIFICATION COMMENCED AFTER

JULY 23, 1984

FR Citation

52 FR 11429, Aug. 11, 1987
52 FR 22780, June 16, 1987

Adoption Date
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)

Resolution Regulation X — Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE

Delegation Date



54 FR 32973, Aug. 11, 1989 (Date of Adoption)

62 FR 52641, Oct. 8, 1997 (Date of Adoption)

65 FR 61756, Oct. 17, 2000 (Date of Adoption)

65 FR 78275, Dec. 14, 2000 (Date of Adoption)

68 FR 59332, Oct. 15, 2003 (Date of Adoption)
SUBPART GG STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR STATIONARY
40CFR60.330-335 GAS TURBINES

FR Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date

44 FR 52798, Sept. 10, 1979 October 17, 2001 Pending

47 FR 3770, Jan. 27, 1982 October 17, 2001 Pending

52 FR 42434, Nov. 5, 1987 October 17, 2001 Pending

54 FR 6675 Feb. 14, 1989 October 17, 2001 Pending

54 FR 27016, June 27, 1989 October 17, 2001 Pending
65 FR 61759, Oct. 17, 2000 Not Yet Adopted
69 FR 41359, July 8, 2004 Not Yet Adopted
71 FR 9458, Feb. 24, 2006 Not Yet Adopted

SUBPART AAA STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR NEW RESIDENTIAL
40CFR60.530-539b  WOOD HEATERS

FR Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date

53 FR 5873, Feb. 26, 1988 April 12, 2000 Pending

53 FR 12009, April 12, 1988 April 12,2000 Pending

53 FR 14889, April 26, 1988 April 12,2000 Pending

57 FR 5328, Feb. 13, 1992 April 12, 2000 Pending

60 FR 33925, June 29, 1995 April 12, 2000 Pending

63 FR 64874, Nov. 24, 1998 April 12,2000 Pending

64 FR 7466, Feb. 12, 1999 April 12,2000 Pending

65 FR 61763, Oct. 17, 2000 Not Yet Adopted
SUBPART OOO STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR NONMETALLIC
40CFR60.670-676 MINERAL PROCESSING PLANTS

FR Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date

50 FR 31328, Aug. 1, 1985 April 28,1999 May 28, 2002

54 FR 6680, Feb. 14, 1989 Not Yet Adopted

62 FR 31351, June 9, 1997 April 28, 1999 May 28, 2002

65 FR 61778, Oct. 17, 2000 Not Yet Adopted
SUBPART UUU STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR CALCINERS AND DRYERS
40CFR60.730-737 IN MINERAL INDUSTRIES

FR Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date

57 FR 44503, Sept. 28, 1992 Nov. 17, 1999 May 28, 2002

58 FR 40591, July 29, 1993 Nov. 17, 1999 May 28, 2002

65 FR 61778, Oct. 17, 2000 Not Yet Adopted

Resolution Regulation X — Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE A-6



SUBPART VVV STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR POLYMERIC COATING
40CFR60.740-748 OF SUPPORTING SUBSTRATES
FR Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date
54 FR 37551, Sept. 11, 1989 May 23, 2008

SUBPART WWW STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR MUNICIPAL
40CFR60.750-759 SOLID WASTE LANDFILLS

FR Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date
61 FR 9919, Mar. 12, 1996 Aug. 13,1997 June 24, 1998

63 FR 32750, June 16. 1998 Not Yet Adopted

64 FR 9262, Feb. 24, 1999 Not Yet Adopted

65 FR 18908, Apr. 10, 2000 Not Yet Adopted

65 FR 61778, Oct. 17, 2000 Not Yet Adopted

71 FR 55127, Sept. 21, 2006 Not Yet Adopted

SUBPART AAAA STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR SMALL MUNICIPAL

40CFR60.1000-1465 WASTE COMBUSTION UNITS FOR WHICH CONSTRUCTION IS
COMMENCED AFTER AUGUST 30, 1999 OR FOR WHICH
MODIFICATION OR RECONSTRUCTION IS COMMENCED AFTER

JUNE 6, 2001
FR Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date
65 FR 76355, Dec. 6, 2000 (Date of Adoption)

SUBPART CCCC STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR COMMERCIAL AND

40CFR60.2000-2265 INDUSTRIAL SOLID WASTE INCINERATION UNITS FOR WHICH
CONSTRUCTION IS COMMENCED AFTER NOVEMBER 30, 1999 OR
FOR WHICH MODIFICATION OR RECONSTRUCTION IS
COMMENCED ON OR AFTER JUNE 2, 2001

FR Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date
65 FR 75350, Dec. 1, 2000 (Date of Adoption)
66 FR 16606, Mar. 27, 2001 (Date of Adoption)
70 FR 55580, Sept. 22, 2005 (Date of Adoption)

SUBPART EEEE STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR‘OTHER' SOLID WASTE

40CFR60.2880-2977  INCINERATION UNITS FOR"WHICH €ONSTRUGTION IS
COMMENCED AFTER DECEMBER 9, 2004, OR FOR WHICH
MODIFICATION OR RECONSTRUCTION IS COMMENGED ON:OR
AFTER JUNE 16, 2006.

FR Citation " Adoption Date Delegation Date
70 FR 74892, Dec. 16, 2005 (Date of Adoption)

Resolution Regulation X — Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE A-7



IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED AND ORDERED that the subject addition of federal

Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE by reference to Regulation X shall take effect upon

adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Air Pollution Control Board of the San Diego County

Air Pollution Control District, State of California, this 20th day of
June , 2007 by the following votes:

AYES: Cox, Jacob, Slater-Price, Roberts, Horn

STATE OF CALIFORNIA)
County of San Diego)®®

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Original
Resolution entered in the Minutes of the San Diego County Board of Supervisors

Resolution No. 07-137

[P\—'ﬂl\‘l"‘r-\ AL T e an
_F

1'...« Lﬂ‘lo el b d
AP 6/20/07 (2) COBIYCLL L
y M
SENIOR DEFUTY

This is a true certified copy of the criginal
document on file or of record i the office ol the ¢
Clerk of the Board. It bears the seal of the County
of San Diego, imprinted in purple ink, and bears
the signature of a Deputy Clerk,

THOMAS ). PASTUSZKA LAk
CLERK OF THE BOARD, SAN DIEGO COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

By Mumﬂ%% Dage: Qﬁ]—mﬂ

Resolution Regulation X — Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE



ATTACHMENT B
SAN DIEGO AIR POLLUTION CONTROL DISTRICT
PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO REGULATION X

CHANGE COPY

Proposed amendment to Regulation X is to read as follows:

REGULATION X. STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR NEW
STATIONARY SOURCES (NSPS) (Rev. Effective 6/20/07)

The provisions of Part 60, Chapter I, Title 40, of the Code of Federal Regulations, (40 CFR 60),
applicable to the subparts listed in this Regulation are hereby adopted by reference on the date
shown and made part of the Air Pollution Control District Rules and Regulations. Whenever
any source is subject to more than one rule, regulation, provision, or requirement relating to the
control of any air contaminant, in cases of conflict or duplication the most stringent rule,
regulation, provision, or requirement shall apply.

All new sources of air pollution and all modified or reconstructed sources of air pollution shall
comply with the applicable standards, criteria, and requirements set forth herein. For the
purpose of this Regulation, the word “Administrator” as used in 40 CFR 60 shall mean the Air
Pollution Control Officer of the San Diego County Air Pollution Control District, except that
the Air Pollution Control Officer shall not be empowered to approve alternate test methods,
alternate standards or work practices. Other deviations, if any, from the provisions of 40 CFR
60 which are adopted by the Air Pollution Control Board are noted in the reference to the
affected Subpart.

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) retains concurrent enforcement authority for
these standards pursuant to Section 113 of the federal Clean Air Act, as amended, if the EPA
Administrator desires to exercise it, including those not yet adopted by the Air Pollution Control
District.

The addition of federal Subparts by reference to Regulation X shall take effect and be in force
on the date of delegation of enforcement authority to the San Diego County Air Pollution
Control District by EPA.

SUBPART D STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR FOSSIL-FUEL-FIRED
40CFR60.40-46 STEAM GENERATORS FOR WHICH CONSTRUCTION IS
COMMENCED AFTER AUGUST 17, 1971
FR Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date
39 FR 20791, June 14, 1974 October 17, 2001 Pending
40 FR 2803, Jan. 16, 1975 October 17, 2001 Pending
40 FR 46256, Oct. 6, 1975 October 17, 2001 Pending

41 FR 51398, Nov. 22, 1976 October 17, 2001 Pending
42 FR 37936, July 25, 1977 October 17, 2001 Pending

SDAPCD B-1
6/20/07



SUBPART Da
40CFR60.40a-49a

SUBPART Db
40CFR60.40b-49b

42 FR 61537, Dec. 5, 1977
43 FR 9278, Mar. 7, 1978
44 FR 33612, June 17, 1979
44 FR 76787, Dec. 28, 1979
45 FR 36077, May 29, 1980
45 FR 47146, July 14, 1980
46 FR 57498, Nov. 24, 1981
48 FR 3736, Jan. 27, 1983
51 FR 42797, Nov. 25, 1986
52 FR 28954, Aug. 4, 1987
54 FR 6662, Feb. 14, 1989
54 FR 21344, May 17, 1989
55 FR 5212, Feb. 14, 1990
61 FR 49976, Sept. 24, 1996
65 FR 61752, Oct. 17, 2000

October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17,2001
October 17,2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
Not Yet Adopted

Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending

STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR ELECTRIC UTILITY
STEAM GENERATING UNITS FOR WHICH CONSTRUCTION

IS COMMENCED AFTER SEPTEMBER 18, 1978

FR Citation

44 FR 33613, June 11, 1979
48 F4 3737, Jan. 27, 1983
54 FR 6663, Feb. 14, 1989
54 FR 21344, May 17, 1989
55 FR 5212, Feb. 14, 1990
55 FR 18876, May 7, 1990
63 FR 49453, Sept. 16, 1998
64 FR 7464, Feb. 12, 1999
65 FR 61752, Oct. 17, 2000
66 FR 18551, April 10, 2001
66 FR 31178, June 11, 2001
66 FR 42610, Aug. 14, 2001
70 FR 28653, May 18, 2005
70 FR 51268, Aug. 30, 2005
71 FR 9876, Feb. 27, 2006
71 FR 33399, June 9, 2006

Adoption Date
October 17, 2001

October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted

Delegation Date
Pending

Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending

STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR INDUSTRIAL-
COMMERCIAL-INSTITUTIONAL STEAM GENERATING UNITS

FR Citation

51 FR 42768, Nov. 25, 1986
52 FR 47842, Dec. 16, 1987
54 FR 51824, Dec. 18, 1989
54 FR 51819, Dec. 18, 1989
55 FR 5212, Feb. 14, 1990
55 FR 18876, May 7, 1990
60 FR 28062, May 30, 1995
61 FR 14031, Mar. 29, 1996
62 FR 52641, Oct. 8, 1997
63 FR 49454, Sept. 16, 1998

Adoption Date
April 25, 2001
April 25, 2001
April 25, 2001
April 25, 2001
April 25, 2001
April 25, 2001
April 25,2001
April 25, 2001
April 25, 2001
April 25, 2001

Delegation Date
Pending

Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending
Pending



SUBPART Dc
40CFR60.40c-48c

SUBPART Eb
40CFR60.50b-59b

64 FR 7464, Feb. 12, 1999
65 FR 13243, Mar. 13, 2000
65 FR 61752, Oct. 17, 2000
66 FR 18553, April 10, 2001
66 FR 42610, Aug. 14, 2001
66 FR 49834, Oct. 1, 2001
69 FR 40773, July 7, 2004
71 FR 9881, Feb. 27, 2006
71 FR 33400, June 9, 2006

April 25, 2001

April 25, 2001

Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted

Pending
Pending

STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR SMALL INDUSTRIAL-
COMMERCIAL-INSTITUTIONAL STEAM GENERATING UNITS

FR Citation

55 FR 37683, Sept. 12, 1990
61 FR 20736, May 8, 1996
64 FR 7465, Feb. 12, 1999
65 FR 61752, Oct. 17, 2000
71 FR 9884, Feb. 27, 2006

Adoption Date
Aug. 13, 1997

Aug. 13, 1997

Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted
Not Yet Adopted

Delegation Date
June 24, 1998

June 24, 1998

STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR LARGE MUNICIPAL

WASTE COMBUSTORS FOR WHICH CONSTRUCTION IS

SUBPART Ec
40CFR60.50c-58¢

COMMENCED AFTER SEPTEMBER 20, 1994 OR FOR WHICH

MODIFCATION OR RECONSTRUCTION COMMENCED AFTER

JUNE 19, 1996

FR Citation

60 FR 65419, Dec. 19, 1995
62 FR 45120 .Aug. 25, 1997
62 FR 45125 ,Aug. 25, 1997
65 FR 61753, Oct. 17, 2000

66 FR 36476, July 12, 2001

66 FR 57827, Nov. 16, 2001
71 FR 27335, May 10, 2006

Adoption Date

Delegation Date

(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)
(Date of Adoption)

STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR HOSPITAL/MEDICAL/

INFECTIOUS WASTE INCINERATORS FOR WHICH

SUBPART GG
40CFR60.330-335

CONSTRUCTION IS COMMENCED AFTER JUNE 20, 1996

FR Citation
62 FR 48382, Sept. 15, 1997
65 FR 61753, Oct. 17, 2000

Adoption Date
(Date of Adoption)

(Date of Adoption)

Delegation Date

STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR STATIONARY

GAS TURBINES

FR Citation

44 FR 52798, Sept. 10, 1979
47 FR 3770, Jan. 27, 1982
52 FR 42434, Nov. 5, 1987
54 FR 6675 Feb. 14, 1989

Adoption Date
October 17, 2001

October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001
October 17, 2001

Delegation Date
Pending

Pending
Pending
Pending



54 FR 27016, June 27, 1989 October 17, 2001 Pending
65 FR 61759, Oct. 17, 2000 Not Yet Adopted
69 FR 41359, July 8, 2004 Not Yet Adopted
71 FR 9458, Feb. 24, 2006 Not Yet Adopted

SUBPART AAA STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR NEW RESIDENTIAL
40CFR60.530-539b  WOOD HEATERS

FR Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date
53 FR 5873, Feb. 26, 1988 April 12, 2000 Pending

53 FR 12009, April 12, 1988 April 12, 2000 Pending

53 FR 14889, April 26, 1988 April 12, 2000 Pending

57 FR 5328, Feb. 13, 1992 April 12, 2000 Pending

60 FR 33925, June 29, 1995 April 12, 2000 Pending

63 FR 64874, Nov. 24, 1998 April 12, 2000 Pending

64 FR 7466, Feb. 12, 1999 April 12, 2000 Pending

65 FR 61763, Oct. 17, 2000 Not Yet Adopted

SUBPART 00O STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR NONMETALLIC
40CFR60.670-676 MINERAL PROCESSING PLANTS

FR Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date
50 FR 31328, Aug. 1, 1985 April 28, 1999 May 28, 2002

54 FR 6680, Feb. 14, 1989 Not Yet Adopted

62 FR 31351, June 9, 1997 April 28, 1999 May 28, 2002

65 FR 61778, Oct. 17, 2000 Not Yet Adopted

SUBPART UUU STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR CALCINERS AND DRYERS
40CFR60.730-737 IN MINERAL INDUSTRIES

FR Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date
57 FR 44503, Sept. 28, 1992 Nov. 17, 1999 May 28, 2002

58 FR 40591, July 29, 1993 Nov. 17, 1999 May 28, 2002

65 FR 61778, Oct. 17, 2000 Not Yet Adopted

SUBPART VVV STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR POLYMERIC COATING
40CFR60.740-748 OF SUPPORTING SUBSTRATES

FR Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date
54 FR 37551, Sept. 11, 1989 May 23, 2007



SUBPART WWW STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR MUNICIPAL
40CFR60.750-759 SOLID WASTE LANDFILLS

FR Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date
61 FR 9919, Mar. 12, 1996 Aug. 13, 1997 June 24, 1998

63 FR 32750, June 16. 1998 Not Yet Adopted

64 FR 9262, Feb. 24, 1999 Not Yet Adopted

65 FR 18908, Apr. 10, 2000 Not Yet Adopted

65 FR 61778, Oct. 17, 2000 Not Yet Adopted

71 FR 55127, Sept. 21, 2006 Not Yet Adopted

SUBPART AAAA STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR SMALL MUNICIPAL

40CFR60.1000-1465 WASTE COMBUSTION UNITS FOR WHICH CONSTRUCTION IS
COMMENCED AFTER AUGUST 30, 1999 OR FOR WHICH
MODIFICATION OR RECONSTRUCTION IS COMMENCED AFTER

JUNE 6, 2001
FR Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date
65 FR 76355, Dec. 6, 2000 (Date of Adoption)

SUBPART CCCC STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR COMMERCIAL AND

40CFR60.2000-2265 INDUSTRIAL SOLID WASTE INCINERATION UNITS FOR WHICH
CONSTRUCTION IS COMMENCED AFTER NOVEMBER 30. 1999
OR FOR WHICH MODIFICATION OR RECONSTRUCTION IS
COMMENCED ON OR AFTER JUNE 2, 2001

FR Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date
65 FR 75350, Dec. 1, 2000 (Date of Adoption)
66 FR 16606, Mar. 27, 2001 (Date of Adoption)
70 FR 55580, Sept. 22, 2005 (Date of Adoption)

SUBPART EEEE STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR OTHER SOLID WASTE

40CFR60.2880-2977 INCINERATION UNITS FOR WHICH CONSTRUCTION IS
COMMENCED AFTER DECEMBER 9, 2004, OR FOR WHICH
MODIFICATION OR RECONSTRUCTION IS COMMENCED ON
OR AFTER JUNE 16, 2006.

ER Citation Adoption Date Delegation Date
70 FR 74892, Dec. 16, 2005 (Date of Adoption)



ATTACHMENT C

NEW SOURCE PERFORMANCE STANDARDS (N SPS)
SUBPARTS
Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, AND EEEE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

Subpart Eb Standards of Performance for Large Municipal Waste
Combustors for Which Construction Is Commenced A fter
September 20, 1984 or for Which Modification or
Reconstruction Is Commenced After June 19, 1996 .......ooooovoeoo 2

Subpart Ec Standards of Performance for Hospital/Medical/Infectious
Waste Incinerators for Which Construction Is Commenced
Ater June 20, 1996 ......oeueeiueveeiiieeeeeeeeeeee e 49

Subpart AAAA Standards of Performance for Small Municipal Waste
Combustion Units for Which Construction Is Commenced
After August 30, 1999 or for Which Modification or
Reconstruction Is Commenced After June 6, 2001 .......ovvooeeee, 67

Subpart CCCC Standards of Performance for Commercial and Industrial
Solid Waste Incineration units for Which Construction Is
Commenced After November 30, 1999 or for Which
Modification or Reconstruction Is Commenced on or After
June 1, 2001y ol ot cainme oA bleeon T AL D 107

Subpart EEEE Standards of Performance for Other Solid Waste
Incineration Units for Which Construction Is Commenced
After December 9, 2004 or for Which Modification or
Reconstruction Is Commenced on or After June 16, 2006 ............. 131



Subpart Eb—Standards of Performance for Large Municipal Waste Combustors for Which
Construction is Commenced After September 20, 1994 or for Which Modification or
Reconstruction is Commenced After June 19, 1996

Electronic Code of Federal Regulations (e-CFR), e-CFR Data is current as of February 2, 2007, Title
40: Protection of Environment, Part 60—Standards Of Performance For New Stationary Sources
Source: 60 FR 65419, Dec. 19, 1995, unless otherwise noted.

§ 60.50b Applicability and delegation of authority.

(a) The affected facility to which this subpart applies is each municipal waste combustor unit with
a combustion capacity greater than 250 tons per day of municipal solid waste for which
construction, modification, or reconstruction is commenced after September 20, 1994.

(b) Any waste combustion unit that is capable of combusting more than 250 tons per day of
municipal solid waste and is subject to a federally enforceable permit limiting the maximum
amount of municipal solid waste that may be combusted in the unit to less than or equal to 11 tons
per day is not subject to this subpart if the owner or operator:

(1) Notifies EPA of an exemption claim;

(2) Provides a copy of the federally enforceable permit that limits the firing of municipal solid
waste to less than 11 tons per day; and

(3) Keeps records of the amount of municipal solid waste fired on a daily basis.
(c) An affected facility to which this subpart applies is not subject to subpart E or Ea of this part.

(d) Physical or operational changes made to an existing municipal waste combustor unit primarily
for the purpose of complying with emission guidelines under subpart Cb are not considered a
modification or reconstruction and do not result in an existing municipal waste combustor unit
becoming subject to this subpart.

() A qualifying small power production facility, as defined in section 3(17)(C) of the Federal
Power Act (16 U.S.C. 796(17)(C)), that burns homogeneous waste (such as automotive tires or
used oil, but not including refuse-derived fuel) for the production of electric energy is not subject
to this subpart if the owner or operator of the facility notifies EPA of this exemption and provides
data documenting that the facility qualifies for this exemption.

() A qualifying cogeneration facility, as defined in section 3(18)(B) of the Federal Power Act (16
U.S.C. 796(18)(B)), that burns homogeneous waste (such as automotive tires or used oil, but not
including refuse-derived fuel) for the production of electric energy and steam or forms of useful
energy (such as heat) that are used for industrial, commercial, heating, or cooling purposes, is not
subject to this subpart if the owner or operator of the facility notifies EPA of this exemption and
provides data documenting that the facility qualifies for this exemption.

(g) Any unit combusting a single-item waste stream of tires is not subject to this subpart if the
owner or operator of the unit:

(1) Notifies EPA of an exemption claim; and
(2) [Reserved]
(3) Provides data documenting that the unit qualifies for this exemption.

(h) Any unit required to have a permit under section 3005 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act is not
subject to this subpart.

(i) Any materials recovery facility (including primary or secondary smelters) that combusts waste
for the primary purpose of recovering metals is not subject to this subpart.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-2



(j) Any cofired combustor, as defined under §60.51b, that meets the capacity specifications in paragraph
(a) of this section is not subject to this subpart if the owner or operator of the cofired combustor:

(1) Notifies EPA of an exemption claim;

(2) Provides a copy of the federally enforceable permit (specified in the definition of cofired
combustor in this section); and

(3) Keeps arecord on a calendar quarter basis of the weight of municipal solid waste combusted at
the cofired combustor and the weight of all other fuels combusted at the cofired combustor.

(k) Air curtain incinerators, as defined under §60.51b, located at a plant that meet the capacity
specifications in paragraph (a) of this section and that combust a fuel stream composed of 100
percent yard waste are exempt from all provisions of this subpart except the opacity limit under
§60.56D, the testing procedures under §60.58b(l), and the reporting and recordkeeping provisions
under §60.59b (e) and (i).

(1) Air curtain incinerators located at plants that meet the capacity specifications in paragraph (a) of
this section combusting municipal solid waste other than yard waste are subject to all provisions of
this subpart.

(m) Pyrolysis/combustion units that are an integrated part of a plastics/rubber recycling unit (as
defined in §60.51b) are not subject to this subpart if the owner or operator of the plastics/rubber
recycling unit keeps records of the weight of plastics, rubber, and/or rubber tires processed on a
calendar quarter basis; the weight of chemical plant feedstocks and petroleum refinery feedstocks
produced and marketed on a calendar quarter basis; and the name and address of the purchaser of
the feedstocks. The combustion of gasoline, diesel fuel, jet fuel, fuel oils, residual oil, refinery gas,
petroleum coke, liquified petroleum gas, propane, or butane produced by chemical plants or
petroleum refineries that use feedstocks produced by plastics/rubber recycling units are not subject
to this subpart.

(n) The following authorities are retained by the Administrator of the U.S. EPA and are not
transferred to a State:

(1) Approval of exemption claims in paragraphs (b), (e), (f), (g) and (j) of this section;

(2) Enforceability under Federal law of all Federally enforceable, as defined in §60.51b,
limitations and conditions;

(3) Determination of compliance with the siting requirements as specified in §60.57b(a);

(4) Acceptance of relationship between carbon monoxide and oxygen as part of initial and annual
performance tests as specified in §60.58b(b)(7);

(5) Approval of other monitoring systems used to obtain emissions data when data is not obtained
by CEMS as specified in §60.58b(e)(14), (h)(12), (i)(11), and (n)(14), and (p)(11);

(6) Approval of a site-specific monitoring plan for the continuous emission monitoring system
specified in “60.58b(n)(13) and (o) of this section or the continuous automated sampling system
specified in §60.58b(p)(10) and (q) of this section;

(7) Approval of major alternatives to test methods;

(8) Approval of major alternatives to monitoring;

(9) Waiver of recordkeeping; and

(10) Performance test and data reduction waivers under “608(b).
(o) This subpart shall become effective June 19, 1996.

(p) Cement kilns firing municipal solid waste are not subject to this subpart.
NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-3



[60 FR 65419, Dec. 19, 1995, as amended at 62 FR 45120, 45125, Aug. 25, 1997, 71 FR 27335,
May 10, 2006]

§ 60.51b Definitions.
Administrator means:

(1) For approved and effective State Section 111(d)/129 plans, the Director of the State air
pollution control agency, or employee of the State air pollution control agency that is delegated the
authority to perform the specified task;

(2) For Federal Section 111(d)/129 plans, the Administrator of the EPA, an employee of the EPA,

* the Director of the State air pollution control agency, or employee of the State air pollution control
agency to whom the authority has been delegated by the Administrator of the EPA to perform the
specified task; and

(3) For NSPS, the Administrator of the EPA, an employee of the EPA, the Director of the State air
pollution control agency, or employee of the State air pollution control agency to whom the
authority has been delegated by the Administrator of the EPA to perform the specified task.

Air curtain incinerator means an incinerator that operates by forcefully projecting a curtain of air
across an open chamber or pit in which burning occurs. Incinerators of this type can be constructed
above or below ground and with or without refractory walls and floor.

Batch municipal waste combustor means a municipal waste combustor unit designed so that it
cannot combust municipal solid waste continuously 24 hours per day because the design does not
allow waste to be fed to the unit or ash to be removed while combustion is occurring.

Bubbling fluidized bed combustor means a fluidized bed combustor in which the majority of the
bed material remains in a fluidized state in the primary combustion zone.

Calendar quarter means a consecutive 3-month period (nonoverlapping) beginning on January 1,
April 1, July 1, and October 1.

Calendar year means the period including 365 days starting January 1 and ending on December 31.

Chief facility operator means the person in direct charge and control of the operation of a
municipal waste combustor and who is responsible for daily onsite supervision, technical direction,
management, and overall performance of the facility.

Circulating fluidized bed combustor means a fluidized bed combustor in which the majority of the
fluidized bed material is carried out of the primary combustion zone and is transported back to the
primary zone through a recirculation loop.

Clean wood means untreated wood or untreated wood products including clean untreated lumber,
tree stumps (whole or chipped), and tree limbs (whole or chipped). Clean wood does not include
yard waste, which is defined elsewhere in this section, or construction, renovation, and demolition
wastes (including but not limited to railroad ties and telephene poles), which are exempt from the
definition of municipal solid waste in this section.

Cofired combustor means a unit combusting municipal solid waste with nonmunicipal solid waste
fuel (e.g., coal, industrial process waste) and subject to a federally enforceable permit limiting the
unit to combusting a fuel feed stream, 30 percent or less of the weight of which is comprised, in
aggregate, of municipal solid waste as measured on a calendar quarter basis.

Continuous automated sampling system means the total equipment and procedures for automated
sample collection and sample recovery/analysis to determine a pollutant concentration or emission
rate by collecting a single or multiple integrated sample(s) of the pollutant (or diluent gas) for

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-4



subsequent on-or off-site analysis; integrated sample(s) collected are representative of the
emissions for the sample time as specified by the applicable requirement.

Continuous emission monitoring system means a monitoring system for continuously measuring
the emissions of a pollutant from an affected facility.

Dioxin/furan means tetra- through octa- chlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans.

EPA means the Administrator of the U.S. EPA or employee of the U.S. EPA who is delegated to
perform the specified task.

Federally enforceable means all limitations and conditions that are enforceable by EPA including
the requirements of 40 CFR part 60, 40 CFR part 61, and 40 CFR part 63, requirements within any
applicable State implementation plan, and any permit requirements established under 40 CFR
52.21 or under 40 CFR 51.18 and 40 CFR 51.24.

First calendar half means the period starting on January 1 and ending on June 30 in any year.

Four-hour block average or 4-hour block average means the average of all hourly emission
concentrations when the affected facility is operating and combusting municipal solid waste
measured over 4-hour periods of time from 12:00 midnight to 4 a.m., 4 a.m. to 8 a.m., 8 a.m. to
12:00 noon, 12:00 noon to 4 p.m., 4 p.m. to 8 p.m., and 8 p.m. to 12:00 midnight.

Mass burn refractory municipal waste combustor means a field-erected combustor that combusts
municipal solid waste in a refractory wall furnace. Unless otherwise specified, this includes
combustors with a cylindrical rotary refractory wall furnace.

Mass burn rotary waterwall municipal waste combustor means a field-erected combustor that
combusts municipal solid waste in a cylindrical rotary waterwall furnace or on a tumbling-tile grate.

Mass burn waterwall municipal waste combustor means a field-erected combustor that combusts
municipal solid waste in a waterwall furnace.

Materials separation plan means a plan that identifies both a goal and an approach to separate
certain components of municipal solid waste for a given service area in order to make the
separated materials available for recycling. A materials separation plan may include elements such
as dropoff facilities, buy-back or deposit-return incentives, curbside pickup programs, or
centralized mechanical separation systems. A materials separation plan may include different goals
or approaches for different subareas in the service area, and may include no materials separation
activities for certain subareas or, if warranted, an entire service area.

Maximum demonstrated municipal waste combustor unit load means the highest 4-hour arithmetic
average municipal waste combustor unit load achieved during four consecutive hours during the
most recent dioxin/furan performance test demonstrating compliance with the applicable limit for
municipal waste combustor organics specified under §60.52b(c).

Maximum demonstrated particulate matter control device temperature means the highest 4-hour
arithmetic average flue gas temperature measured at the particulate matter control device inlet
during four consecutive hours during the most recent dioxin/furan performance test demonstrating
compliance with the applicable limit for municipal waste combustor organics specified under
§60.52b(c).

Modification or modified municipal waste combustor unit means a municipal waste combustor
unit to which changes have been made after June 19, 1996 if the cumulative cost of the changes,
over the life of the unit, exceed 50 percent of the original cost of construction and installation of
the unit (not including the cost of any land purchased in connection with such construction or
installation) updated to current costs; or any physical change in the municipal waste combustor
unit or change in the method of operation of the municipal waste combustor unit increases the

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-5



amount of any air pollutant emitted by the unit for which standards have been established under
section 129 or section 111. Increases in the amount of any air pollutant emitted by the municipal
waste combustor unit are determined at 100-percent physical load capability and downstream of all
air pollution control devices, with no consideration given for load restrictions based on permits or
other nonphysical operational restrictions.

Modular excess-air municipal waste combustor means a combustor that combusts municipal solid
waste and that is not field-erected and has multiple combustion chambers, all of which are
designed to operate at conditions with combustion air amounts in excess of theoretical air
requirements.

Modular starved-air municipal waste combustor means a combustor that combusts municipal solid
waste and that is not field-erected and has multiple combustion chambers in which the primary
combustion chamber is designed to operate at substoichiometric conditions.

Municipal solid waste or municipal-type solid waste or MSW means household, commercial/retail,
and/or institutional waste. Household waste includes material discarded by single and multiple
residential dwellings, hotels, motels, and other similar permanent or temporary housing
establishments or facilities. Commercial/retail waste includes material discarded by stores, offices,
restaurants, warehouses, nonmanufacturing activities at industrial facilities, and other similar
establishments or facilities. Institutional waste includes material discarded by schools, nonmedical
waste discarded by hospitals, material discarded by nonmanufacturing activities at prisons and
government facilities, and material discarded by other similar establishments or facilities.
Household, commercial/retail, and institutional waste does not include used oil; sewage sludge;
wood pallets; construction, renovation, and demolition wastes (which includes but is not limited to
railroad ties and telephone poles); clean wood; industrial process or manufacturing wastes; medical
waste; or motor vehicles (including motor vehicle parts or vehicle fluff). Household,
commercial/retail, and institutional wastes include:

(1) Yard waste;
(2) Refuse-derived fuel; and

(3) Motor vehicle maintenance materials limited to vehicle batteries and tires except as specified in
§60.50b(g).

Municipal waste combustor, MWC, or municipal waste combustor unit: (1) Means any setting or
equipment that combusts solid, liquid, or gasified municipal solid waste including, but not limited
to, field-erected incinerators (with or without heat recovery), modular incinerators (starved-air or
excess-air), boilers (i.e., steam generating units), furnaces (whether suspension-fired, grate-fired,
mass-fired, air curtain incinerators, or fluidized bed-fired), and pyrolysis/combustion units.
Municipal waste combustors do not include pyrolysis/combustion units located at a plastics/rubber
recycling unit (as specified in §60.50b(m)). Municipal waste combustors do not include cement
kilns firing municipal solid waste (as specified in §60.50b(p)). Municipal waste combustors do not
include internal combustion engines, gas turbines, or other combustion devices that combust
landfill gases collected by landfill gas collection systems.

(2) The boundaries of a municipal solid waste combustor are defined as follows. The municipal
waste combustor unit includes, but is not limited to, the municipal solid waste fuel feed system,
grate system, flue gas system, bottom ash system, and the combustor water system. The municipal
waste combustor boundary starts at the municipal solid waste pit or hopper and extends through:

(i) The combustor flue gas system, which ends immediately following the heat recovery equipment
or, if there is no heat recovery equipment, immediately following the combustion chamber,

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-6



(i) The combustor bottom ash system, which ends at the truck loading station or similar ash
handling equipment that transfer the ash to final disposal, including all ash handling systems that
are connected to the bottom ash handling system; and

(iii) The combustor water system, which starts at the feed water pump and ends at the piping
exiting the steam drum or superheater.

(3) The municipal waste combustor unit does not include air pollution control equipment, the
stack, water treatment equipment, or the turbine-generator set.

Municipal waste combustor acid gases means all acid gases emitted in the exhaust gases from
municipal waste combustor units including, but not limited to, sulfur dioxide and hydrogen
chloride gases.

Municipal waste combustor metals means metals and metal compounds emitted in the exhaust
gases from municipal waste combustor units.

Municipal waste combustor organics means organic compounds emitted in the exhaust gases from
municipal waste combustor units and includes tetra-through octa- chlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins
and dibenzofurans.

Municipal waste combustor plant means one or more affected facilities (as defined in §60.50b) at
the same location.

Municipal waste combustor unit capacity means the maximum charging rate of a municipal waste
combustor unit expressed in tons per day of municipal solid waste combusted, calculated
according to the procedures under §60.58b(j). Section 60.58b(j) includes procedures for
determining municipal waste combustor unit capacity for continuous and batch feed municipal
waste combustors.

Municipal waste combustor_unit load means the steam load of the municipal waste combustor unit
measured as specified in §60.58b(i)(6).

Particulate matter means total particulate matter emitted from municipal waste combustor units as
measured by EPA Reference Method 5 (see §60.58b(c)).

Plastics/rubber recycling unit means an integrated processing unit where plastics, rubber, and/or
rubber tires are the only feed materials (incidental contaminants may be included in the feed
materials) and they are processed into a chemical plant feedstock or petroleum refinery feedstock,
where the feedstock is marketed to and used by a chemical plant or petroleum refinery as input
feedstock. The combined weight of the chemical plant feedstock and petroleum refinery feedstock
produced by the plastics/rubber recycling unit on a calendar quarter basis shall be more than 70
percent of the combined weight of the plastics, rubber, and rubber tires processed by the
plastics/rubber recycling unit on a calendar quarter basis. The plastics, rubber, and/or rubber tire
feed materials to the plastics/rubber recycling unit may originate from the separation or diversion
of plastics, rubber, or rubber tires from MSW or industrial solid waste, and may include
manufacturing scraps, trimmings, and off-specification plastics, rubber, and rubber tire discards.
The plastics, rubber, and rubber tire feed materials to the plastics/rubber recycling unit may
contain incidental contaminants (e.g., paper labels on plastic bottles, metal rings on plastic bottle
caps, etc.).

Potential hydrogen chloride emission concentration means the hydrogen chloride emission
concentration that would occur from combustion of municipal solid waste in the absence of any
emission controls for municipal waste combustor acid gases.

Potential mercury emission concentration means the mercury emission concentration that would
occur from combustion of municipal solid waste in the absence of any mercury emissions control.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-7



Potential sulfur dioxide emissions means the sulfur dioxide emission concentration that would
occur from combustion of municipal solid waste in the absence of any emission controls for
municipal waste combustor acid gases.

Pulverized coal/refuse-derived fuel mixed fuel-fired combustor means a combustor that fires coal
and refuse-derived fuel simultaneously, in which pulverized coal is introduced into an air stream
that carries the coal to the combustion chamber of the unit where it is fired in suspension. This
includes both conventional pulverized coal and micropulverized coal.

Pyrolysis/combustion unit means a unit that produces gases, liquids, or solids through the heating
of municipal solid waste, and the gases, liquids, or solids produced are combusted and emissions
vented to the atmosphere.

Reconstruction means rebuilding a municipal waste combustor unit for which the reconstruction
commenced after June 19, 1996, and the cumulative costs of the construction over the life of the
unit exceed 50 percent of the original cost of construction and installation of the unit (not including
any cost of land purchased in connection with such construction or installation) updated to current
costs (current dollars).

Refractory unit or refractory wall furnace means a combustion unit having no energy recovery
(e.g., via a waterwall) in the furnace (i.e., radiant heat transfer section) of the combustor.

Refuse-derived fuel means a type of municipal solid waste produced by processing municipal solid
waste through shredding and size classification. This includes all classes of refuse-derived fuel
including low-density fluff refuse-derived fuel through densified refuse-derived fuel and pelletized
refuse-derived fuel. L

Refuse-derived fuel stoker means a steam generating unit that combusts refuse-derived fuel in a
semisuspension firing mode using air-fed distributors.

Same location means the same or contiguous property that is under common ownership or control
including properties that are separated only by a street, road, highway, or other public right-of-
way. Common ownership or control includes properties that are owned, leased, or operated by the
same entity, parent entity, subsidiary, subdivision, or any combination thereof including any
municipality or other governmental unit, or any quasi-governmental authority (e.g., a public utility
district or regional waste disposal authority).

Second calendar half means the period starting July 1 and ending on December 31 in any year.

Shift supervisor means the person who is in direct charge and control of the operation of a
municipal waste combustor and who is responsible for onsite supervision, technical direction,
management, and overall performance of the facility during an assigned shift.

Spreader stoker coal/refuse-derived fuel mixed fuel-fired combustor means a combustor that fires
coal and refuse-derived fuel simultaneously, in which coal is introduced to the combustion zone by
a mechanism that throws the fuel onto a grate from above. Combustion takes place both in
suspension and on the grate.

Standard conditions means a temperature of 20 °C and a pressure of 101.3 kilopascals.

Total mass dioxin/furan or total mass means the total mass of tetra- through octa- chlorinated
dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans, as determined using EPA Reference Method 23 and the
procedures specified under §60.58b(g).

Tumbling-tile means a grate tile hinged at one end and attached to a ram at the other end. When
the ram extends, the grate tile rotates around the hinged end.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-8



Twenty-four hour daily average or 24-hour daily average means either the arithmetic mean or
geometric mean (as specified) of all hourly emission concentrations when the affected facility is
operating and combusting municipal solid waste measured over a 24-hour period between 12:00
midnight and the following midnight.

Untreated lumber means wood or wood products that have been cut or shaped and include wet, air-
dried, and kiln-dried wood products. Untreated lumber does not include wood products that have
been painted, pigment-stained, or “pressure-treated.” Pressure-treating compounds include, but are
not limited to, chromate copper arsenate, pentachlorophenol, and creosote.

Waterwall furnace means a combustion unit having energy (heat) recovery in the furnace (i.e.,
radiant heat transfer section) of the combustor.

Yard waste means grass, grass clippings, bushes, shrubs, and clippings from bushes and shrubs
that are generated by residential, commercial/retail, institutional, and/or industrial sources as part
of maintenance activities associated with yards or other private or public lands. Yard waste does
not include construction, renovation, and demolition wastes, which are exempt from the definition
of municipal solid waste in this section. Yard waste does not include clean wood, which is exempt
from the definition of municipal solid waste in this section.

[60 FR 65419, Dec. 19, 1995, as amended at 62 FR 45121, 45126, Aug. 25, 1997; 66 FR 36476,
July 12, 2001; 71 FR 27335, May 10, 2006]

§ 60.52b Standards for municipal waste combustor metals, acid gases, organics, and nitrogen
oxides.

(2) The limits for municipal waste combustor metals are specified in paragraphs (a)(1) through
(a)(5) of this section.

(1) On and after the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be
completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, no owner or operator of an affected facility shall
cause to be discharged into the atmosphere from that affected facility any gases that contain
particulate matter in excess of the limits specified in paragraph (a)(1)(i) or (a)(1)(ii) of this section.

(1) For affected facilities that commenced construction, modification, or reconstruction after
September 20, 1994, and on or before December 19, 2005, the emission limit is 24 milligrams per
dry standard cubic meter, corrected to 7 percent oxygen.

(ii) For affected facilities that commenced construction, modification, or reconstruction after
December 19, 2005, the emission limit is 20 milligrams per dry standard cubic meter, corrected to
7 percent oxygen.

(2) On and after the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be
completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, no owner or operator of an affected facility shall
cause to be discharged into the atmosphere from that affected facility any gases that exhibit greater
than 10 percent opacity (6-minute average).

(3) On and after the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be
completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, no owner or operator of an affected facility shall
cause to be discharged into the atmosphere from that affected facility any gases that contain
cadmium in excess of the limits specified in paragraph (a)(3)(i) or (a)(3)(ii) of this section.

(1) For affected facilities that commenced construction, modification, or reconstruction after
September 20, 1994, and on or before December 19, 2005, the emission limit is 20 micrograms per
dry standard cubic meter, corrected to 7 percent oxygen.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-9



(ii) For affected facilities that commenced construction, modification, or reconstruction after
December 19, 2005, the emission limit is 10 micrograms per dry standard cubic meter, corrected to
7 percent oxygen.

(4) On and after the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be
completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, no owner or operator of an affected facility shall
cause to be discharged into the atmosphere from the affected facility any gases that contain lead in
excess of the limits specified in paragraph (a)(4)(i) or (a)(4)(ii) of this section.

(i) For affected facilities that commenced construction, modification, or reconstruction after
September 20, 1994, and on or before December 19, 2005, the emission limit is 200 micrograms
per dry standard cubic meter, corrected to 7 percent oxygen.

(ii) For affected facilities that commenced construction, modification, or reconstruction after
December 19, 2005, the emission limit is 140 micrograms per dry standard cubic meter, corrected
to 7 percent oxygen.

(5) On and after the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be
completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, no owner or operator of an affected facility shall
cause to be discharged into the atmosphere from the affected facility any gases that contain
mercury in excess of the limits specified in paragraph (2)(5)(i) or (2)(5)(ii) of this section.

(i) For affected facilities that commenced construction, modification, or reconstruction after
September 20, 1994 and on or before December 19, 2005, the emission limit is 80 micrograms per
dry standard cubic meter or 15 percent of the potential mercury emission concentration (85-percent
reduction by weight), corrected to 7 percent oxygen, whichever is less stringent.

(ii) For affected facilities that commenced construction, modification, or reconstruction after
December 19, 2005, the emission limit is 50 micrograms per dry standard cubic meter, or 15
percent of the potential mercury emission concentration (85-percent reduction by weight),
corrected to 7 percent oxygen, whichever is less stringent.

(b) The limits for municipal waste combustor acid gases are specified in paragraphs (b)(1) and
(b)(2) of this section.

(1) On and after the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be
completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, no owner or operator of an affected facility shall
cause to be discharged into the atmosphere from that affected facility any gases that contain sulfur
dioxide in excess of 30 parts per million by volume or 20 percent of the potential sulfur dioxide
emission concentration (80-percent reduction by weight or volume), corrected to 7 percent oxygen
(dry basis), whichever is less stringent. The averaging time is specified under §60.58b(e).

(2) On and after the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be
completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, no owner or operator of an affected facility shall
cause to be discharged into the atmosphere from that affected facility any gases that contain
hydrogen chioride in excess of 25 parts per million by volume or 5 percent of the potential
hydrogen chloride emission concentration (95-percent reduction by weight or volume), corrected
to 7 percent oxygen (dry basis), whichever is less stringent.

() The limits for municipal waste combustor organics are specified in paragraphs (c)(1) and (c)(2)
of this section.

(1) On and after the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be
completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, no owner or operator of an affected facility for which
construction, modification or reconstruction commences on or before November 20, 1997 shall cause
to be discharged into the atmosphere from that affected facility any gases that contain dioxin/furan
emissions that exceed 30 nanograms per dry standard cubic meter (total mass), corrected to 7 percent
NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-10



oxygen, for the first 3 years following the date of initial startup. After the first 3 years following the
date of initial startup, no owner or operator shall cause to be discharged into the atmosphere from that
affected facility any gases that contain dioxin/furan total mass emissions that exceed 13 nanograms per
dry standard cubic meter (total mass), corrected to 7 percent oxygen.

(2) On and after the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be
completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, no owner or operator of an affected facility for
which construction, modification, or reconstruction commences after November 20, 1997 shall
cause to be discharged into the atmosphere from that affected facility any gases that contain
dioxin/furan total mass emissions that exceed 13 nanograms per dry standard cubic meter (total
mass), corrected to 7 percent oxygen.

(d) The limits for nitrogen oxides are specified in paragraphs (d)(1) and (d)(2) of this section.

- (1) During the first year of operation after the date on which the initial performance test is
completed or is required to be completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, no owner or
operator of an affected facility shall cause to be discharged into the atmosphere from that affected
facility any gases that contain nitrogen oxides in excess of 180 parts per million by volume,
corrected to 7 percent oxygen (dry basis). The averaging time is specified under §60.58b(h).

(2) After the first year of operation following the date on which the initial performance test is
completed or is required to be completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, no owner or
operator of an affected facility shall cause to be discharged into the atmosphere from that affected
facility any gases that contain nitrogen oxides in excess of 150 parts per million by volume,
corrected to 7 percent oxygen (dry basis). The averaging time is specified under §60.58b(h).

[60 FR 65419, Dec. 19, 1995, as amended at 62 FR 45121, 45126, Aug. 25, 1997; 71 FR 27336,
May 10, 2006]

§ 60.53b Standards for municipal waste combustor operating practices.

(2) On and after the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be
completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, no owner or operator of an affected facility shall
cause to be discharged into the atmosphere from that affected facility any gases that contain carbon
monoxide in excess of the emission limits specified in table 1 of this subpart.

Table 1 Municipal Waste Combustor Operating Standards
Carbon monoxide emission limit

Municipal waste combustor technology (parts per million by
Averaging time volume) \a\ (hours) \bY)
Mass burn waterwall................. 100 4
Mass burn refractory................ 100 4
Mass burn rotary waterwall.......... 100 24
Modular starved air................. 50 4
Modular excess air.................. 50 4
Refuse-derived fuel stoker.......... 150 24
Bubbling fluidized bed combustor.... 100 4
Circulating fluidized bed combustor. 100 4
Pulverized coal/refuse-derived fuel

mixed fuel-fired combustor......... 150 4
Spreader stoker coal/refuse-derived

fuel mixed fuel-fired combustor.... 150 24

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-11



\a\ Measured at the combustor outlet in conjunction with a measurement of oxygen concentration,

corrected to 7 percent oxygen (dry basis). The averaging times are specified in greater detail in
§ 60.58b(i).

\b\ Averaging times are 4-hour or 24-hour block averages.

(b) No owner or operator of an affected facility shall cause such facility to operate at a load level
greater than 110 percent of the maximum demonstrated municipal waste combustor unit load as
defined in §60.51b, except as specified in paragraphs (b)(1) and (b)(2) of this section. The
averaging time is specified under §60.58b(i).

(1) During the annual dioxin/furan or mercury performance test and the 2 weeks preceding the
annual dioxin/furan or mercury performance test, no municipal waste combustor unit load limit is
applicable if the provisions of paragraph (b)(2) of this section are met.

(2) The municipal waste combustor unit load limit may be waived in writing by the Administrator
for the purpose of evaluating system performance, testing new technology or control technologies,
diagnostic testing, or related activities for the purpose of improving facility performance or
advancing the state-of-the-art for controlling facility emissions. The municipal waste combustor
unit load limit continues to apply, and remains enforceable, until and unless the Administrator
grants the waiver.

(c) No owner or operator of an affected facility shall cause such facility to operate at a
temperature, measured at the particulate matter control device inlet, exceeding 17 °C above the
maximum demonstrated particulate matter control device temperature as defined in §60.51b,
except as specified in paragraphs (c)(1) and (c)(2) of this section. The averaging time is specified
under §60.58b(i). The requirements specified in this paragraph apply to each particulate matter
control device utilized at the affected facility.

(1) During the annual dioxin/furan or mercury performance test and the 2 weeks preceding the
annual dioxin/furan or mercury performance test, no particulate matter control device temperature
limitations are applicable if the provisions of paragraph (b)(2) of this section are met.

(2) The particulate matter control device temperature limits may be waived in writing by the
Administrator for the purpose of evaluating system performance, testing new technology or control
technologies, diagnostic testing, or related activities for the purpose of improving facility performance
or advancing the state-of-the-art for controlling facility emissions. The temperature limits continue to
apply, and remain enforceable, until and unless the Administrator grants the waiver.

(d) Paragraph (m)(2) of §60.58b addresses treatment of activated carbon injection rate during
dioxin/furan or mercury testing.

[60 FR 65419, Dec. 19, 1995, as amended at 62 FR 45126, Aug. 25, 1997; 71 FR 27336, May 10,
2006]

§ 60.54b Standards for municipal waste combustor operator training and certification.

(@) No later than the date 6 months after the date of startup of an affected facility or on December
19, 1996, whichever is later, each chief facility operator and shift supervisor shall obtain and
maintain a current provisional operator certification from either the American Society of
Mechanical Engineers [QRO-1-1994 (incorporated by reference—see §60.17 of subpart A of this
part)] or a State certification program.

(b) Not later than the date 6 months after the date of startup of an affected facility or on December
19, 1996, whichever is later, each chief facility operator and shift supervisor shall have completed
full certification or shall have scheduled a full certification exam with either the American Society

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-12



of Mechanical Engineers [QRO-1-1994 (incorporated by reference—see §60.17 of subpart A of
this part)] or a State certification program.

(c) No owner or operator of an affected facility shall allow the facility to be operated at any time
unless one of the following persons is on duty and at the affected facility: A fully certified chief
facility operator, a provisionally certified chief facility operator who is scheduled to take the full
certification exam according to the schedule specified in paragraph (b) of this section, a fully
certified shift supervisor, or a provisionally certified shift supervisor who is scheduled to take the
full certification exam according to the schedule specified in paragraph (b) of this section.

(1) The requirement specified in paragraph (c) of this section shall take effect 6 months after the
date of startup of the affected facility or on December 19, 1996, whichever is later.

(2) If both the certified chief facility operator and certified shift supervisor are unavailable, a
provisionally certified control room operator on site at the municipal waste combustion unit may
fulfill the certified operator requirement. Depending on the length of time that a certified chief
facility operator and certified shift supervisor are away, the owner or operator of the affected
facility must meet one of three criteria:

(1) When the certified chief facility operator and certified shift supervisor are both off site for 12
hours or less, and no other certified operator is on site, the provisionally certified control room
operator may perform the duties of the certified chief facility operator or certified shift supervisor.

(ii) When the certified chief facility operator and certified shift supervisor are off site for more
than 12 hours, but for two weeks or less, and no other certified operator is on site, the provisionally
certified control room operator may perform the duties of the certified chief facility operator or
certified shift supervisor without notice to, or approval by, the Administrator. However, the owner
or operator of the affected facility must record the period when the certified chief facility operator
and certified shift supervisor are off site and include that information in the annual report as
specified under §60.59b(g)(5).

(iii) When the certified chief facility operator and certified shift supervisor are off site for more
than two weeks, and no other certified operator is on site, the provisionally certified control room
operator may perform the duties of the certified chief facility operator or certified shift supervisor
without approval by the Administrator. However, the owner or operator of the affected facility
must take two actions:

(A) Notify the Administrator in writing. In the notice, state what caused the absence and what
actions are being taken by the owner or operator of the facility to ensure that a certified chief
facility operator or certified shift supervisor is on site as expeditiously as practicable.

(B) Submit a status report and corrective action summary to the Administrator every four weeks
following the initial notification. If the Administrator provides notice that the status report or
corrective action summary is disapproved, the municipal waste combustion unit may continue
operation for 90 days, but then must cease operation. If corrective actions are taken in the 90-day
period such that the Administrator withdraws the disapproval, municipal waste combustion unit
operation may continue.

(3) A provisionally certified operator who is newly promoted or recently transferred to a shift
supervisor position or a chief facility operator position at the municipal waste combustion unit may
perform the duties of the certified chief facility operator or certified shift supervisor without notice
to, or approval by, the Administrator for up to six months before taking the ASME QRO
certification exam.

(d) All chief facility operators, shift supervisors, and control room operators at affected facilities
must complete the EPA or State municipal waste combustor operator training course no later than

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-13



the date 6 months after the date of startup of the affected facility or by December 19, 1996,
whichever is later.

(¢) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall develop and update on a yearly basis a site-
specific operating manual that shall, at a minimum, address the elements of municipal waste
combustor unit operation specified in paragraphs (e)(1) through (e)(11) of this section.

(1) A summary of the applicable standards under this subpart;

(2) A description of basic combustion theory applicable to a municipal waste combustor unit;
(3) Procedures for receiving, handling, and feeding municipal solid waste;

(4) Municipal waste combustor unit startup, shutdown, and malfunction procedures;

(5) Procedures for maintaining proper combustion air supply levels;

(6) Procedures for operating the municipal waste combustor unit within the standards established
under this subpart;

(7) Procedures for responding to periodic upset or off-specification conditions;

(8) Procedures for minimizing particulate matter carryover;

(9) Procedures for handling ash;

(10) Procedures for monitoring municipal waste combustor unit emissions; and

(11) Reporting and recordkeeping procedures.

(f) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall establish a training program to review the
operating manual according to the schedule specified in paragraphs (f)(1) and (f)(2) of this section
with each person who has responsibilities affecting the operation of an affected facility including,
but not limited to, chief facility operators, shift supervisors, control room operators, ash handlers,
maintenance personnel, and crane/load handlers.

(1) Each person specified in paragraph (f) of this section shall undergo initial training no later than
the date specified in paragraph (£)(1)(i), (£)(1)(i), or (f)(1)(iii) of this section whichever is later.

(i) The date 6 months after the date of startup of the affected facility;

(ii) The date prior to the day the person assumes responsibilities affecting municipal waste
combustor unit operation; or

(iii) December 19, 1996.

(2) Annually, following the initial review required by paragraph (f)(1) of this section.

(g) The operating manual required by paragraph () of this section shall be kept in a readily
accessible location for all persons required to undergo training under paragraph (f) of this section.
The operating manual and records of training shall be available for inspection by the EPA or its
delegated enforcement agency upon request.

[60 FR 65419, Dec. 19, 1995, as amended at 62 FR 45126, Aug. 25, 1997; 71 FR 27337, May 10,
2006]

§ 60.55b Standards for municipal waste combustor fugitive ash emissions.

(a) On and after the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be
completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, no owner or operator of an affected facility shall
cause to be discharged to the atmosphere visible emissions of combustion ash from an ash conveying
system (including conveyor transfer points) in excess of 5 percent of the observation period (i.e., 9
minutes per 3-hour period), as determined by EPA Reference Method 22 observations as specified in
§60.58b(k), except as provided in paragraphs (b) and (c) of this section.

(b) The emission limit specified in paragraph (a) of this section does not cover visible emissions
discharged inside buildings or enclosures of ash conveying systems; however, the emission limit

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-14



specified in paragraph (a) of this section does cover visible emissions discharged to the atmosphere
from buildings or enclosures of ash conveying systems.

(c) The provisions specified in paragraph (a) of this section do not apply during maintenance and
repair of ash conveying systems.

[60 FR 65419, Dec. 19, 1995, as amended at 62 FR 45126, Aug. 25, 1997]
§ 60.56b Standards for air curtain incinerators.

On and after the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be completed
under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, the owner or operator of an air curtain incinerator with the
capacity to combust greater than 250 tons per day of municipal solid waste and that combusts a fuel feed
stream composed of 100 percent yard waste and no other municipal solid waste materials shall at no
time cause to be discharged into the atmosphere from that incinerator any gases that exhibit greater than
10-percent opacity (6-minute average), except that an opacity level of up to 35 percent (6-minute
average) is permitted during startup periods during the first 30 minutes of operation of the unit.

[60 FR 65419, Dec. 19, 1995, as amended at 62 FR 45126, Aug. 25, 1997]

§ 60.57b Siting requirements.

(a) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall prepare a materials separation plan, as
defined in §60.51b, for the affected facility and its service area, and shall comply with the
requirements specified in paragraphs (a)(1) through (2)(10) of this section. The initial application
is defined as representing a good faith submittal as determined by EPA.

(1) The owner or operator shall prepare a preliminary draft materials separation plan and shall make
the plan available to the public as specified in paragraphs (a)(1)(i) and (2)(1)(ii) of this section.

(1) The owner or operator shall distribute the preliminary draft materials separation plan to the
principal public libraries in the area where the affected facility is to be constructed.

(ii) The owner or operator shall publish a notification of a public meeting in the principal
newspaper(s) serving the area where the affected facility is to be constructed and where the waste
treated by the affected facility will primarily be collected. As a minimum, the notification shall
include the information specified in paragraphs (a)(1)(ii)(A) through (a)(1)(ii)}(D) of this section.

(A) The date, time, and location of the public meeting.

(B) The location of the public libraries where the preliminary draft materials separation plan may
be found, including normal business hours of the libraries.

(C) An agenda of the issues to be discussed at the public meeting.

(D) The dates that the public comment period on the preliminary draft materials separation plan
begins and ends.

(2) The owner or operator shall conduct a public meeting, accept comments on the preliminary
draft materials separation plan, and comply with the requirements specified in paragraphs (a)(2)(i)
through (2)(2)(iv) of this section.

(1) The public meeting shall be conducted in the county where the affected facility is to be located.

(ii) The public meeting shall be scheduled to occur 30 days or more after making the preliminary draft
materials separation plan available to the public as specified under paragraph (a)(1) of this section.
(iii) Suggested issues to be addressed at the public meeting are listed in paragraphs (a)(2)(iii)(A)
through (2)(2)(iii)(H) of this section.

(A) The expected size of the service area for the affected facility.

(B) The amount of waste generation anticipated for the service area.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-15



(C) The types and estimated amounts of materials proposed for separation.
(D) The methods proposed for materials separation.

(E) The amount of residual waste to be disposed.

(F) Alternate disposal methods for handling the residual waste.

(G) Identification of the location(s) where responses to public comment on the preliminary draft
materials separation plan will be available for inspection, as specified in paragraphs (a)(3) and
(a)(4) of this section.

(H) Identification of the locations where the final draft materials separation plan will be available
for inspection, as specified in paragraph (a)(7).

(iv) Nothing in this section shall preclude an owner or operator from combining this public
meeting with any other public meeting required as part of any other Federal, State, or local permit
review process except the public meeting required under paragraph (b)(4) of this section.

(3) Following the public meeting required by paragraph (a)(2) of this section, the owner or
operator shall prepare responses to the comments received at the public meeting.

(4) The owner or operator shall make the document summarizing responses to public comments
available to the public (including distribution to the principal public libraries used to announce the
meeting) in the service area where the affected facility is to be located.

(5) The owner or operator shall prepare a final draft materials separation plan for the affected
facility considering the public comments received at the public meeting.

(6) As required under §60.59b(a), the owner or operator shall submit to EPA a copy of the
notification of the public meeting, a transcript of the public meeting, the document summarizing
responses to public comments, and copies of both the preliminary and final draft materials
separation plans on or before the time the facility's application for a construction permit is
submitted under 40 CFR part 51, subpart L, or part 52, as applicable.

(7) As part of the distribution of the siting analysis required under paragraph (b)(3) of this section,
the owner or operator shall make the final draft materials separation plan required under paragraph
(a)(5) of this section available to the public, as specified in paragraph (b)(3) of this section.

(8) As part of the public meeting for review of the siting analysis required under paragraph (b)(4)
of this section, the owner or operator shall address questions concerning the final draft materials
separation plan required by paragraph (a)(5) of this section including discussion of how the final
draft materials separation plan has changed from the preliminary draft materials separation plan
that was discussed at the first public meeting required by paragraph (a)(2) of this section.

(9) If the owner or operator receives any comments on the final draft materials separation plan during
the public meeting required in paragraph (b)(4) of this section, the owner or operator shall respond to
those comments in the document prepared in accordance with paragraph (b)(5) of this section.

(10) The owner or operator shall prepare a final materials separation plan and shall submit, as
required under §60.59b(b)(5)(ii), the final materials separation plan as part of the initial
notification of construction.

(b) The owner or operator of an affected facility for which the initial application for a construction
permit under 40 CFR part 51, subpart I, or part 52, as applicable, is submitted after December 19, 1995
shall prepare a siting analysis in accordance with paragraphs (b)(1) and (b)(2) of this section and shall
comply with the requirements specified in paragraphs (b)(3) through (b)(7) of this section.

(1) The siting analysis shall be an analysis of the impact of the affected facility on ambient air
quality, visibility, soils, and vegetation. )

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-16



(2) The analysis shall consider air pollution control alternatives that minimize, on a site-specific
basis, to the maximum extent practicable, potential risks to the public health or the environment.

(3) The owner or operator shall make the siting analysis and final draft materials separation plan
required by paragraph (a)(5) of this section available to the public as specified in paragraphs
(b)(3)(1) and (b)(3)(ii) of this section.

(i) The owner or operator shall distribute the siting analysis and final draft materials separation
plan to the principal public libraries in the area where the affected facility is to be constructed.
(i1) The owner or operator shall publish a notification of a public meeting in the principal
newspaper(s) serving the area where the affected facility is to be constructed and where the waste
treated by the affected facility will primarily be collected. As a minimum, the notification shall
include the information specified in paragraphs (b)(3)(ii)(A) through (b)(3)(ii)(D) of this section.

(A) The date, time, and location of the public meeting.

(B) The location of the public libraries where the siting analyses and final draft materials
separation plan may be found, including normal business hours.

(C) An agenda of the issues to be discussed at the public meeting.

(D) The dates that the public comment period on the siting analyses and final draft materials
separation plan begins and ends.

(4) The owner or operator shall conduct a public meeting and accept comments on the siting
analysis and the final draft materials separation plan required under paragraph (a)(5) of this
section. The public meeting shall be conducted in the county where the affected facility is to be
located .and shall be scheduled to occur 30 days or more after making the siting analysis available
to the public as specified under paragraph (b)(3) of this section.

(5) The owner or operator shall prepare responses to the comments on the siting analysis and the
final draft materials separation plan that are received at the public meeting.

(6) The owner or operator shall make the document summarizing responses to public comments
available to the public (including distribution to all public libraries) in the service area where the
affected facility is to be located.

(7) As required under §60.59b(b)(5), the owner or operator shall submit a copy of the notification
of the public meeting, a transcript of the public meeting, the document summarizing responses to
public comments, and the siting analysis as part of the initial notification of construction.

(c) The owner or operator of an affected facility for which construction is commenced after September
20, 1994 shall prepare a siting analysis in accordance with 40 CFR part 51, Subpart I, or part 52, as
applicable, and shall submit the siting analysis as part of the initial notification of construction.
Affected facilities subject to paragraphs (a) and (b) of this section are not subject to this paragraph.

[60 FR 65419, Dec. 19, 1995, as amended at 62 FR 45126, Aug. 25, 1997; 71 FR 27337, May 10,
2006]

§ 60.58b Compliance and performance testing.

(a) The provisions for startup, shutdown, and malfunction are provided in paragraphs (a)(1) and
(a)(2) of this section.

(1) Except as provided by §60.56b, the standards under this subpart apply at all times except
during periods of startup, shutdown, and malfunction. Duration of startup, shutdown, or
malfunction periods are limited to 3 hours per occurrence, except as provided in paragraph
(a)(1)(iii) of this section. During periods of startup, shutdown, or malfunction, monitoring data

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-17



shall be dismissed or excluded from compliance calculations, but shall be recorded and reported in
accordance with the provisions of 40 CFR 60.59b(d)(7).

(i) The startup period commences when the affected facility begins the continuous burning of
municipal solid waste and does not include any warmup period when the affected facility is
combusting fossil fuel or other nonmunicipal solid waste fuel, and no municipal solid waste is
being fed to the combustor.

(ii) Continuous burning is the continuous, semicontinuous, or batch feeding of municipal solid
waste for purposes of waste disposal, energy production, or providing heat to the combustion
system in preparation for waste disposal or energy production. The use of municipal solid waste
solely to provide thermal protection of the grate or hearth during the startup period when municipal
solid waste is not being fed to the grate is not considered to be continuous burning.

(iii) For the purpose of compliance with the carbon monoxide emission limits in §60.53b(a), if a
loss of boiler water level control (e.g., boiler waterwall tube failure) or a loss of combustion air
control (e.g., loss of combustion air fan, induced draft fan, combustion grate bar failure) is
determined to be a malfunction, the duration of the malfunction period is limited to 15 hours per
occurrence. During such periods of malfunction, monitoring data shall be dismissed or excluded

from compliance calculations, but shall be recorded and reported in accordance with the provisions
of §60.59b(d)(7).

(2) The opacity limits for air curtain incinerators specified in §60.56b apply at all times as
specified under §60.56b except during periods of malfunction. Duration of malfunction periods are
limited to 3 hours per occurrence.

(b) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a
continuous emission monitoring system for measuring the oxygen or carbon dioxide content of the
flue gas at each location where carbon monoxide, sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides emissions, or
particulate matter (if the owner or operator elects to continuously monitor emissions under
paragraph (n) of this section) are monitored and record the output of the system and shall comply
with the test procedures and test methods specified in paragraphs (b)(1) through (b)(8) of this
section.

(1) The span value of the oxygen (or 20 percent carbon dioxide) monitor shall be 25 percent

oxygen (or 20 percent carbon dioxide).

(2) The monitor shall be installed, evaluated, and operated in accordance with §60.13 of subpart A
of this part.

(3) The initial performance evaluation shall be completed no later than 180 days after the date of
initial startup of the affected facility, as specified under §60.8 of subpart A of this part.

(4) The monitor shall conform to Performance Specification 3 in appendix B of this part except for
section 2.3 (relative accuracy requirement).

(5) The quality assurance procedures of appendix F of this part except for section 5.1.1 (relative
accuracy test audit) shall apply to the monitor.

(6) If carbon dioxide is selected for use in diluent corrections, the relationship between oxygen and
carbon dioxide levels shall be established during the initial performance test according to the
procedures and methods specified in paragraphs (b)(6)(i) through (b)(6)(iv) of this section. This
relationship may be reestablished during performance compliance tests.

(1) The fuel factor equation in Method 3B shall be used to determine the relationship between oxygen
and carbon dioxide at a sampling location. Method 3, 3A, or 3B, or as an alternative ASME PTC-19-
10-1981—Part 10, as applicable, shall be used to determine the oxygen concentration at the same
location as the carbon dioxide monitor.

(ii) Samples shall be taken for at least 30 minutes in each hour.

(iii) Each sample shall represent a 1-hour average.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-18



(iv) A minimum of three runs shall be performed.

(7) The relationship between carbon dioxide and oxygen concentrations that is established in
accordance with paragraph (b)(6) of this section shall be submitted to EPA as part of the initial
performance test report and, if applicable, as part of the annual test report if the relationship is
reestablished during the annual performance test.

(8) During a loss of boiler water level control or loss of combustion air control malfunction period as
specified in paragraph (a)(1)(iii) of this section, a diluent cap of 14 percent for oxygen or 5 percent
for carbon dioxide may be used in the emissions calculations for sulfur dioxide and nitrogen oxides.

(c) Except as provided in paragraph (c)(10) of this section, the procedures and test methods
specified in paragraphs (c)(1) through (c)(11) of this section shall be used to determine compliance
with the emission limits for particulate matter and opacity under §60.52b(a)(1) and (a)(2).

(1) The EPA Reference Method 1 shall be used to select sampling site and number of traverse points.

(2) The EPA Reference Method 3, 3A or 3B, or as an alternative ASME PTC-19-10-1981—Part
10, as applicable, shall be used for gas analysis.

(3) EPA Reference Method 5 shall be used for determining compliance with the particulate matter
emission limit. The minimum sample volume shall be 1.7 cubic meters. The probe and filter holder
heating systems in the sample train shall be set to provide a gas temperature no greater than 160 °C.
An oxygen or carbon dioxide measurement shall be obtained simultaneously with each Method 5 run.

(4) The owner or operator of an affected facility may request that compliance with the particulate
matter emission limit be determined using carbon dioxide measurements corrected to an equivalent
of 7 percent oxygen. The relationship between oxygen and carbon dioxide levels for the affected
facility shall be established as specified in paragraph (b)(6) of this section.

(5) As specified under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, all performance tests shall consist of three
test runs. The average of the particulate matter emission concentrations from the three test runs is
used to determine compliance.

(6) In accordance with paragraphs (c)(7) and (c)(11) of this section, EPA Reference Method 9 shall
be used for determining compliance with the opacity limit except as provided under §60.11(e) of
subpart A of this part.

(7) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall conduct an initial performance test for
particulate matter emissions and opacity as required under §60.8 of subpart A of this part.

(8) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a
continuous opacity monitoring system for measuring opacity and shall follow the methods and
procedures specified in paragraphs (c)(8)(i) through (c)(8)(iv) of this section.

(1) The output of the continuous opacity monitoring system shall be recorded on a 6-minute
average basis.

(i) The continuous opacity monitoring system shall be installed, evaluated, and operated in
accordance with §60.13 of subpart A of this part.

(iii) The continuous opacity monitoring system shall conform to Performance Specification 1 in
appendix B of this part.

(iv) The initial performance evaluation shall be completed no later than 180 days after the date of the
initial startup of the municipal waste combustor unit, as specified under §60.8 of subpart A of this part.

(9) Following the date that the initial performance test for particulate matter is completed or is
required to be completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part for an affected facility, the owner or
operator shall conduct a performance test for particulate matter on a calendar year basis (no less

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-19



than 9 calendar months and no more than 15 calendar months following the previous performance
test; and must complete five performance tests in each 5-year calendar period).

(10) In place of particulate matter testing with EPA Reference Method 5, an owner or operator
may elect to install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a continuous emission monitoring system for
monitoring particulate matter emissions discharged to the atmosphere and record the output of the
system. The owner or operator of an affected facility who elects to continuously monitor
particulate matter emissions instead of conducting performance testing using EPA Method 5 shall
install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a continuous emission monitoring system and shall comply
with the requirements specified in paragraphs (c)(10)(i) through (c)(10)(xiv) of this section. The
owner or operator who elects to continuously monitor particulate matter emissions instead of
conducting performance testing using EPA Method 5 is not required to complete performance
testing for particulate matter as specified in paragraph (c)(9) of this section and is not required to
continuously monitor opacity as specified in paragraph (c)(8) of this section.

(i) Notify the Administrator one month before starting use of the system.

(ii) Notify the Administrator one month before stopping use of the system.

(iii) The monitor shall be installed, evaluated, and operated in accordance with §60.13 of subpart A
of this part.

(iv) The initial performance evaluation shall be completed no later than 180 days after the date of
initial startup of the affected facility, as specified under §60.8 of subpart A of this part or within
180 days of notification to the Administrator of use of the continuous monitoring system if the
owner or operator was previously determining compliance by Method 5 performance tests,
whichever is later.

(v) The owner or operator of an affected facility may request that compliance with the particulate
matter emission limit be determined using carbon dioxide measurements corrected to an equivalent
of 7 percent oxygen. The relationship between oxygen and carbon dioxide levels for the affected
facility shall be established as specified in paragraph (b)(6) of this section.

(vi) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall conduct an initial performance test for
particulate matter emissions as required under §60.8 of subpart A of this part. Compliance with the
particulate matter emission limit shall be determined by using the continuous emission monitoring
system specified in paragraph (c)(10) of this section to measure particulate matter and calculating a
24-hour block arithmetic average emission concentration using EPA Reference Method 19, section
12.4.1.

(vii) Compliance with the particulate matter emission limit shall be determined based on the 24-
hour daily (block) average of the hourly arithmetic average emission concentrations using
continuous emission monitoring system outlet data.

(viii) After April 28, 2008, at a minimum, valid continuous monitoring system hourly averages
shall be obtained as specified in paragraphs (c)(10)(viii)(A) and (c)(10)(viii)(B) for at least 90
percent of the operating hours per calendar quarter and 95 percent of the operating hours per
calendar year that the affected facility is combusting municipal solid waste.

(A) At least two data points per hour shall be used to calculate each 1-hour arithmetic average.

(B) Each particulate matter 1-hour arithmetic average shall be corrected to 7 percent oxygen on an
hourly basis using the 1-hour arithmetic average of the oxygen (or carbon dioxide) continuous
emission monitoring system data.

(ix) The 1-hour arithmetic averages required under paragraph (c)(10)(vii) of this section shall be
expressed in milligrams per dry standard cubic meter corrected to 7 percent oxygen (dry basis) and
shall be used to calculate the 24-hour daily arithmetic average emission concentrations. The 1-hour
arithmetic averages shall be calculated using the data points required under §60.13(e)(2) of subpart
A of this part.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-20



(x) All valid continuous emission monitoring system data shall be used in calculating average
emission concentrations even if the minimum continuous emission monitoring system data
requirements of paragraph (c)(10)(viii) of this section are not met.

(xi) The continuous emission monitoring system shall be operated according to Performance
Specification 11 in appendix B of this part.

(xi1) During each relative accuracy test run of the continuous emission monitoring system required
by Performance Specification 11 in appendix B of this part, particulate matter and oxygen (or
carbon dioxide) data shall be collected concurrently (or within a 30- to 60-minute period) by both
the continuous emission monitors and the test methods specified in paragraphs (c)(10)(xii)(A) and
(c)(10)(xii)(B) of this section.

(A) For particulate matter, EPA Reference Method 5 shall be used.
(B) For oxygen (or carbon dioxide), EPA Reference Method 3, 3A, or 3B, as applicable shall be used.

(xiii) Quarterly accuracy determinations and daily calibration drift tests shall be performed in
accordance with procedure 2 in appendix F of this part.

(xiv) When particulate matter emissions data are not obtained because of continuous emission
monitoring system breakdowns, repairs, calibration checks, and zero and span adjustments,
emissions data shall be obtained by using other monitoring systems as approved by the
Administrator or EPA Reference Method 19 to provide, as necessary, valid emissions data for a
minimum of 90 percent of the hours per calendar quarter and 95 percent of the hours per calendar
year that the affected facility is operated and combusting municipal solid waste.

(11) Following the date that the initial performance test for opacity is completed or is required to
be completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part for an affected facility, the owner or operator
shall conduct a performance test for opacity on an annual basis (no less than 9 calendar months and
no more than 15 calendar months following the previous performance test; and must complete five
performance tests in each 5-year calendar period) using the test method specified in paragraph
(c)(6) of this section.

(d) The procedures and test methods specified in paragraphs (d)(1) and (d)(2) of this section shall

be used to determine compliance with the emission limits for cadmium, lead, and mercury under
§60.52b(a).

(1) The procedures and test methods specified in paragraphs (d)(1)(i) through (d)(1)(ix) of this
section shall be used to determine compliance with the emission limits for cadmium and lead under
§60.52b(a) (3) and (4).

(1) The EPA Reference Method 1 shall be used for determining the location and number of
sampling points.

(1) The EPA Reference Method 3, 3A, or 3B, or as an alternative ASME PTC-19-10-1981—Part
10, as applicable, shall be used for flue gas analysis.

(ii1) The EPA Reference Method 29 shall be used for determining compliance with the cadmium
and lead emission limits.

(iv) An oxygen or carbon dioxide measurement shall be obtained simultaneously with each
Method 29 test run for cadmium and lead required under paragraph (d)(1)(iii) of this section.

(v) The owner or operator of an affected facility may request that compliance with the cadmium or
lead emission limit be determined using carbon dioxide measurements corrected to an equivalent
of 7 percent oxygen. The relationship between oxygen and carbon dioxide levels for the affected
facility shall be established as specified in paragraph (b)(6) of this section.

(vi) All performance tests shall consist of a minimum of three test runs conducted under
representative full load operating conditions. The average of the cadmium or lead emission
concentrations from three test runs or more shall be used to determine compliance.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-21



(vii) Following the date of the initial performance test or the date on which the initial performance
test is required to be completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, the owner or operator of an
affected facility shall conduct a performance test for compliance with the emission limits for
cadmium and lead on a calendar year basis (no less than 9 calendar months and no more than 15
calendar months following the previous performance test; and must complete five performance
tests in each 5-year calendar period).

(viii)—(ix) [Reserved]

(2) The procedures and test methods specified in paragraphs (d)(2)(i) through (d)(2)(xi) of this
section shall be used to determine compliance with the mercury emission limit under
§60.52b(a)(5).

(i) The EPA Reference Method 1 shall be used for determining the location and number of
sampling points.

(ii) The EPA Reference Method 3, 3A, or 3B, or as an alternative ASME PTC-19-10-1981—Part
10, as applicable, shall be used for flue gas analysis.

(iii) The EPA Reference Method 29 or as an alternative ASTM D6784-02 shall be used to
determine the mercury emission concentration. The minimum sample volume when using Method
29 as an alternative ASTM D6784—02 for mercury shall be 1.7 cubic meters.

(iv) An oxygen (or carbon dioxide) measurement shall be obtained simultaneously with each
Method 29 or as an alternative ASTM D6784-02 test run for mercury required under paragraph
(d)(2)(ii1) of this section.

(v) The percent reduction in the potential mercury emissions (%PHg) is computed using equation 1:

(%P = [Ei ;E ]x 100 M

2

where:
%Py, = percent reduction of the potential mercury emissions achieved.

E; = potential mercury emission concentration measured at the control device inlet, corrected to 7
percent oxygen (dry basis).

E, = controlled mercury emission concentration measured at the mercury control device outlet,
corrected to 7 percent oxygen (dry basis).

(vi) All performance tests shall consist of a minimum of three test runs conducted under
representative full load operating conditions. The average of the mercury emission concentrations
or percent reductions from three test runs or more is used to determine compliance.

(vii) The owner or operator of an affected facility may request that compliance with the mercury
emission limit be determined using carbon dioxide measurements corrected to an equivalent of 7
percent oxygen. The relationship between oxygen and carbon dioxide levels for the affected
facility shall be established as specified in paragraph (b)(6) of this section.

(viii) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall conduct an initial performance test for
mercury emissions as required under §60.8 of subpart A of this part.

(ix) Following the date that the initial performance test for mercury is completed or is required to
be completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, the owner or operator of an affected facility
shall conduct a performance test for mercury emissions on a calendar year basis (no less than 9
calendar months and no more than 15 calendar months from the previous performance test; and
must complete five performance tests in each 5-year calendar period).

(x) [Reserved]

(xi) The owner or operator of an affected facility where activated carbon injection is used to
comply with the mercury emission limit shall follow the procedures specified in paragraph (m) of
this section for measuring and calculating carbon usage.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-22



(3) In place of cadmium and lead testing with EPA Reference Method 29 as an alternative ASTM
D6784-02, an owner or operator may elect to install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a continuous
emission monitoring system for monitoring cadmium and lead emissions discharged to the
atmosphere and record the output of the system according to the provisions of paragraphs (n) and
(o) of this section.

(4) In place of mercury testing with EPA Reference Method 29 or as an alternative ASTM D6784-02
an owner or operator may elect to install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a continuous emission
monitoring system or a continuous automated sampling system for monitoring mercury emissions
discharged to the atmosphere and record the output of the system according to the provisions of
paragraphs (n) and (o) of this section, or paragraphs (p) and (q) of this section, as appropriate. The
owner or operator who elects to continuously monitor mercury in place of mercury testing with EPA
Reference Method 29 or as an alternative ASTM D6784-02 is not required to complete performance
testing for mercury as specified in paragraph (d)(2)(ix) of this section.

(e) The procedures and test methods specified in paragraphs (€)(1) through (e)(14) of this section
shall be used for determining compliance with the sulfur dioxide emission limit under
§60.52b(b)(1).

(1) The EPA Reference Method 19, section 4.3, shall be used to calculate the daily geometric
average sulfur dioxide emission concentration.

(2) The EPA Reference Method 19, section 5.4, shall be used to determine the daily geometric
average percent reduction in the potential sulfur dioxide emission concentration.

?

(3) The owner or operator of an affected facility may request that compliance with the sulfur
dioxide emission limit be determined using carbon dioxide measurements corrected to an
equivalent of 7 percent oxygen. The relationship between oxygen and carbon dioxide levels for the
affected facility shall be established as specified in paragraph (b)(6) of this section.

(4) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall conduct an initial performance test for sulfur
dioxide emissions as required under §60.8 of subpart A of this part. Compliance with the sulfur
dioxide emission limit (concentration or percent reduction) shall be determined by using the
continuous emission monitoring system specified in paragraph (e)(5) of this section to measure
sulfur dioxide and calculating a 24-hour daily geometric average emission concentration or a 24-
hour daily geometric average percent reduction using EPA Reference Method 19, sections 4.3 and
5.4, as applicable.

(5) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a
continuous emission monitoring system for measuring sulfur dioxide emissions discharged to the
atmosphere and record the output of the system.

(6) Following the date that the initial performance test for sulfur dioxide is completed or is
required to be completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, compliance with the sulfur dioxide
emission limit shall be determined based on the 24-hour daily geometric average of the hourly
arithmetic average emission concentrations using continuous emission monitoring system outlet
data if compliance is based on an emission concentration, or continuous emission monitoring
system inlet and outlet data if compliance is based on a percent reduction.

(7) At 2 minimum, valid continuous monitoring system hourly averages shall be obtained as
specified in paragraphs (e)(7)(i) and (e)(7)(ii) for 90 percent of the operating hours per calendar
quarter and 95 percent of the operating days per calendar year that the affected facility is
combusting municipal solid waste.

(i) At least two data points per hour shall be used to calculate each 1-hour arithmetic average.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-23



(ii) Each sulfur dioxide 1-hour arithmetic average shall be corrected to 7 percent oxygen on an
hourly basis using the 1-hour arithmetic average of the oxygen (or carbon dioxide) continuous
emission monitoring system data.

(8) The 1-hour arithmetic averages required under paragraph (€)(6) of this section shall be
expressed in parts per million corrected to 7 percent oxygen (dry basis) and used to calculate the
24-hour daily geometric average emission concentrations and daily geometric average emission
percent reductions. The 1-hour arithmetic averages shall be calculated using the data points
required under §60.13(e)(2) of subpart A of this part.

(9) All valid continuous emission monitoring system data shall be used in calculating average
emission concentrations and percent reductions even if the minimum continuous emission
monitoring system data requirements of paragraph (e)(7) of this section are not met.

(10) The procedures under §60.13 of subpart A of this part shall be followed for installation,
evaluation, and operation of the continuous emission monitoring system.

(11) The initial performance evaluation shall be completed no later than 180 days after the date of
initial startup of the municipal waste combustor as specified under §60.8 of subpart A of this part.

(12) The continuous emission monitoring system shall be operated according to Performance
Specification 2 in appendix B of this part. For sources that have actual inlet emissions less than
100 parts per million dry volume, the relative accuracy criterion for inlet sulfur dioxide continuous
emission monitoring systems should be no greater than 20 percent of the mean value of the
reference method test data in terms of the units of the emission standard, or 5 parts per million dry
volume absolute value of the mean difference between the reference method and the continuous
emission monitoring systems, whichever is greater.

(i) During each relative accuracy test run of the continuous emission monitoring system required
by Performance Specification 2 in appendix B of this part, sulfur dioxide and oxygen (or carbon
dioxide) data shall be collected concurrently (or within a 30- to 60-minute period) by both the
continuous emission monitors and the test methods specified in paragraphs (e)(12)(i)(A) and
(e)(12)(1)(B) of this section.

(A) For sulfur dioxide, EPA Reference Method 6, 6A, or 6C, or as an alternative ASME PTC-19—
10-1981—Part 10, shall be used.

(B) For oxygen (or carbon dioxide), EPA Reference Method 3, 3A, or 3B, or as an alternative
ASME PTC-19-10-1981—Part 10, as applicable, shall be used.

(i) The span value of the continuous emissions monitoring system at the inlet to the sulfur dioxide
control device shall be 125 percent of the maximum estimated hourly potential sulfur dioxide
emissions of the municipal waste combustor unit. The span value of the continuous emission
monitoring system at the outlet of the sulfur dioxide control device shall be 50 percent of the
maximum estimated hourly potential sulfur dioxide emissions of the municipal waste combustor
unit.

(13) Quarterly accuracy determinations and daily calibration drift tests shall be performed in
accordance with procedure 1 in appendix F of this part.

(14) When sulfur dioxide emissions data are not obtained because of continuous emission
monitoring system breakdowns, repairs, calibration checks, and/or zero and span adjustments,
emissions data shall be obtained by using other monitoring systems as approved by EPA or EPA
Reference Method 19 to provide, as necessary, valid emissions data for a minimum of 90 percent
of the hours per calendar quarter and 95 percent of the hours per calendar year that the affected
facility is operated and combusting municipal solid waste.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-24



(f) The procedures and test methods specified in paragraphs (f)(1) through (£)(8) of this section shall
be used for determining compliance with the hydrogen chloride emission limit under §60.52b(b)(2).

(1) The EPA Reference Method 26 or 26A, as applicable, shall be used to determine the hydrogen
chloride emission concentration. The minimum sampling time shall be 1 hour.

(2) An oxygen (or carbon dioxide) measurement shall be obtained simultaneously with each test
run for hydrogen chloride required by paragraph (f)(1) of this section.

(3) The percent reduction in potential hydrogen chloride emissions (% Pycy) is computed using
equation 2:

(%Pm)=(E’;E’)x100 ©)

where:
%Pucr=percent reduction of the potential hydrogen chloride emissions achieved.

Ei=potential hydrogen chloride emission concentration measured at the control device inlet,
corrected to 7 percent oxygen (dry basis).

E,=controlled hydrogen chloride emission concentration measured at the control device outlet,
corrected to 7 percent oxygen (dry basis).

(4) The owner or operator of an affected facility may request that compliance with the hydrogen
chloride emission limit be determined using carbon dioxide measurements corrected to an
equivalent of 7 percent oxygen. The relationship between oxygen and carbon dioxide levels for the
affected facility shall be established as specified in paragraph (b)(6) of this section.

(5) As specified under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, all performance tests shall consist of three
test runs. The average of the hydrogen chloride emission concentrations or percent reductions from
the three test runs is used to determine compliance.

(6) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall conduct an initial performance test for
hydrogen chloride as required under §60.8 of subpart A of this part.

(7) Following the date that the initial performance test for hydrogen chloride is completed or is
required to be completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, the owner or operator of an affected
facility shall conduct a performance test for hydrogen chloride emissions on an annual basis (no
more than 12 calendar months following the previous performance test).

(8) In place of hydrogen chloride testing with EPA Reference Method 26 or 26A, an owner or
operator may elect to install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a continuous emission monitoring
system for monitoring hydrogen chloride emissions discharged to the atmosphere and record the
output of the system according to the provisions of paragraphs (n) and (o) of this section.

(g) The procedures and test methods specified in paragraphs (g)(1) through (g)(9) of this section
shall be used to determine compliance with the limits for dioxin/furan emissions under §60.52b(c).

(1) The EPA Reference Method 1 shall be used for determining the location and number of
sampling points.

(2) The EPA Reference Method 3, 3A, or 3B, or as an alternative ASME PTC-19-10-1981—Part
10, as applicable, shall be used for flue gas analysis.

(3) The EPA Reference Method 23 shall be used for determining the dioxin/furan emission
concentration.

(1) The minimum sample time shall be 4 hours per test run.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-25



(i1) An oxygen (or carbon dioxide) measurement shall be obtained simultaneously with each
Method 23 test run for dioxins/furans.

(4) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall conduct an initial performance test for
dioxin/furan emissions in accordance with paragraph (g)(3) of this section, as required under §60.8
of subpart A of this part.

(5) Following the date that the initial performance test for dioxins/furans is completed or is
required to be completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, the owner or operator of an affected
facility shall conduct performance tests for dioxin/furan emissions in accordance with paragraph
(2)(3) of this section, according to one of the schedules specified in paragraphs (g)(5)(i) through
(g)(5)(iii) of this section.

(1) For affected facilities, performance tests shall be conducted on a calendar year basis (no less
than 9 calendar months and no more than 15 calendar months following the previous performance
test; and must complete five performance tests in each 5-year calendar period).

(ii) For the purpose of evaluating system performance to establish new operating parameter levels,
testing new technology or control technologies, diagnostic testing, or related activities for the
purpose of improving facility performance or advancing the state-of-the-art for controlling facility
emissions, the owner or operator of an affected facility that qualifies for the performance testing
schedule specified in paragraph (g)(5)(iii) of this section, may test one unit for dioxin/furan and
apply the dioxin/furan operating parameters to similarly designed and equipped units on site by
meeting the requirements specified in paragraphs (g)(5)(i1)(A) through (g)(5)(ii)(D) of this section.

(A) Follow the testing schedule established in paragraph (g)(5)(iii) of this section. For example,
each year a different affected facility at the municipal waste combustor plant shall be tested, and
the affected facilities at the plant shall be tested in sequence (e.g., unit 1, unit 2, unit 3, as
applicable).

(B) Upon meeting the requirements in paragraph (g)(5)(iii) of this section for one affected facility,
the owner or operator may elect to apply the average carbon mass feed rate and associated carbon
injection system operating parameter levels for dioxin/furan as established in paragraph (m) of this
section to similarly designed and equipped units on site.

(C) Upon testing each subsequent unit in accordance with the testing schedule established in
paragraph (g)(5)(iii) of this section, the dioxin/furan and mercury emissions of the subsequent unit
shall not exceed the dioxin/furan and mercury emissions measured in the most recent test of that
unit prior to the revised operating parameter levels.

(D) The owner or operator of an affected facility that selects to follow the performance testing
schedule specified in paragraph (g)(5)(iii) of this section and apply the carbon injection system
operating parameters to similarly designed and equipped units on site shall follow the procedures
specified in §60.59b(g)(4) for reporting.

(iii) Where all performance tests over a 2-year period indicate that dioxin/furan emissions are less
than or equal to 7 nanograms per dry standard cubic meter (total mass) for all affected facilities
located within a municipal waste combustor plant, the owner or operator of the municipal waste
combustor plant may elect to conduct annual performance tests for one affected facility (i.e., unit)
per year at the municipal waste combustor plant. At a minimum, a performance test for
dioxin/furan emissions shall be conducted on a calendar year basis (no less than 9 calendar months
and no more than 15 months following the previous performance test; and must complete five
performance tests in each 5-year calendar period) for one affected facility at the municipal waste
combustor plant. Each year a different affected facility at the municipal waste combustor plant
shall be tested, and the affected facilities at the plant shall be tested in sequence (e.g., unit 1, unit 2,
unit 3, as applicable). If each annual performance test continues to indicate a dioxin/furan emission
NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-26



level less than or equal to 7 nanograms per dry standard cubic meter (total mass), the owner or
operator may continue conducting a performance test on only one affected facility per calendar
year. If any annual performance test indicates either a dioxin/furan emission level greater than 7
nanograms per dry standard cubic meter (total mass), performance tests shall thereafter be
conducted annually on all affected facilities at the plant until and unless all annual performance
tests for all affected facilities at the plant over a 2-year period indicate a dioxin/furan emission
level less than or equal to 7 nanograms per dry standard cubic meter (total mass).

(6) The owner or operator of an affected facility that selects to follow the performance testing
schedule specified in paragraph (g)(5)(iit) of this section shall follow the procedures specified in
§60.59b(g)(4) for reporting the selection of this schedule.

(7) The owner or operator of an affected facility where activated carbon is used shall follow the
procedures specified in paragraph (m) of this section for measuring and calculating the carbon
usage rate.

(8) The owner or operator of an affected facility may request that compliance with the dioxin/furan
emission limit be determined using carbon dioxide measurements corrected to an equivalent of 7
percent oxygen. The relationship between oxygen and carbon dioxide levels for the affected
facility shall be established as specified in paragraph (b)(6) of this section.

(9) As specified under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, all performance tests shall consist of three
test runs. The average of the dioxin/furan emission concentrations from the three test runs is used
to determine compliance.

(10) In place of dioxin/furan sampling and testing with EPA Reference Method 23, an owner or
operator may elect to sample dioxin/furan by installing, calibrating, maintaining, and operating a
continuous automated sampling system for monitoring dioxin/furan emissions discharged to the
atmosphere, recording the output of the system, and analyzing the sample using EPA Method 23. This
option to use a continuous automated sampling system takes effect on the date a final performance
specification applicable to dioxin/furan from monitors is published in the Federal Register or the date
of approval of a site-specific monitoring plan. The owner or operator of an affected facility who elects
to continuously sample dioxin/furan emissions instead of sampling and testing using EPA Method 23
shall install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a continuous automated sampling system and shall
comply with the requirements specified in paragraphs (p) and (q) of this section.

(h) The procedures and test methods specified in paragraphs (h)(1) through (h)(12) of this section
shall be used to determine compliance with the nitrogen oxides emission limit for affected
facilities under §60.52b(d).

(1) The EPA Reference Method 19, section 4.1, shall be used for determining the daily arithmetic
average nitrogen oxides emission concentration.

(2) The owner or operator of an affected facility may request that compliance with the nitrogen
oxides emission limit be determined using carbon dioxide measurements corrected to an equivalent
of 7 percent oxygen. The relationship between oxygen and carbon dioxide levels for the affected
facility shall be established as specified in paragraph (b)(6) of this section.

(3) The owner or operator of an affected facility subject to the nitrogen oxides limit under
§60.52b(d) shall conduct an initial performance test for nitrogen oxides as required under §60.8 of
subpart A of this part. Compliance with the nitrogen oxides emission limit shall be determined by
using the continuous emission monitoring system specified in paragraph (h)(4) of this section for
measuring nitrogen oxides and calculating a 24-hour daily arithmetic average emission
concentration using EPA Reference Method 19, section 4.1.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-27



(4) The owner or operator of an affected facility subject to the nitrogen oxides emission limit under
§60.52b(d) shall install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a continuous emission monitoring system
for measuring nitrogen oxides discharged to the atmosphere, and record the output of the system.

(5) Following the date that the initial performance test for nitrogen oxides is completed or is required to
be completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, compliance with the emission limit for nitrogen
oxides required under §60.52b(d) shall be determined based on the 24-hour daily arithmetic average of
the hourly emission concentrations using continuous emission monitoring system outlet data.

(6) At a minimum, valid continuous emission monitoring system hourly averages shall be obtained
as specified in paragraphs (h)(6)(i) and (h)(6)(ii) of this section for 90 percent of the operating
hours per calendar quarter and for 95 percent of the operating hours per calendar year that the
affected facility is combusting municipal solid waste.

(i) At least 2 data points per hour shall be used to calculate each 1-hour arithmetic average.

(ii) Each nitrogen oxides 1-hour arithmetic average shall be corrected to 7 percent oxygen on an
hourly basis using the 1-hour arithmetic average of the oxygen (or carbon dioxide) continuous
emission monitoring system data.

(7) The 1-hour arithmetic averages required by paragraph (h)(5) of this section shall be expressed
in parts per million by volume (dry basis) and used to calculate the 24-hour daily arithmetic
average concentrations. The 1-hour arithmetic averages shall be calculated using the data points
required under §60.13(e)(2) of subpart A of this part.

(8) All valid continuous emission monitoring system data must be used in calculating emission
averages even if the minimum continuous emission monitoring system data requirements of
paragraph (h)(6) of this section are not met.

(9) The procedures under §60.13 of subpart A of this part shall be followed for installation,
evaluation, and operation of the continuous emission monitoring system. The initial performance
evaluation shall be completed no later than 180 days after the date of initial startup of the
municipal waste combustor unit, as specified under §60.8 of subpart A of this part.

(10) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall operate the continuous emission monitoring
system according to Performance Specification 2 in appendix B of this part and shall follow the
procedures and methods specified in paragraphs (h)(10)(i) and (h)(10)(ii) of this section.

(i) During each relative accuracy test run of the continuous emission monitoring system required
by Performance Specification 2 of appendix B of this part, nitrogen oxides and oxygen (or carbon
dioxide) data shall be collected concurrently (or within a 30- to 60-minute period) by both the
continuous emission monitors and the test methods specified in paragraphs (h)(10)(1)(A) and
(h)(10)(1)(B) of this section.

(A) For nitrogen oxides, EPA Reference Method 7, 7A, 7C, 7D, or 7E shall be used.

(B) For oxygen (or carbon dioxide), EPA Reference Method 3, 3A, or 3B, or as an alternative
ASME PTC-19-10-1981—Part 10, as applicable, shall be used.

(ii) The span value of the continuous emission monitoring system shall be 125 percent of the
maximum estimated hourly potential nitrogen oxide emissions of the municipal waste combustor unit.

(11) Quarterly accuracy determinations and daily calibration drift tests shall be performed in
accordance with procedure 1 in appendix F of this part.

(12) When nitrogen oxides continuous emission data are not obtained because of continuous
emission monitoring system breakdowns, repairs, calibration checks, and zero and span
adjustments, emissions data shall be obtained using other monitoring systems as approved by EPA
or EPA Reference Method 19 to provide, as necessary, valid emissions data for a minimum of 90

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-28



percent of the hours per calendar quarter and 95 percent of the hours per calendar year the unit is
operated and combusting municipal solid waste.

(1) The procedures specified in paragraphs (i)(1) through (i)(12) of this section shall be used for
determining compliance with the operating requirements under §60.53b.

(1) Compliance with the carbon monoxide emission limits in §60.53b(a) shall be determined using
a 4-hour block arithmetic average for all types of affected facilities except mass burn rotary
waterwall municipal waste combustors and refuse-derived fuel stokers.

(2) For affected mass burn rotary waterwall municipal waste combustors and refuse-derived fuel
stokers, compliance with the carbon monoxide emission limits in §60.53b(a) shall be determined
using a 24-hour daily arithmetic average.

(3) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a
continuous emission monitoring system for measuring carbon monoxide at the combustor outlet
and record the output of the system and shall follow the procedures and methods specified in
paragraphs (i)(3)(i) through (1)(3)(iii) of this section.

(1) The continuous emission monitoring system shall be operated according to Performance
Specification 4A in appendix B of this part.

(i) During each relative accuracy test run of the continuous emission monitoring system required
by Performance Specification 4A in appendix B of this part, carbon monoxide and oxygen (or
carbon dioxide) data shall be collected concurrently (or within a 30- to 60-minute period) by both
the continuous emission monitors and the test methods specified in paragraphs (i)(3)(ii)(A) and
(1)(3)(ii)(B) of this section. For affected facilities subject to the 100 parts per million dry volume
carbon monoxide standard, the relative accuracy criterion of 5 parts per million dry volume is
calculated as the absolute value of the mean difference between the reference method and
continuous emission monitoring systems.

(A) For carbon monoxide, EPA Reference Method 10, 10A, or 10B shall be used.

(B) For oxygen (or carbon dioxide), EPA Reference Method 3, 3A, or 3B, or ASME PTC-19-10-

1981—Part 10 (incorporated by reference, see §60.17 of subpart A of this part), as applicable, shall
be used.

(1ii) The span value of the continuous emission monitoring system shall be 125 percent of the
maximum estimated hourly potential carbon monoxide emissions of the municipal waste
combustor unit.

(4) The 4-hour block and 24-hour daily arithmetic averages specified in paragraphs (i)(1) and (i)(2)
of this section shall be calculated from 1-hour arithmetic averages expressed in parts per million by
volume corrected to 7 percent oxygen (dry basis). The 1-hour arithmetic averages shall be
calculated using the data points generated by the continuous emission monitoring system. At least
two data points shall be used to calculate each 1-hour arithmetic average.

(5) The owner or operator of an affected facility may request that compliance with the carbon
monoxide emission limit be determined using carbon dioxide measurements corrected to an
equivalent of 7 percent oxygen. The relationship between oxygen and carbon dioxide levels for the
affected facility shall be established as specified in paragraph (b)(6) of this section.

(6) The procedures specified in paragraphs (1)(6)(1) through (1)(6)(v) of this section shall be used to
determine compliance with load level requirements under §60.53b(b).

(i) The owner or operator of an affected facility with steam generation capability shall install,
calibrate, maintain, and operate a steam flow meter or a feedwater flow meter; measure steam (or
feedwater) flow in kilograms per hour (or pounds per hour) on a continuous basis; and record the

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-29



output of the monitor. Steam (or feedwater) flow shall be calculated in 4-hour block arithmetic
averages.

(i1) The method included in the “American Society of Mechanical Engineers Power Test Codes: Test
Code for Steam Generating Units, Power Test Code 4.1—1964 (R1991)” section 4 (incorporated by
reference, see §60.17 of subpart A of this part) shall be used for calculating the steam (or feedwater)
flow required under paragraph (i)(6)(i) of this section. The recommendations in “American Society of
Mechanical Engineers Interim Supplement 19.5 on Instruments and Apparatus: Application, Part IT of
Fluid Meters, 6th edition (1971),” chapter 4 (incorporated by reference—see §60.17 of subpart A of
this part) shall be followed for design, construction, installation, calibration, and use of nozzles and
orifices except as specified in (i)(6)(iii) of this section.

(iii) Measurement devices such as flow nozzles and orifices are not required to be recalibrated after
they are installed.

(iv) All signal conversion elements associated with steam (or feedwater flow) measurements must be
calibrated according to the manufacturer's instructions before each dioxin/furan performance test, and
at least once per year.

(7) To determine compliance with the maximum particulate matter control device temperature
requirements under §60.53b(c), the owner or operator of an affected facility shall install, calibrate,
maintain, and operate a device for measuring on a continuous basis the temperature of the flue gas
stream at the inlet to each particulate matter control device utilized by the affected facility.
Temperature shall be calculated in 4-hour block arithmetic averages. -

(8) The maximum demonstrated municipal waste combustor unit load shall be determined during
the initial performance test for dioxins/furans and each subsequent performance test during which
compliance with the dioxin/furan emission limit specified in §60.52b(c) is achieved. The
maximum demonstrated municipal waste combustor unit load shall be the highest 4-hour
arithmetic average load achieved during four consecutive hours during the most recent test during
which compliance with the dioxin/furan emission limit was achieved. If a subsequent dioxin/furan
performance test is being performed on only one affected facility at the MWC plant, as provided in
paragraph (g)(5)(iii) of this section, the owner or operator may elect to apply the same maximum
municipal waste combustor unit load from the tested facility for all the similarly designed and
operated affected facilities at the MWC plant.

(9) For each particulate matter control device employed at the affected facility, the maximum
demonstrated particulate matter control device temperature shall be determined during the initial
performance test for dioxins/furans and each subsequent performance test during which
compliance with the dioxin/furan emission limit specified in §60.52b(c) is achieved. The
maximum demonstrated particulate matter control device temperature shall be the highest 4-hour
arithmetic average temperature achieved at the particulate matter control device inlet during four
consecutive hours during the most recent test during which compliance with the dioxin/furan limit
was achieved. If a subsequent dioxin/furan performance test is being performed on only one
affected facility at the MWC plant, as provided in paragraph (g)(5)(iii) of this section, the owner or
operator may elect to apply the same maximum particulate matter control device temperature from
the tested facility for all the similarly designed and operated affected facilities at the MWC plant.

(10) At a minimum, valid continuous emission monitoring system hourly averages shall be
obtained as specified in paragraphs (i)(10)(i) and (i)(10)(ii) of this section for at least 90 percent of
the operating hours per calendar quarter and 95 percent of the operating hours per calendar year
that the affected facility is combusting municipal solid waste.

(1) At least two data points per hour shall be used to calculate each 1-hour arithmetic average.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-30



(i1) At a minimum, each carbon monoxide 1-hour arithmetic average shall be corrected to 7 percent
oxygen on an hourly basis using the 1-hour arithmetic average of the oxygen (or carbon dioxide)
continuous emission monitoring system data.

(11) All valid continuous emission monitoring system data must be used in calculating the
parameters specified under paragraph (i) of this section even if the minimum data requirements of
paragraph (i)(10) of this section are not met. When carbon monoxide continuous emission data are
not obtained because of continuous emission monitoring system breakdowns, repairs, calibration
checks, and zero and span adjustments, emissions data shall be obtained using other monitoring
systems as approved by EPA or EPA Reference Method 10 to provide, as necessary, the minimum
valid emission data.

(12) Quarterly accuracy determinations and daily calibration drift tests for the carbon monoxide
continuous emission monitoring system shall be performed in accordance with procedure 1 in
appendix F of this part.

() The procedures specified in paragraphs (j)(1) and (j)(2) of this section shall be used for
calculating municipal waste combustor unit capacity as defined under §60.51b.

(1) For municipal waste combustor units capable of combusting municipal solid waste
continuously for a 24-hour period, municipal waste combustor unit capacity shall be calculated
based on 24 hours of operation at the maximum charging rate. The maximum charging rate shall
be determined as specified in paragraphs (j)(1)(i) and (j)(1)(ii) of this section as applicable.

(1) For combustors that are designed based on heat capacity, the maximum charging rate shall be
calculated based on the maximum design heat input capacity of the unit and a heating value of 12,800
kilojoules per kilogram for combustors firing refuse-derived fuel and a heating value of 10,500
kilojoules per kilogram for combustors firing municipal solid waste that is not refuse-derived fuel.
(ii) For combustors that are not designed based on heat capacity, the maximum charging rate shall be
the maximum design charging rate.

(2) For batch feed municipal waste combustor units, municipal waste combustor unit capacity shall
be calculated as the maximum design amount of municipal solid waste that can be charged per
batch multiplied by the maximum number of batches that could be processed in a 24-hour period.
The maximum number of batches that could be processed in a 24-hour period is calculated as 24
hours divided by the design number of hours required to process one batch of municipal solid
waste, and may include fractional batches (e.g., if one batch requires 16 hours, then 24/16, or 1.5
batches, could be combusted in a 24-hour period). For batch combustors that are designed based on
heat capacity, the design heating value of 12,800 kilojoules per kilogram for combustors firing
refuse-derived fuel and a heating value of 10,500 kilojoules per kilogram for combustors firing
municipal solid waste that is not refuse-derived fuel shall be used in calculating the municipal
waste combustor unit capacity in megagrams per day of municipal solid waste.

(k) The procedures specified in paragraphs (k)(1) through (k)(4) of this section shall be used for
determining compliance with the fugitive ash emission limit under §60.55b.

(1) The EPA Reference Method 22 shall be used for determining compliance with the fugitive ash
emission limit under §60.55b. The minimum observation time shall be a series of three 1-hour
observations. The observation period shall include times when the facility is transferring ash from
the municipal waste combustor unit to the area where ash is stored or loaded into containers or
trucks.

(2) The average duration of visible emissions per hour shall be calculated from the three 1-hour
observations. The average shall be used to determine compliance with §60.55b.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-31



(3) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall conduct an initial performance test for
fugitive ash emissions as required under §60.8 of subpart A of this part.

(4) Following the date that the initial performance test for fugitive ash emissions is completed or is
required to be completed under §60.8 of subpart A of this part for an affected facility, the owner or
operator shall conduct a performance test for fugitive ash emissions on an annual basis (no more
than 12 calendar months following the previous performance test).

(1) The procedures specified in paragraphs (1)(1) through (1)(3) of this section shall be used to
determine compliance with the opacity limit for air curtain incinerators under §60.56b.

(1) The EPA Reference Method 9 shall be used for determining compliance with the opacity limit.

(2) The owner or operator of the air curtain incinerator shall conduct an initial performance test for
opacity as required under §60.8 of subpart A of this part.

(3) Following the date that the initial performance test is completed or is required to be completed
under §60.8 of subpart A of this part, the owner or operator of the air curtain incinerator shall
conduct a performance test for opacity on an annual basis (no more than 12 calendar months
following the previous performance test).

(m) The owner or operator of an affected facility where activated carbon injection is used to comply
with the mercury emission limit under §60.52b(a)(5), and/or the dioxin/furan emission limits under
§60.52(b)(c), or the dioxin/furan emission level specified in paragraph (g)(5)(iii) of this section shall
follow the procedures specified in paragraphs (m)(1) through (m)(4) of this section.

(1) During the performance tests for dioxins/furans and mercury, as applicable, the owner or
operator shall estimate an average carbon mass feed rate based on carbon injection system
operating parameters such as the screw feeder speed, hopper volume, hopper refill frequency, or
other parameters appropriate to the feed system being employed, as specified in paragraphs
(m)(1)(1) and (m)(1)(ii) of this section.

(1) An average carbon mass feed rate in kilograms per hour or pounds per hour shall be estimated
during the initial performance test for mercury emissions and each subsequent performance test for
mercury emissions.

(i) An average carbon mass feed rate in kilograms per hour or pounds per hour shall be estimated
during the initial performance test for dioxin/furan emissions and each subsequent performance test for
dioxin/furan emissions. If a subsequent dioxin/furan performance test is being performed on only one
affected facility at the MWC plant, as provided in paragraph (g)(5)(iii) of this section, the owner or
operator may elect to apply the same estimated average carbon mass feed rate from the tested facility
for all the similarly designed and operated affected facilities at the MWC plant.

(2) During operation of the affected facility, the carbon injection system operating parameter(s)
that are the primary indicator(s) of the carbon mass feed rate (e.g., screw feeder setting) shall be
averaged over a block 8-hour period, and the 8-hour block average must equal or exceed the
level(s) documented during the performance tests specified under paragraphs (m)(1)(i) and
(m)(1)(ii) of this section, except as specified in paragraphs (m)(2)(i) and (m)(2)(ii) of this section.

(i) During the annual dioxin/furan or mercury performance test and the 2 weeks preceding the annual
dioxin/furan or mercury performance test, no limit is applicable for average mass carbon feed rate if
the provisions of paragraph (m)(2)(ii) of this section are met.

(ii) The limit for average mass carbon feed rate may be waived in accordance with permission granted
by the Administrator for the purpose of evaluating system performance, testing new technology or
control technologies, diagnostic testing, or related activities for the purpose of improving facility
performance or advancing the state-of-the-art for controlling facility emissions.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-32



(3) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall estimate the total carbon usage of the plant
(kilograms or pounds) for each calendar quarter by two independent methods, according to the
procedures in paragraphs (m)(3)(i) and (m)(3)(ii) of this section.

(1) The weight of carbon delivered to the plant.

(1) Estimate the average carbon mass feed rate in kilograms per hour or pounds per hour for each hour
of operation for each affected facility based on the parameters specified under paragraph (m)(1) of this
section, and sum the results for all affected facilities at the plant for the total number of hours of
operation during the calendar quarter.

(4) Pneumatic injection pressure or other carbon injection system operational indicator shall be
used to provide additional verification of proper carbon injection system operation. The
operational indicator shall provide an instantaneous visual and/or audible alarm to alert the
operator of a potential interruption in the carbon feed that would not normally be indicated by
direct monitoring of carbon mass feed rate (e.g., continuous weight loss feeder) or monitoring of
the carbon system operating parameter(s) that are the indicator(s) of carbon mass feed rate (e.g.,
screw feeder speed). The carbon injection system operational indicator used to provide additional
verification of carbon injection system operation, including basis for selecting the indicator and
operator response to the indicator alarm, shall be included in section (€)(6) of the site-specific
operating manual required under §60.54b(e) of this subpart.

(n) In place of periodic manual testing of mercury, cadmium, lead, or hydrogen chloride with EPA
Reference Method 26, 26A, 29, or as an alternative ASTM D6784—02 (as applicable), the owner or
operator of an affected facility may elect to install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a continuous
emission monitoring system for monitoring emissions discharged to the atmosphere and record the
output of the system. The option to use a continuous emission monitoring system for mercury
takes effect on the date of approval of the site-specific monitoring plan required in paragraph
(n)(13) and (o) of this section. The option to use a continuous emission monitoring system for
cadmium, lead, or hydrogen chloride takes effect on the date a final performance specification
applicable.to cadmium, lead, or hydrogen chloride monitor is published in the Federal Register or
the date of approval of the site-specific monitoring plan required in paragraphs (n)(13) and (o) of
this section. The owner or operator of an affected facility who elects to continuously monitor
emissions instead of conducting manual performance testing shall install, calibrate, maintain, and
operate a continuous emission monitoring system and shall comply with the requirements specified
in paragraphs (n)(1) through (n)(13) of this section.

(1) Notify the Administrator one month before starting use of the system.

(2) Notify the Administrator one month before stopping use of the system.

(3) The monitor shall be installed, evaluated, and operated in accordance with §60.13 of subpart A of
this part.

(4) The initial performance evaluation shall be completed no later than 180 days after the date of
initial startup of the affected facility, as specified under §60.8 of subpart A of this part or within
180 days of notification to the Administrator of use of the continuous monitoring system if the
owner or operator was previously determining compliance by Method 26, 26A, 29, or as an
alternative ASTM D6784—02 (as applicable) performance tests, whichever is later.

(5) The owner or operator may request that compliance with the emission limits be determined
using carbon dioxide measurements corrected to an equivalent of 7 percent oxygen. The
relationship between oxygen and carbon dioxide levels for the affected facility shall be established
as specified in paragraph (b)(6) of this section.

(6) The owner or operator shall conduct an initial performance test for emissions as required under
§60.8 of subpart A of this part. Compliance with the emission limits shall be determined by using

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-33



the continuous emission monitoring system specified in paragraph (n) of this section to measure
emissions and calculating a 24-hour block arithmetic average emission concentration using EPA
Reference Method 19, section 12.4.1.

(7) Compliance with the emission limits shall be determined based on the 24-hour daily (block)
average of the hourly arithmetic average emission concentrations using continuous emission
monitoring system outlet data.

(8) Beginning on April 28, 2008 for mercury and on the date two years after final performance
specifications for cadmium, lead or hydrogen chloride monitors are published in the Federal Register or
the date two years after approval of a site-specific monitoring plan, valid continuous monitoring system
hourly averages shall be obtained as specified in paragraphs (n)(8)(1) and (n)(8)(ii) of this section for at
least 90 percent of the operating hours per calendar quarter and 95 percent of the operating hours per
calendar year that the affected facility is combusting municipal solid waste.

(i) At least two data points per hour shall be used to calculate each 1-hour arithmetic average.

(ii) Each 1-hour arithmetic average shall be corrected to 7 percent oxygen on an hourly basis using the
1-hour arithmetic average of the oxygen (or carbon dioxide) continuous emission monitoring system
data.

(9) The 1-hour arithmetic averages required under paragraph (n)(7) of this section shall be expressed in
micrograms per dry standard cubic meter for mercury, cadmium, lead and parts per million dry volume
for hydrogen chloride corrected to 7 percent oxygen (dry basis) and shall be used to calculate the 24-
hour daily arithmetic (block) average emission concentrations. The 1-hour arithmetic averages shall be
calculated using the data points required under §60.13(e)(2) of subpart A of this part.

(10) All valid continuous emission monitoring system data shall be used in calculating average
emission concentrations even if the minimum continuous emission monitoring system data
requirements of paragraph (n)(8) of this section are not met.

(11) The continuous emission monitoring system shall be operated according to the performance
specifications in paragraphs (n)(11)(i) through (n)(11)(iii) of this section or the approved site-
specific monitoring plan.

(i) For mercury, Performance Specification 12A in appendix B of this part.
(ii) [Reserved]
(iii) [Reserved]

(12) During each relative accuracy test run of the continuous emission monitoring system required

by the performance specifications in paragraph (n)(11) of this section, mercury, cadmium, lead,
hydrogen chloride, and oxygen (or carbon dioxide) data shall be collected concurrently (or within a
30- to 60-minute period) by both the continuous emission monitors and the test methods specified

in paragraphs (n)(12)(i) through (n)(12)(iii) of this section.

(i) For mercury, cadmium, and lead, EPA Reference Method 29 or as an alternative ASTM D6784-02
shall be used.

(ii) For hydrogen chloride, EPA Reference Method 26 or 26A shall be used.

(iii) For oxygen (or carbon dioxide), EPA Reference Method 3, 3A, or 3B, as applicable shall be used.

(13) The owner or operator who elects to install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a continuous
emission monitoring system for mercury, cadmium, lead, or hydrogen chloride must develop and
implement a site-specific monitoring plan as specified in paragraph (o) of this section. The owner
or operator who relies on a performance specification may refer to that document in addressing
applicable procedures and criteria.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-34



(14) When emissions data are not obtained because of continuous emission monitoring system
breakdowns, repairs, calibration checks, and zero and span adjustments, parametric monitoring
data shall be obtained by using other monitoring systems as approved by EPA.

(0) The owner or operator who elects to install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a continuous emission
monitoring system for mercury, cadmium, lead, or hydrogen chloride must develop and submit for
approval by EPA, a site-specific mercury, cadmium, lead, or hydrogen chloride monitoring plan that
addresses the elements and requirements in paragraphs (0)(1) through (0)(7) of this section.

(1) Installation of the continuous emission monitoring system sampling probe or other interface at a
measurement location relative to each affected process unit such that the measurement is
representative of control of the exhaust emissions (e.g., on or downstream of the last control device).

(2) Performance and equipment specifications for the sample interface, the pollutant concentration
analyzer, and the data collection and reduction system.

(3) Performance evaluation procedures and acceptance criteria (e.g., calibrations).

(4) Provisions for periods when the continuous emission monitoring system is out of control as
described in paragraphs (0)(4)(i) through (0)(4)(iii) of this section.

(1) A continuous emission monitoring system is out of control if either of the conditions in paragraphs
(0)(4)(1)(A) or (0)(4)(ii)(B) of this section are met.

(A) The zero (low-level), mid-level (if applicable), or high-level calibration drift exceeds two
times the applicable calibration drift specification in the applicable performance specification or in
the relevant standard; or

(B) The continuous emission monitoring system fails a performance test audit (e.g., cylinder gas
audit), relative accuracy audit, relative accuracy test audit, or linearity test audit.

(i1) When the continuous emission monitoring system is out of control as defined in paragraph (0)(4)(i)
of this section, the owner or operator of the affected source shall take the necessary corrective action
and shall repeat all necessary tests that indicate that the system is out of control. The owner or operator
shall take corrective action and conduct retesting until the performance requirements are below the
applicable limits. The beginning of the out-of-control period is the hour the owner or operator
conducts a performance check (e.g., calibration drift) that indicates an exceedance of the performance
requirements established under this part. The end of the out-of-control period is the hour following the
completion of corrective action and successful demonstration that the system is within the allowable
limits. During the period the continuous emission monitoring system is out of control, recorded data
shall not be used in data averages and calculations or to meet any data availability requirements in
paragraph (n)(8) of this section.

(iii) The owner or operator of a continuous emission monitoring system that is out of control as
defined in paragraph (0)(4) of this section shall submit all information concerning out-of-control
periods, including start and end dates and hours and descriptions of corrective actions taken in the
annual or semiannual compliance reports required in §60.59b(g) or (h).

(5) Ongoing data quality assurance procedures for continuous emission monitoring systems as
described in paragraphs (0)(5)(i) and (0)(5)(ii) of this section.

(i) Develop and implement a continuous emission monitoring system quality control program. As part
of the quality control program, the owner or operator shall develop and submit to EPA for approval,
upon request, a site-specific performance evaluation test plan for the continuous emission monitoring
system performance evaluation required in paragraph (0)(5)(ii) of this section. In addition, each quality
control program shall include, at a minimum, a written protocol that describes procedures for each of
the operations described in paragraphs (0)(7)(i)(A) through (0)(7)(i)(F) of this section.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-35



(A) Initial and any subsequent calibration of the continuous emission monitoring system;

(B) Determination and adjustment of the calibration drift of the continuous emission monitoring
system;

(C) Preventive maintenance of the continuous emission monitoring system, including spare parts
inventory;

(D) Data recording, calculations, and reporting;
(E) Accuracy audit procedures, including sampling and analysis methods; and
(F) Program of corrective action for a malfunctioning continuous emission monitoring system.

(ii) The performance evaluation test plan shall include the evaluation program objectives, an
evaluation program summary, the performance evaluation schedule, data quality objectives, and both
an internal and external quality assurance program. Data quality objectives are the pre-evaluation
expectations of precision, accuracy, and completeness of data. The internal quality assurance program
shall include, at a minimum, the activities planned by routine operators and analysts to provide an
assessment of continuous emission monitoring system performance, for example, plans for relative
accuracy testing using the appropriate reference method in §60.58b(n)(12) of this section. The external
quality assurance program shall include, at a minimum, systems audits that include the opportunity for
on-site evaluation by the Administrator of instrument calibration, data validation, sample logging, and
documentation of quality control data and field maintenance activities.

(6) Conduct a performance evaluation of each continuous emission monitoring system in
accordance with the site-specific monitoring plan.

(7) Operate and maintain the continuous emission monitoring system in continuous operation
according to the site-specific monitoring plan.

(p) In place of periodic manual testing of dioxin/furan or mercury with EPA Reference Method 23,
29, or as an alternative ASTM D6784-02 (as applicable), the owner or operator of an affected
facility may elect to install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a continuous automated sampling
system for determining emissions discharged to the atmosphere. This option takes effect on the
date a final performance specification applicable to such continuous automated sampling systems
is published in the Federal Register or the date of approval of a site-specific monitoring plan
required in paragraphs (p)(10) and (q) of this section. The owner or operator of an affected facility
who elects to use a continuous automated sampling system to determine emissions instead of
conducting manual performance testing shall install, calibrate, maintain, and operate the sampling
system and conduct analyses in compliance with the requirements specified in paragraphs (p)(1)
through (p)(12) of this section.

(1) Notify the Administrator one month before starting use of the system.
(2) Notify the Administrator one month before stopping use of the system.

(3) The initial performance evaluation shall be completed no later than 180 days after the date of
initial startup of the affected facility, as specified under §60.8 of subpart A of this part or within
180 days of notification to the Administrator of use of the continuous monitoring system if the
owner or operator was previously determining compliance by manual performance testing using
Method 23, 29, or as an alternative ASTM D6784-02 (as applicable), whichever is later.

(4) The owner or operator may request that compliance with the emission limits be determined
using carbon dioxide measurements corrected to an equivalent of 7 percent oxygen. The
relationship between oxygen and carbon dioxide levels for the affected facility shall be established
as specified in paragraph (b)(6) of this section.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-36



(5) The owner or operator shall conduct an initial performance test for emissions as required under §60.8
of subpart A of this part. Compliance with the emission limits shall be determined by using the
continuous automated sampling system specified in paragraph (p) of this section to collect integrated
samples and analyze emissions for the time period specified in paragraphs (p)(5)(i) and (ii) of this
section.

(i) For dioxin/furan, the continuous automated sampling system shall collect an integrated sample
over each 2-week period. The collected sample shall be analyzed using Method 23.

(ii) For mercury, the continuous automated sampling system shall collect an integrated sample
over each 24-hour daily period and the sample shall be analyzed according to the applicable final
performance specification or the approved site-specific monitoring plan required by paragraph (q)
of this section.

(6) Compliance with the emission limits shall be determined based on 2-week emission
concentrations for dioxin/furan and on the 24-hour daily emission concentrations for mercury
using samples collected at the system outlet. The emission concentrations shall be expressed in
nanograms per dry standard cubic meter (total mass) for dioxin/furan and micrograms per dry
standard cubic meter for mercury, corrected to 7 percent oxygen (dry basis).

(7) Beginning on the date two years after the respective final performance specification for
continuous automated sampling systems for dioxin/furan or mercury is published in the Federal
Register or two years after approval of a site-specific monitoring plan, the continuous automated
sampling system must be operated and collect emissions for at least 90 percent of the operating
hours per calendar quarter and 95 percent of the operating hours per calendar year that the affected
facility is combusting municipal solid waste.

(8) All valid data shall be used in calculating emission concentrations.

(9) The continuous automated sampling system shall be operated according to the final performance
specification in paragraphs (p)(9)(i) or (p)(9)(ii) of this section or the approved site-specific
monitoring plan.

(i) [Reserved]

(i1) [Reserved]

(10) The owner or operator who elects to install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a continuous
automated sampling system for dioxin/furan or mercury must develop and implement a site-
specific monitoring plan as specified in paragraph (q) of this section. The owner or operator who
relies on a performance specification may refer to that document in addressing applicable
procedures and criteria.

(11) When emissions data are not obtained because of continuous automated sampling system
breakdowns, repairs, quality assurance checks, or adjustments, parametric monitoring data shall be
obtained by using other monitoring systems as approved by EPA.

(q) The owner or operator who elects to install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a continuous
automated sampling system for dioxin/furan or mercury must develop and submit for approval by
EPA, a site-specific monitoring plan that has sufficient detail to assure the validity of the
continuous automated sampling system data and that addresses the elements and requirements in
paragraphs (q)(1) through (q)(7) of this section.

(1) Installation of the continuous automated sampling system sampling probe or other interface at a
measurement location relative to each affected process unit such that the measurement is
representative of control of the exhaust emissions (e.g., on or downstream of the last control device).

(2) Performance and equipment specifications for the sample interface, the pollutant concentration
analytical method, and the data collection system.
NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-37



(3) Performance evaluation procedures and acceptance criteria.

(4) Provisions for periods when the continuous automated sampling system is malfunctioning or is
out of control as described in paragraphs (q)(4)(i) through (q)(4)(iii) of this section.

(1) The site-specific monitoring plan shall identify criteria for determining that the continuous
automated sampling system is out of control. This shall include periods when the sampling system is
not collecting a representative sample or is malfunctioning, or when the analytical method does not
meet site-specific quality criteria established in paragraph (q)(5) of this section.

(i) When the continuous automated sampling system is out of control as defined in paragraph (q)(4)(i)
of this section, the owner or operator shall take the necessary corrective action and shall repeat all
necessary tests that indicate that the system is out of control. The owner or operator shall take
corrective action and conduct retesting until the performance requirements are within the applicable
limits. The out-of-control period includes all hours that the sampling system was not collecting a
representative sample or was malfunctioning, or hours represented by a sample for which the analysis
did not meet the relevant quality criteria. Emissions data obtained during an out-of-control period shall
not be used in determining compliance with the emission limits or to meet any data availability
requirements in paragraph (p)(8) of this section.

(iii) The owner or operator of a continuous automated sampling system that is out of control as defined
in paragraph (q)(4) of this section shall submit all information concerning out-of-control periods,
including start and end dates and hours and descriptions of corrective actions taken in the annual or
semiannual compliance reports required in §60.59b(g) or (h).

(5) Ongoing data quality assurance procedures for continuous automated sampling systems as
described in paragraphs (q)(5)(i) and (q)(5)(ii) of this section.

(1) Develop and implement a continuous automated sampling system and analysis quality control
program. As part of the quality control program, the owner or operator shall develop and submit to
EPA for approval, upon request, a site-specific performance evaluation test plan for the continuous
automated sampling system performance evaluation required in paragraph (q)(5)(ii) of this section. In
addition, each quality control program shall include, at a minimum, a written protocol that describes

procedures for each of the operations described in paragraphs (q)(7)(i)(A) through (q)(7)(i)(F) of this
section.

(A) Correct placement, installation of the continuous automated sampling system such that the
system is collecting a representative sample of gas;

(B) Initial and subsequent calibration of flow such that the sample collection rate of the continuous
automated sampling system is known and verifiable;

(C) Procedures to assure representative (e.g., proportional or isokinetic) sampling;

(D) Preventive maintenance of the continuous automated sampling system, including spare parts
inventory and procedures for cleaning equipment, replacing sample collection media, or other
servicing at the end of each sample collection period;

(E) Data recording and reporting, including an automated indicator and recording device to show
when the continuous automated monitoring system is operating and collecting data and when it is
not collecting data;

(F) Accuracy audit procedures for analytical methods; and
(G) Program of corrective action for a malfunctioning continuous automated sampling system.

(ii) The performance evaluation test plan shall include the evaluation program objectives, an
evaluation program summary, the performance evaluation schedule, data quality objectives, and both
an internal and external quality assurance program. Data quality objectives are the pre-evaluation

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-38



expectations of precision, accuracy, and completeness of data. The internal quality assurance program
shall include, at a minimum, the activities planned by routine operators and analysts to provide an
assessment of continuous automated sampling system performance, for example, plans for relative
accuracy testing using the appropriate reference method in 60.58b(p)(3), and an assessment of quality
of analysis results. The external quality assurance program shall include, at a minimum, systems audits
that include the opportunity for on-site evaluation by the Administrator of instrument calibration, data
validation, sample logging, and documentation of quality control data and field maintenance activities.

(6) Conduct a performance evaluation of each continuous automated sampling system in
accordance with the site-specific monitoring plan.

(7) Operate and maintain the continuous automated sampling system in continuous operation
according to the site-specific monitoring plan.

[60 FR 65419, Dec. 19, 1995, as amended at 62 FR 45126, Aug. 25, 1997; 65 FR 61753, Oct. 17,
2000; 66 FR 57827, Nov. 16,2001; 71 FR 27337, May 10, 2006]

§ 60.59b Reporting and recordkeeping requirements.

(2) The owner or operator of an affected facility with a capacity to combust greater than 250 tons
per day shall submit, on or before the date the application for a construction permit is submitted
under 40 CFR part 51, subpart I, or part 52, as applicable, the items specified in paragraphs (a)(1)
through (a)(4) of this section.

(1) The preliminary and final draft materials separation plans required by §60.57b(a)(1) and (a)(5).
(2) A copy of the notification of the public meeting required by §60.57b(a)(1)(i1).

(3) A transcript of the public meeting required by §60.57b(a)(2).

(4) A copy of the document summarizing responses to public comments required by §60.57b(a)(3).

(b) The owner or operator of an affected facility with a capacity to combust greater than 250 tons
per day shall submit a notification of construction, which includes the information specified in
paragraphs (b)(1) through (b)(5) of this section.

(1) Intent to construct.

(2) Planned initial startup date.

(3) The types of fuels that the owner or operator plans to combust in the affected facility.

(4) The municipal waste combustor unit capacity, and supporting capacity calculations prepared in
accordance with §60.58b(j).

(5) Documents associated with the siting requirements under §60.57b (a) and (b), as specified in
paragraphs (b)(5)(i) through (b)(5)(v) of this section.

(i) The siting analysis required by §60.57b (b)(1) and (b)(2).

(ii) The final materials separation plan for the affected facility required by §60.57b(a)(10).

(iii) A copy of the notification of the public meeting required by §60.57b(b)(3)(ii).

(iv) A transcript of the public meeting required by §60.57b(b)(4).

(v) A copy of the document summarizing responses to public comments required by §60.57b (a)(9)

and (b)(5).

(c) The owner or operator of an air curtain incinerator subject to the opacity limit under §60.56b
shall provide a notification of construction that includes the information specified in paragraphs
(b)(1) through (b)(4) of this section.

(d) The owner or operator of an affected facility subject to the standards under §§60.52b, 60.53b,
60.54b, 60.55b, and 60.57b shall maintain records of the information specified in paragraphs (d)(1)
through (d)(15) of this section, as applicable, for each affected facility for a period of at least 5 years.

(1) The calendar date of each record.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-39



(2) The emission concentrations and parameters measured using continuous monitoring systems as
specified under paragraphs (d)(2)(i) and (d)(2)(ii) of this section.

(i) The measurements specified in paragraphs (d)(2)(i)(A) through (d)(2)(i)(F) of this section shall
be recorded and be available for submittal to the Administrator or review on site by an EPA or
State inspector.

(A) All 6-minute average opacity levels as specified under §60.58b(c).
(B) All 1-hour average sulfur dioxide emission concentrations as specified under §60.58b(e).
(C) All 1-hour average nitrogen oxides emission concentrations as specified under §60.58b(h).

(D) All 1-hour average carbon monoxide emission concentrations, municipal waste combustor unit
load measurements, and particulate matter control device inlet temperatures as specified under
§60.58b(i).

(E) For owners and operators who elect to continuously monitor particulate matter, cadmium, lead,
mercury, or hydrogen chloride emissions instead of conducting performance testing using EPA
manual test methods, all 1-hour average particulate matter, cadmium, lead, mercury, or hydrogen
chloride emission concentrations as specified under §60.58b(n).

(ii) The average concentrations and percent reductions, as applicable, specified in paragraphs
(dD()(i1)(A) through (d)(2)(ii)(F) of this section shall be computed and recorded, and shall be
available for submittal to the Administrator or review on-site by an EPA or State inspector.

(A) All 24-hour daily geometric average sulfur dioxide emission concentrations and all 24-hour daily
geometric average percent reductions in sulfur dioxide emissions as specified under §60.58b(e).

(B) All 24-hour daily arithmetic average nitrogen oxides emission concentrations as specified
under §60.58b(h).

(C) All 4-hour block or 24-hour daily arithmetic average carbon monoxide emission
concentrations, as applicable, as specified under §60.58b(1).

(D) All 4-hour block arithmetic average municipal waste combustor unit load levels and particulate
matter control device inlet temperatures as specified under §60.58b(i).

(E) For owners and operators who elect to continuously monitor particulate matter, cadmium, lead,
mercury, or hydrogen chloride emissions instead of conducting performance testing using EPA
manual test methods, all 24-hour daily arithmetic average particulate matter, cadmium, lead,
mercury, or hydrogen chloride emission concentrations as specified under §60.58b(n).

(F) For owners and operators who elect to use a continuous automated sampling system to monitor
mercury or dioxin/furan instead of conducting performance testing using EPA manual test
methods, all integrated 24-hour mercury concentrations or all integrated 2-week dioxin/furan
concentrations as specified under §60.586(p).

(3) Identification of the calendar dates when any of the average emission concentrations, percent
reductions, or operating parameters recorded under paragraphs (d)(2)(ii)(A) through (d)(2)(ii)(F) of
this section, or the opacity levels recorded under paragraph (d)(2)(i)(A) of this section are above the
applicable limits, with reasons for such exceedances and a description of corrective actions taken.

(4) For affected facilities that apply activated carbon for mercury or dioxin/furan control, the
records specified in paragraphs (d)(4)(i) through (d)(4)(v) of this section.

(i) The average carbon mass feed rate (in kilograms per hour or pounds per hour) estimated as required
under §60.58b(m)(1)(i) of this section during the initial mercury performance test and all subsequent
annual performance tests, with supporting calculations.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-40



(ii) The average carbon mass feed rate (in kilograms per hour or pounds per hour) estimated as
required under §60.58b(m)(1)(ii) of this section during the initial dioxin/furan performance test and all
subsequent annual performance tests, with supporting calculations.

(ii1) The average carbon mass feed rate (in kilograms per hour or pounds per hour) estimated for each
hour of operation as required under §60.58b(m)(3)(ii) of this section, with supporting calculations.
(iv) The total carbon usage for each calendar quarter estimated as specified by paragraph 60.58b(m)(3)
of this section, with supporting calculations. '

(v) Carbon injection system operating parameter data for the parameter(s) that are the primary
indicator(s) of carbon feed rate (e.g., screw feeder speed).

(5) [Reserved]

(6) Identification of the calendar dates and times (hours) for which valid hourly data specified in
paragraphs (d)(6)(i) through (d)(6)(vi) of this section have not been obtained, or continuous
automated sampling systems were not operated as specified in paragraph (d)(6)(vii) of this section,
including reasons for not obtaining the data and a description of corrective actions taken.

(1) Sulfur dioxide emissions data;

(ii) Nitrogen oxides emissions data;

(1i1) Carbon monoxide emissions data;

(iv) Municipal waste combustor unit load data;

(v) Particulate matter control device temperature data; and

(vi) For owners and operators who elect to continuously monitor particulate matter, cadmium, lead,
mercury, or hydrogen chloride emissions instead of performance testing by EPA manual test methods
particulate matter, cadmium, lead, mercury, or hydrogen chloride emissions data.

(vii) For owners and operators who elect to use continuous automated sampling systems for
dioxins/furans or mercury as allowed under “60.58b(p) and (q), dates and times when the sampling
systems were not operating or were not collecting a valid sample.

3

(7) Identification of each occurrence that sulfur dioxide emissions data, nitrogen oxides emissions
data, particulate matter emissions data, cadmium emissions data, lead emissions data, mercury
emissions data, hydrogen chloride emissions data, or dioxin/furan emissions data (for owners and
operators who elect to continuously monitor particulate matter, cadmium, lead, mercury, or
hydrogen chloride, or who elect to use continuous automated sampling systems for dioxin/furan or
mercury emissions, instead of conducting performance testing using EPA manual test methods) or
operational data (i.e., carbon monoxide emissions, unit load, and particulate matter control device
temperature) have been excluded from the calculation of average emission concentrations or
parameters, and the reasons for excluding the data.

(8) The results of daily drift tests and quarterly accuracy determinations for sulfur dioxide,
nitrogen oxides, and carbon monoxide continuous emission monitoring systems, as required under
appendix F of this part, procedure 1.

(9) The test reports documenting the results of the initial performance test and all annual

performance tests listed in paragraphs (d)(9)(i) and (d)(9)(ii) of this section shall be recorded along
with supporting calculations.

(1) The results of the initial performance test and all annual performance tests conducted to determine
compliance with the particulate matter, opacity, cadmium, lead, mercury, dioxins/furans, hydrogen
chloride, and fugitive ash emission limits.

(i1) For the initial dioxin/furan performance test and all subsequent dioxin/furan performance tests
recorded under paragraph (d)(9)(i) of this section, the maximum demonstrated municipal waste
combustor unit load and maximum demonstrated particulate matter control device temperature (for
each particulate matter control device).

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-41



(10) An owner or operator who elects to continuously monitor emissions instead of performance
testing by EPA manual methods must maintain records specified in paragraphs (10)(i) through (iii) of
this section.

(i) For owners and operators who elect to continuously monitor particulate matter instead of
conducting performance testing using EPA manual test methods), as required under appendix F of this
part, procedure 2, the results of daily drift tests and quarterly accuracy determinations for particulate
matter.

(ii) For owners and operators who elect to continuously monitor cadmium, lead, mercury, or hydrogen
chloride instead of conducting EPA manual test methods, the results of all quality evaluations, such as
daily drift tests and periodic accuracy determinations, specified in the approved site-specific
performance evaluation test plan required by §60.58b(0)(5).

(iii) For owners and operators who elect to use continuous automated sampling systems for
dioxin/furan or mercury, the results of all quality evaluations specified in the approved site-specific
performance evaluation test plan required by §60.58b(q)(5).

(11) For each affected facility subject to the siting provisions under §60.57b, the siting analysis,
the final materials separation plan, a record of the location and date of the public meetings, and the
documentation of the responses to public comments received at the public meetings.

(12) The records specified in paragraphs (d)(12)(i) through (d)(12)(iv) of this section.

(i) Records showing the names of the municipal waste combustor chief facility operator, shift
supervisors, and control room operators who have been provisionally certified by the American
Society of Mechanical Engineers or an equivalent State-approved certification program as required by
§60.54b(a) including the dates of initial and renewal certifications and documentation of current
certification.

(ii) Records showing the names of the municipal waste combustor chief facility operator, shift
supervisors, and control room operators who have been fully certified by the American Society of
Mechanical Engineers or an equivalent State-approved certification program as required by §60.54b(b)
including the dates of initial and renewal certifications and documentation of current certification.

(iii) Records showing the names of the municipal waste combustor chief facility operator, shift
supervisors, and control room operators who have completed the EPA municipal waste combustor
operator training course or a State-approved equivalent course as required by §60.54b(d) including
documentation of training completion.

(iv) Records of when a certified operator is temporarily off site. Include two main items:

(A) If the certified chief facility operator and certified shift supervisor are off site for more than 12
hours, but for 2 weeks or less, and no other certified operator is on site, record the dates that the
certified chief facility operator and certified shift supervisor were off site.

(B) When all certified chief facility operators and certified shift supervisors are off site for more
than 2 weeks and no other certified operator is on site, keep records of four items:

(1) Time of day that all certified persons are off site.
(2) The conditions that cause those people to be off site.

(3) The corrective actions taken by the owner or operator of the affected facility to ensure a
certified chief facility operator or certified shift supervisor is on site as soon as practicable.

(4) Copies of the written reports submitted every 4 weeks that summarize the actions taken by the
owner or operator of the affected facility to ensure that a certified chief facility operator or
certified shift supervisor will be on site as soon as practicable.

(13) Records showing the names of persons who have completed a review of the operating manual as
required by §60.54b(f) including the date of the initial review and subsequent annual reviews.
NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-42



(14) For affected facilities that apply activated carbon, identification of the calendar dates when the
average carbon mass feed rates recorded under paragraph (d)(4)(iii) of this section were less than
either of the hourly carbon feed rates estimated during performance tests for mercury emissions
and recorded under paragraphs (d)(4)(1) and (d)(4)(ii) of this section, respectively, with reasons for
such feed rates and a description of corrective actions taken. For affected facilities that apply
activated carbon, identification of the calendar dates when the average carbon mass feed rates
recorded under paragraph (d)(4)(iii) of this section were less than either of the hourly carbon feed
rates estimated during performance tests for dioxin/furan emissions and recorded under paragraphs
(d)(4)(i) and (d)(4)(ii) of this section, respectively, with reasons for such feed rates and a
description of corrective actions taken.

(15) For affected facilities that apply activated carbon for mercury or dioxin/furan control,
identification of the calendar dates when the carbon injection system operating parameter(s) that
are the primary indicator(s) of carbon mass feed rate (e.g., screw feeder speed) recorded under
paragraph (d)(4)(v) of this section are below the level(s) estimated during the performance tests as
specified in §60.58b(m)(1)(i) and §60.58b(m)(1)(ii) of this section, with reasons for such
occurrences and a description of corrective actions taken.

(e) The owner or operator of an air curtain incinerator subject to the opacity limit under §60.56b
shall maintain records of results of the initial opacity performance test and subsequent performance
tests required by §60.58b(]) for a period of at least 5 years.

(f) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall submit the information specified in
paragraphs (f)(1) through (f)(6) of this section in the initial performance test report.

(1) The initial performance test data as recorded under paragraphs (d)(2)(ii)(A) through
(d)(2)(1ii)(D) of this section for the initial performance test for sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides,
carbon monoxide, municipal waste combustor unit load level, and particulate matter control device
inlet temperature.

(2) The test report documenting the initial performance test recorded under paragraph (d)(9) of this
section for particulate matter, opacity, cadmium, lead, mercury, dioxins/furans, hydrogen chloride,
and fugitive ash emissions.

(3) The performance evaluation of the continuous emission monitoring system using the applicable
performance specifications in appendix B of this part.

(4) The maximum demonstrated municipal waste combustor unit load and maximum demonstrated
particulate matter control device inlet temperature(s) established during the initial dioxin/furan
performance test as recorded under paragraph (d)(9) of this section.

(5) For affected facilities that apply activated carbon injection for mercury control, the owner or operator
shall submit the average carbon mass feed rate recorded under paragraph (d)(4)(i) of this section.

(6) For those affected facilities that apply activated carbon injection for dioxin/furan control, the
owner or operator shall submit the average carbon mass feed rate recorded under paragraph
(d)(4)(ii) of this section.

(g) Following the first year of municipal waste combustor operation, the owner or operator of an
affected facility shall submit an annual report that includes the information specified in paragraphs
(g)(1) through (g)(5) of this section, as applicable, no later than February 1 of each year following
the calendar year in which the data were collected (once the unit is subject to permitting
requirements under title V of the Act, the owner or operator of an affected facility must submit
these reports semiannually).

(1) A summary of data collected for all pollutants and parameters regulated under this subpart,
which includes the information specified in paragraphs (g)(1)(i) through (g)(1)(v) of this section.
NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-43



(i) A list of the particulate matter, opacity, cadmium, lead, mercury, dioxins/furans, hydrogen chloride,
and fugitive ash emission levels achieved during the performance tests recorded under paragraph
(d)(9) of this section.

(ii) A list of the highest emission level recorded for sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, carbon monoxide,
particulate matter, cadmium, lead, mercury, hydrogen chloride, and dioxin/furan (for owners and
operators who elect to continuously monitor particulate matter, cadmium, lead, mercury, hydrogen
chloride, and dioxin/furan emissions instead of conducting performance testing using EPA manual test
methods), municipal waste combustor unit load level, and particulate matter control device inlet
temperature based on the data recorded under paragraphs (d)(2)(ii)(A) through (d)(2)(ii)(E) of this
section.

(iii) List the highest opacity level measured, based on the data recorded under paragraph (d)(2)(i)(A)
of this section.

(iv) Periods when valid data were not obtained as described in paragraphs (g)(1)(iv)(A) through
(2)(H(EV)(C) of this section.

(A) The total number of hours per calendar quarter and hours per calendar year that valid data for
sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, carbon monoxide, municipal waste combustor unit load, or
particulate matter control device temperature data were not obtained based on the data recorded
under paragraph (d)(6) of this section.

(B) For owners and operators who elect to continuously monitor particulate matter, cadmium, lead,
mercury, and hydrogen chloride emissions instead of conducting performance testing using EPA
manual test methods, the total number of hours per calendar quarter and hours per calendar year
that valid data for particulate matter, cadmium, lead, mercury, and hydrogen chloride were not
obtained based on the data recorded under paragraph (d)(6) of this section. For each continuously
monitored pollutant or parameter, the hours of valid emissions data per calendar quarter and per
calendar year expressed as a percent of the hours per calendar quarter or year that the affected
facility was operating and combusting municipal solid waste.

(C) For owners and operators who elect to use continuous automated sampling systems for
dioxin/furan or mercury, the total number of hours per calendar quarter and hours per calendar
year that the sampling systems were not operating or were not collecting a valid sample based on
the data recorded under paragraph (d)(6)(vii) of this section. Also, the number of hours during
which the continuous automated sampling system was operating and collecting a valid sample as a
percent of hours per calendar quarter or year that the affected facility was operating and
combusting municipal solid waste.

(v) Periods when valid data were excluded from the calculation of average emission concentrations or
parameters as described in paragraphs (g)(1)(v)(A) through (g)(1)(v)(C) of this section.

(A) The total number of hours that data for sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, carbon monoxide,
municipal waste combustor unit load, and particulate matter control device temperature were
excluded from the calculation of average emission concentrations or parameters based on the data
recorded under paragraph (d)(7) of this section.

(B) For owners and operators who elect to continuously monitor particulate matter, cadmium, lead,
mercury, or hydrogen chloride emissions instead of conducting performance testing using EPA
manual test methods, the total number of hours that data for particulate matter, cadmium, lead,
mercury, or hydrogen chloride were excluded from the calculation of average emission
concentrations or parameters based on the data recorded under paragraph (d)(7) of this section.

(C) For owners and operators who elect to use continuous automated sampling systems for
dioxin/furan or mercury, the total number of hours that data for mercury and dioxin/furan were

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-44



excluded from the calculation of average emission concentrations or parameters based on the data
recorded under paragraph (d)(7) of this section.

(2) The summary of data reported under paragraph (g)(1) of this section shall also provide the
types of data specified in paragraphs (g)(1)(i) through (g)(1)(vi) of this section for the calendar
year preceding the year being reported, in order to provide the Administrator with a summary of
the performance of the affected facility over a 2-year period.

(3) The summary of data including the information specified in paragraphs (g)(1) and (g)(2) of this
section shall highlight any emission or parameter levels that did not achieve the emission or
parameter limits specified under this subpart.

(4) A notification of intent to begin the reduced dioxin/furan performance testing schedule specified in
§60.58b(g)(5)(iii) of this section during the following calendar year and notification of intent to apply
the average carbon mass feed rate and associated carbon injection system operating parameter levels
as established in §60.58b(m) to similarly designed and equipped units on site.

(5) Documentation of periods when all certified chief facility operators and certified shift
supervisors are off site for more than 12 hours.

(h) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall submit a semiannual report that includes the
information specified in paragraphs (h)(1) through (h)(5) of this section for any recorded pollutant
or parameter that does not comply with the pollutant or parameter limit specified under this
subpart, according to the schedule specified under paragraph (h)(6) of this section.

(1) The semiannual report shall include information recorded under paragraph (d)(3) of this section
for sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, carbon monoxide, particulate matter, cadmium, lead, mercury,
hydrogen chloride, dioxin/furan (for owners and operators who elect to continuously monitor
particulate matter, cadmium, lead, mercury, or hydrogen chloride, or who elect to use continuous
automated sampling systems for dioxin/furan or mercury emissions, instead of conducting
performance testing using EPA manual test methods) municipal waste combustor unit load level,
particulate matter control device inlet temperature, and opacity.

(2) For each date recorded as required by paragraph (d)(3) of this section and reported as required
by paragraph (h)(1) of this section, the semiannual report shall include the sulfur dioxide, nitrogen
oxides, carbon monoxide, municipal waste combustor unit load level, particulate matter control
device inlet temperature, or opacity data, as applicable, recorded under paragraphs (d)(2)(ii)(A)
through (d)(2)(ii)(D) and (d)(2)(i)(A) of this section, as applicable.

(3) If the test reports recorded under paragraph (d)(9) of this section document any particulate
matter, opacity, cadmium, lead, mercury, dioxins/furans, hydrogen chloride, and fugitive ash
emission levels that were above the applicable pollutant limits, the semiannual report shall include
a copy of the test report documenting the emission levels and the corrective actions taken.

(4) The semiannual report shall include the information recorded under paragraph (d)(15) of this
section for the carbon injection system operating parameter(s) that are the primary indicator(s) of
carbon mass feed rate.

(5) For each operating date reported as required by paragraph (h)(4) of this section, the semiannual
report shall include the carbon feed rate data recorded under paragraph (d)(4)(iii) of this section.

(6) Semiannual reports required by paragraph (h) of this section shall be submitted according to the
schedule specified in paragraphs (h)(6)(i) and (h)(6)(ii) of this section.

(1) If the data reported in accordance with paragraphs (h)(1) through (h)(5) of this section were
collected during the first calendar half, then the report shall be submitted by August 1 following the
first calendar half.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-45



(i) If the data reported in accordance with paragraphs (h)(1) through (h)(5) of this section were
collected during the second calendar half, then the report shall be submitted by February 1 following
the second calendar half.

(iii) The owner or operator of an air curtain incinerator subject to the opacity limit under §60.56b shall
submit the results of the initial opacity performance test and all subsequent annual performance tests
recorded under paragraph (e) of this section. Annual performance tests shall be submitted by February
1 of the year following the year of the performance test.

() All reports specified under paragraphs (a), (b), (c), (), (g), (h), and (i) of this section shall be
submitted as a paper copy, postmarked on or before the submittal dates specified under these
paragraphs, and maintained onsite as a paper copy for a period of 5 years.

(k) All records specified under paragraphs (d) and (e) of this section shall be maintained onsite in
either paper copy or computer-readable format, unless an alternative format is approved by the
Administrator.

(1) If the owner or operator of an affected facility would prefer a different annual or semiannual
date for submitting the periodic reports required by paragraphs (g), (h) and (i) of this section, then
the dates may be changed by mutual agreement between the owner or operator and the
Administrator according to the procedures specified in §60.19(c) of subpart A of this part.

(m) Owners and operators who elect to continuously monitor particulate matter, cadmium, lead,
mercury, or hydrogen chloride, or who elect to use continuous automated sampling systems for
dioxin/furan or mercury emissions, instead of conducting performance testing using EPA manual
test methods must notify the Administrator one month prior to starting or stopping use of the
particulate matter, cadmium, lead, mercury, hydrogen chloride, and dioxin/furan continuous
emission monitoring systems or continuous automated sampling systems.

(n) Additional recordkeeping and reporting requirements for affected facilities with continuous
cadmium, lead, mercury, or hydrogen chloride monitoring systems. In addition to complying with
the requirements specified in paragraphs (a) through (m) of this section, the owner or operator of
an affected source who elects to install a continuous emission monitoring system for cadmium,
lead, mercury, or hydrogen chloride as specified in §60.58b(n), shall maintain the records in
paragraphs (n)(1) through (n)(10) of this section and report the information in paragraphs (n)(11)
through (n)(12) of this section, relevant to the continuous emission monitoring system:

(1) All required continuous emission monitoring measurements (including monitoring data

recorded during unavoidable continuous emission monitoring system breakdowns and out-of-
control periods);

(2) The date and time identifying each period during which the continuous emission monitoring
system was inoperative except for zero (low-level) and high-level checks;

(3) The date and time identifying each period during which the continuous emission monitoring
system was out of control, as defined in §60.58b(0)(4);

(4) The specific identification (i.e., the date and time of commencement and completion) of each
period of excess emissions and parameter monitoring exceedances, as defined in the standard, that
occurs during startups, shutdowns, and malfunctions of the affected source;

(5) The specific identification (i.e., the date and time of commencement and completion) of each
time period of excess emissions and parameter monitoring exceedances, as defined in the standard,
that occurs during periods other than startups, shutdowns, and malfunctions of the affected source;

(6) The nature and cause of any malfunction (if known);

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-46



(7) The corrective action taken to correct any malfunction or preventive measures adopted to
prevent further malfunctions;

(8) The nature of the repairs or adjustments to the continuous emission monitoring system that was
inoperative or out of control;

(9) All procedures that are part of a quality control program developed and implemented for the
continuous emission monitoring system under §60.58b(0);

(10) When more than one continuous emission monitoring system is used to measure the emissions
from one affected source (e.g., multiple breechings, multiple outlets), the owner or operator shall
report the results as required for each continuous emission monitoring system.

(11) Submit to EPA for approval, the site-specific monitoring plan required by §60.58b(n)(13) and
§60.58b(0), including the site-specific performance evaluation test plan for the continuous
emission monitoring system required by §60.58(b)(0)(5). The owner or operator shall maintain
copies of the site-specific monitoring plan on record for the life of the affected source to be made
available for inspection, upon request, by the Administrator. If the site-specific monitoring plan is
revised and approved, the owner or operator shall keep previous (i.e., superseded) versions of the
plan on record to be made available for inspection, upon request, by the Administrator, for a period
of 5 years after each revision to the plan.

(12) Submit information concerning all out-of-control periods for each continuous emission
monitoring system, including start and end dates and hours and descriptions of corrective actions
taken, in the annual or semiannual reports required in paragraphs (g) or (h) of this section.

(o) Additional recordkeeping and reporting requirements for affected facilities with continuous
automated sampling systems for dioxin/furan or mercury monitoring. In addition to complying
with the requirements specified in paragraphs (a) through (m) of this section, the owner or operator
of an affected source who elects to install a continuous automated sampling system for
dioxin/furan or mercury, as specified in §60.58b(p), shall maintain the records in paragraphs (0)(1)
through (0)(10) of this section and report the information in (0)(11) and (0)(12) of this section,
relevant to the continuous automated sampling system:

(1) All required 24-hour integrated mercury concentration or 2-week integrated dioxin/furan
concentration data (including any data obtained during unavoidable system breakdowns and out-
of-control periods);

(2) The date and time identifying each period during which the continuous automated sampling
system was inoperative;

(3) The date and time identifying each period during which the continuous automated sampling
system was out of control, as defined in §60.58b(q)(4);

(4) The specific identification (i.e., the date and time of commencement and completion) of each
period of excess emissions and parameter monitoring exceedances, as defined in the standard, that
occurs during startups, shutdowns, and malfunctions of the affected source;

(5) The specific identification (i.e., the date and time of commencement and completion) of each
time period of excess emissions and parameter monitoring exceedances, as defined in the standard,
that occurs during periods other than startups, shutdowns, and malfunctions of the affected source;

(6) The nature and cause of any malfunction (if known);

(7) The corrective action taken to correct any malfunction or preventive measures adopted to
prevent further malfunctions;

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-47



(8) The nature of the repairs or adjustments to the continuous automated sampling system that was
inoperative or out of control,

(9) All procedures that are part of a quality control program developed and implemented for the
continuous automated sampling system under §60.58b(q);

(10) When more than one continuous automated sampling system is used to measure the emissions
from one affected source (e.g., multiple breechings, multiple outlets), the owner or operator shall
report the results as required for each system.

(11) Submit to EPA for approval, the site-specific monitoring plan required by §60.58b(p)(11) and
§60.58b(q) including the site-specific performance evaluation test plan for the continuous emission
monitoring system required by §60.58(b)(q)(5). The owner or operator shall maintain copies of the
site-specific monitoring plan on record for the life of the affected source to be made available for
inspection, upon request, by the Administrator. If the site-specific monitoring plan is revised and
approved, the owner or operator shall keep previous (i.e., superseded) versions of the plan on
record to be made available for inspection, upon request, by the Administrator, for a period of 5
years after each revision to the plan.

(12) Submit information concerning all out-of-control periods for each continuous automated
sampling system, including start and end dates and hours and descriptions of corrective actions
taken in the annual or semiannual reports required in paragraphs (g) or (h) of this section.

[60 FR 65419, Dec. 19, 1995, as amended at 62 FR 45121, 45127, Aug. 25, 1997; 71 FR 27345,
May 10, 2006]

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-48



Subpart Ec—Standards of Performance for Hospital/Medical/Infectious Waste Incinerators
for Which Construction is Commenced After June 20, 1996

Electronic Code of Federal Regulations (e-CFR), e-CFR Data is current as of February 5, 2007,
Title 40: Protection of Environment, Part 60—Standards Of Performance For New Stationary
Sources

Source: 62 FR 48382, Sept. 15, 1997, unless otherwise noted.
§ 60.50c Applicability and delegation of authority.

(a) Except as provided in paragraphs (b) through (h) of this section, the affected facility to which
this subpart applies is each individual hospital/medical/infectious waste incinerator (HMIWT) for
which construction is commenced after June 20, 1996 or for which modification is commenced
after March 16, 1998.

(b) A combustor is not subject to this subpart during periods when only pathological waste, low-
level radioactive waste, and/or chemotherapeutic waste (all defined in §60.51c) is burned, provided
the owner or operator of the combustor:

(1) Notifies the Administrator of an exemption claim; and

(2) Keeps records on a calendar quarter basis of the periods of time when only pathological waste,
low-level radioactivewaste and/or chemotherapeutic waste is burned.

(c) Any co-fired combustor (defined in §60.51c¢) is not subject to this subpart if the owner or
operator of the co-fired combustor:

(1) Notifies the Administrator of an exemption claim,;

(2) Provides an estimate of the relative amounts of hospital waste, medical/infectious waste, and
other fuels and wastes to be combusted; and

(3) Keeps records on a calendar quarter basis of the weight of hospital waste and
medical/infectious waste combusted, and the weight of all other fuels and wastes combusted at the
co-fired combustor.

(d) Any combustor required to have a permit under section 3005 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act
is not subject to this subpart.

(e) Any combustor which meets the applicability requirements under subpart Cb, Ea, or Eb of this part
(standards or guidelines for certain municipal waste combustors) is not subject to this subpart.

() Any pyrolysis unit (defined in §60.51c¢) is not subject to this subpart.
(g) Cement Kilns firing hospital waste and/or medical/infectious waste are not subject to this subpart.

(h) Physical or operational changes made to an existing HMIWI solely for the purpose of
complying with emission guidelines under subpart Ce are not considered a modification and do not
result in an existing HMIWI becoming subject to this subpart.

(1) In delegating implementation and enforcement authority to a State under section 111(c) of the
Clean Air Act, the following authorities shall be retained by the Administrator and not transferred
to a State:

(1) The requirements of §60.56¢(i) establishing operating parameters when using controls other
than those listed in §60.56¢(d).

(2) Alternative methods of demonstrating compliance under §60.8.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-49



(j) Affected facilities subject to this subpart are not subject to the requirements of 40 CFR part 64.
(k) The requirements of this subpart shall become effective March 16, 1998

(1) Beginning September 15, 2000, or on the effective date of an EPA-approved operating permit
program under Clean Air Act title V and the implementing regulations under 40 CFR part 70 in the
State in which the unit is located, whichever date is later, affected facilities subject to this subpart
shall operate pursuant to a permit issued under the EPA approved State operating permit program.

§ 60.51c Definitions.

Batch HMIWI means an HMIWI that is designed such that neither waste charging nor ash removal
can occur during combustion.

Biologicals means preparations made from living organisms and their products, including
vaccines, cultures, etc., intended for use in diagnosing, immunizing, or treating humans or animals
or in research pertaining thereto.

Blood products means any product derived from human blood, including but not limited to blood
plasma, platelets, red or white blood corpuscles, and other derived licensed products, such as
interferon, etc.

Body fluids means liquid emanating or derived from humans and limited to blood; dialysate;
amniotic, cerebrospinal, synovial, pleural, peritoneal and pericardial fluids; and semen and vaginal
secretions.

Bypass stack means a device used for discharging combustion gases to avoid severe damage to the
air pollution control device or other equipment.

Chemotherapeutic waste means waste material resulting from the production or use of
antineoplastic agents used for the purpose of stopping or reversing the growth of malignant cells.

Co-fired combustor means a unit combusting hospital waste and/or medical/infectious waste with
other fuels or wastes (e.g., coal, municipal solid waste) and subject to an enforceable requirement
limiting the unit to combusting a fuel feed stream, 10 percent or less of the weight of which is
comprised, in aggregate, of hospital waste and medical/infectious waste as measured on a calendar
quarter basis. For purposes of this definition, pathological waste, chemotherapeutic waste, and
low-level radioactive waste are considered “other” wastes when calculating the percentage of
hospital waste and medical/infectious waste combusted.

Continuous emission monitoring system or CEMS means a monitoring system for continuously
measuring and recording the emissions of a pollutant from an affected facility.

Continuous HMIWI means an HMIWI that is designed to allow waste charging and ash removal
during combustion.

Dioxins/furans means the combined emissions of tetra-through octa-chlorinated dibenzo-para-
dioxins and dibenzofurans, as measured by EPA Reference Method 23.

Dry scrubber means an add-on air pollution control system that injects dry alkaline sorbent (dry
injection) or sprays an alkaline sorbent (spray dryer) to react with and neutralize acid gases in the
HMIWI exhaust stream forming a dry powder material.

Fabric filter or baghouse means an add-on air pollution control system that removes particulate
matter (PM) and nonvaporous metals emissions by passing flue gas through filter bags.

Facilities manager means the individual in charge of purchasing, maintaining, and operating the
HMIWI or the owner's or operator's representative responsible for the management of the HMIWI.
Altemative titles may include director of facilities or vice president of support services.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-50



High-air phase means the stage of the batch operating cycle when the primary chamber reaches
and maintains maximum operating temperatures.

Hospital means any facility which has an organized medical staff, maintains at least six inpatient
beds, and where the primary function of the institution is to provide diagnostic and therapeutic
patient services and continuous nursing care primarily to human inpatients who are not related and
who stay on average in excess of 24 hours per admission. This definition does not include facilities
maintained for the sole purpose of providing nursing or convalescent care to human patients who
generally are not acutely ill but who require continuing medical supervision.

Hospital/medical/infectious waste incinerator or HMIWI or HMIWI unit means any device that
combusts any amount of hospital waste and/or medical/infectious waste.

Hospital/medical/infectious waste incinerator operator or HMIWI operator means any person who
operates, controls or supervises the day-to-day operation of an HMIWI.

Hospital waste means discards generated at a hospital, except unused items returned to the
manufacturer. The definition of hospital waste does not include human corpses, remains, and
anatomical parts that are intended for interment or cremation.

Infectious agent means any organism (such as a virus or bacteria) that is capable of being
communicated by invasion and multiplication in body tissues and capable of causing disease or
adverse health impacts in humans.

Intermittent HMIWI means an HMIWI that is designed to allow waste charging, but not ash
removal, during combustion.

Large HMIWI means:
(1) Except as provided in (2);

(i) An HMIWT whose maximum design waste burning capacity is more than 500 pounds per hour; or
(i) A continuous or intermittent HMIWI whose maximum charge rate is more than 500 pounds per
hour; or

(iii) A batch HMIWI whose maximum charge rate is more than 4,000 pounds per day.

(2) The following are not large HMIWTI:

(1) A continuous or intermittent HMIWI whose maximum charge rate is less than or equal to 500
pounds per hour; or

(i) A batch HMIWT whose maximum charge rate is less than or equal to 4,000 pounds per day.
Low-level radioactive waste means waste material which contains radioactive nuclides emitting
primarily beta or gamma radiation, or both, in concentrations or quantities that exceed applicable
federal or State standards for unrestricted release. Low-level radioactive waste is not high-level
radioactive waste, spent nuclear fuel, or by-product material as defined by the Atomic Energy Act
of 1954 (42 U.S.C. 2014(e)(2)).

Malfunction means any sudden, infrequent, and not reasonably preventable failure of air pollution
control equipment, process equipment, or a process to operate in a normal or usual manner.
Failures that are caused, in part, by poor maintenance or careless operation are not malfunctions.
During periods of malfunction the operator shall operate within established parameters as much as
possible, and monitoring of all applicable operating parameters shall continue until all waste has
been combusted or until the malfunction ceases, whichever comes first.

Maximum charge rate means:

(1) For continuous and intermittent HMIWTI, 110 percent of the lowest 3-hour average charge rate
measured during the most recent performance test demonstrating compliance with all applicable
emission limits.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-51



(2) For batch HMIWI, 110 percent of the lowest daily charge rate measured during the most recent
performance test demonstrating compliance with all applicable emission limits.

Maximum design waste burning capacity means:

(1) For intermittent and continuous HMIWI,

C=Pv x 15,000/8,500

Where:

C=HMIWI capacity, Ib/hr

Py=primary chamber volume, ft )

15,000=primary chamber heat release rate factor, Btw/ft 3 /hr
8,500=standard waste heating value, Btu/lb;

(2) For batch HMIWI,

C=Py x 4.5/8

Where:

C=HMIWI capacity, Ib/hr

Py=primary chamber volume, ft 3

4.5=waste density, 1b/ft >

8=typical hours of operation of a batch HMIWI, hours.

Maximum fabric filter inlet temperature means 110 percent of the lowest 3-hour average temperature
at the inlet to the fabric filter (taken, at a minimum, once every minute) measured during the most
recent performance test demonstrating compliance with the dioxin/furan emission limit.

Maximum flue gas temperature means 110 percent of the lowest 3-hour average temperature at the
outlet from the wet scrubber (taken, at a minimum, once every minute) measured during the most
recent performance test demonstrating compliance with the mercury (Hg) emission limit.

Medical/infectious waste means any waste generated in the diagnosis, treatment, or immunization
of human beings or animals, in research pertaining thereto, or in the production or testing of
biologicals that is listed in paragraphs (1) through (7) of this definition. The definition of
medical/infectious waste does not include hazardous waste identified or listed under the
regulations in part 261 of this chapter; household waste, as defined in §261.4(b)(1) of this chapter;
ash from incineration of medical/infectious waste, once the incineration process has been
completed; human corpses, remains, and anatomical parts that are intended for interment mation;
and domestic sewage materials identified in §261.4(a)(1) of this chapter.

(1) Cultures and stocks of infectious agents and associated biologicals, including: cultures from
medical and pathological laboratories; cultures and stocks of infectious agents from research and
industrial laboratories; wastes from the production of biologicals; discarded live and attenuated
vaccines; and culture dishes and devices used to transfer, inoculate, and mix cultures.

(2) Human pathological waste, including tissues, organs, and body parts and body fluids that are
removed during surgery or autopsy, or other medical procedures, and specimens of body fluids and
their containers.

(3) Human blood and blood products including:

(i) Liquid waste human blood;
(ii) Products of blood;
(iii) Items saturated and/or dripping with human blood; or

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-52



(iv) Items that were saturated and/or dripping with human blood that are now caked with dried
human blood; including serum, plasma, and other blood components, and their containers, which
were used or intended for use in either patient care, testing and laboratory analysis or the
development of pharmaceuticals. Intravenous bags are also include in this category.

(4) Sharps that have been used in animal or human patient care or treatment or in medical,
research, or industrial laboratories, including hypodermic needles, syringes (with or without the
attached needle), pasteur pipettes, scalpel blades, blood vials, needles with attached tubing, and
culture dishes (regardless of presence of infectious agents). Also included are other types of broken
or unbroken glassware that were in contact with infectious agents, such as used slides and cover
slips.

(5) Animal waste including contaminated animal carcasses, body parts, and bedding of animals
that were known to have been exposed to infectious agents during research (including research in
veterinary hospitals), production of biologicals or testing of pharmaceuticals.

(6) Isolation wastes including biological waste and discarded materials contaminated with blood,
excretions, exudates, or secretions from humans who are isolated to protect others from certain
highly communicable diseases, or isolated animals known to be infected with highly
communicable diseases.

(7) Unused sharps including the following unused, discarded sharps: hypodermic needles, suture
needles, syringes, and scalpel blades.

Medium HMIWI means:
(1) Except as provided in paragraph (2);

(1) An HMIWI whose maximum design waste burning capacity is more than 200 pounds per hour
but less than or equal to 500 pounds per hour; or

(ii) A continuous or intermittent HMIWI whose maximum charge rate is more than 200 pounds per
hour but less than or equal to 500 pounds per hour; or

(iii) A batch HMIWI whose maximum charge rate is more than 1,600 pounds per day but less than
or equal to 4,000 pounds per day.

(2) The following are not medium HMIWT:

(i) A continuous or intermittent HMIWI whose maximum charge rate is less than or equal to 200
pounds per hour or more than 500 pounds per hour; or

(ii) A batch HMIWI whose maximum charge rate is more than 4,000 pounds per day or less than
or equal to 1,600 pounds per day.

Minimum dioxin/furan sorbent flow rate means 90 percent of the highest 3-hour average
dioxin/furan sorbent flow rate (taken, at a minimum, once every hour) measured during the most
recent performance test demonstrating compliance with the dioxin/furan emission limit.

Minimum Hg sorbent flow rate means 90 percent of the highest 3-hour average Hg sorbent flow
rate (taken, at a minimum, once every hour) measured during the most recent performance test
demonstrating compliance with the Hg emission limit.

Minimum hydrogen chloride (HCI) sorbent flow rate means 90 percent of the highest 3-hour
average HCI sorbent flow rate (taken, at a minimum, once every hour) measured during the most
recent performance test demonstrating compliance with the HCI emission limit.

Minimum horsepower or amperage means 90 percent of the highest 3-hour average horsepower or
amperage to the wet scrubber (taken, at a minimum, once every minute) measured during the most
recent performance test demonstrating compliance with the applicable emission limits.

Minimum pressure drop across the wet scrubber means 90 percent of the highest 3-hour average
pressure drop across the wet scrubber PM control device (taken, at a minimum, once every minute)

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-53



measured during the most recent performance test demonstrating compliance with the PM
emission limit.

Minimum scrubber liquor flow rate means 90 percent of the highest 3-hour average liquor flow
rate at the inlet to the wet scrubber (taken, at a minimum, once every minute) measured during the
most recent performance test demonstrating compliance with all applicable emission limits.
Minimum scrubber liquor pH means 90 percent of the highest 3-hour average liquor pH at the inlet
to the wet scrubber (taken, at a minimum, once every minute) measured during the most recent
performance test demonstrating compliance with the HC1 emission limit.

Minimum secondary chamber temperature means 90 percent of the highest 3-hour average
secondary chamber temperature (taken, at a minimum, once every minute) measured during the
most recent performance test demonstrating compliance with the PM, CO, or dioxin/furan
emission limits.

Modification or Modified HMIWI means any change to an HMIWI unit after the effective date of
these standards such that:

(1) The cumulative costs of the modifications, over the life of the unit, exceed 50 per centum of the
original cost of the construction and installation of the unit (not including the cost of any land
purchased in connection with such construction or installation) updated to current costs, or

(2) The change involves a physical change in or change in the method of operation of the unit
which increases the amount of any air pollutant emitted by the unit for which standards have been
established under section 129 or section 111.

Operating day means a 24-hour period between 12:00 midnight and the following midnight during

which any amount of hospital waste or medical/infectious waste is combusted at any time in the
HMIWI.

Operation means the period during which waste is combusted in the incinerator excluding periods
of startup or shutdown.

Particulate matter or PM means the total particulate matter emitted from an HMIWI as measured
by EPA Reference Method 5 or EPA Reference Method 29.

Pathological waste means waste material consisting of only human or animal remains, anatomical
parts, and/or tissue, the bags/containers used to collect and transport the waste material, and animal
bedding (if applicable).

Primary chamber means the chamber in an HMIWI that receives waste material, in which the
waste is ignited, and from which ash is removed.

Pyrolysis means the endothermic gasification of hospital waste and/or medical/infectious waste
using external energy.

Secondary chamber means a component of the HMIWTI that receives combustion gases from the
primary chamber and in which the combustion process is completed.

Shutdown means the period of time after all waste has been combusted in the primary chamber.
For continuous HMIW]I, shutdown shall commence no less than 2 hours after the last charge to the
incinerator. For intermittent HMIW], shutdown shall commence no less than 4 hours after the last
charge to the incinerator. For batch HMIWI, shutdown shall commence no less than 5 hours after
the high-air phase of combustion has been completed.

Small HMIWI means:
(1) Except as provided in (2);

(1) An HMIWI whose maximum design waste burning capacity is less than or equal to 200 pounds
per hour; or

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-54



(ii) A continuous or intermittent HMIWI whose maximum charge rate is less than or equal to 200
pounds per hour; or
(ii1) A batch HMIWI whose maximum charge rate is less than or equal to 1,600 pounds per day.

(2) The following are not small HMIWT:

(1) A continuous or intermittent HMIWI whose maximum charge rate is more than 200 pounds per
hour;

(ii) A batch HMIWI whose maximum charge rate is more than 1,600 pounds per day.

Standard conditions means a temperature of 20 °C and a pressure of 101.3 kilopascals.

Startup means the period of time between the activation of the system and the first charge to the
unit. For batch HMIWI, startup means the period of time between activation of the system and
ignition of the waste.

Wet scrubber means an add-on air pollution control device that utilizes an alkaline scrubbing
liquor to collect particulate matter (including nonvaporous metals and condensed organics) and/or
to absorb and neutralize acid gases.

§ 60.52c Emission limits.

(a) On and after the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be
completed under §60.8, whichever date comes first, no owner or operator of an affected facility
shall cause to be discharged into the atmosphere from that affected facility any gases that contain
stack emissions in excess of the limits presented in Table 1 of this subpart.

(b) On and after the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be
completed under §60.8, whichever date comes first, no owner or operator of an affected facility
shall cause to be discharged into the atmosphere from the stack of that affected facility any gases
that exhibit greater than 10 percent opacity (6-minute block average).

(c) On and after the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be
completed under §60.8, whichever date comes first, no owner or operator of an affected facility
utilizing a large HMIWI shall cause to be discharged into the atmosphere visible emissions of
combustion ash from an ash conveying system (including conveyor transfer points) in excess of 5
percent of the observation period (i.e., 9 minutes per 3-hour period), as determined by EPA
Reference Method 22, except as provided in paragraphs (d) and (e) of this section.

(d) The emission limit specified in paragraph (c) of this section does not cover visible emissions
discharged inside buildings or enclosures of ash conveying systems; however, the emission limit
does cover visible emissions discharged to the atmosphere from buildings or enclosures of ash
conveying systems.

(e) The provisions specified in paragraph (c) of this section do not apply during maintenance and
repair of ash conveying systems. Maintenance and/or repair shall not exceed 10 operating days per
calendar quarter unless the owner or operator obtains written approval from the State agency
establishing a date whereby all necessary maintenance and repairs of ash conveying systems shall
be completed.

§ 60.53¢  Operator training and qualification requirements.

(a) No owner or operator of an affected facility shall allow the affected facility to operate at any
time unless a fully trained and qualified HMIWI operator is accessible, either at the facility or
available within 1 hour. The trained and qualified HMIWI operator may operate the HMIWI
directly or be the direct supervisor of one or more HMIWI operators.

(b) Operator training and qualification shall be obtained through a State-approved program or by
completing the requirements included in paragraphs (c) through (g) of this section.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-55



(c) Training shall be obtained by completing an HMIWTI operator training course that includes, at a
minimum, the following provisions:

(1) 24 hours of training on the following subjects:

(i) Environmental concerns, including pathogen destruction and types of emissions;

(ii) Basic combustion principles, including products of combustion;

(iii) Operation of the type of incinerator to be used by the operator, including proper startup, waste
charging, and shutdown procedures;

(iv) Combustion controls and monitoring;

(v) Operation of air pollution control equipment and factors affecting performance (if applicable);
(vi) Methods to monitor pollutants (continuous emission monitoring systems and monitoring of
HMIWI and air pollution control device operating parameters) and equipment calibration
procedures (where applicable);

(vii) Inspection and maintenance of the HMIWI, air pollution control devices, and continuous
emission monitoring systems;

(viii) Actions to correct malfunctions or conditions that may lead to malfunction;

(ix) Bottom and fly ash characteristics and handling procedures;

(x) Applicable Federal, State, and local regulations;

(xi) Work safety procedures;

(xii) Pre-startup inspections; and

(xiii) Recordkeeping requirements.

(2) An examination designed and administered by the instructor.

(3) Reference material distributed to the attendees covering the course topics.

(d) Qualification shall be obtained by:

(1) Completion of a training course that satisfies the criteria under paragraph (c) of this section; and

(2) Either 6 months experience as an HMIWT operator, 6 months experience as a direct supervisor
of an HMIWI operator, or completion of at least two burn cycles under the observation of two
qualified HMIWI operators.

(¢) Qualification is valid from the date on which the examination is passed or the completion of the
required experience, whichever is later.

() To maintain qualification, the trained and qualified HMIWT operator shall complete and pass an
annual review or refresher course of at least 4 hours covering, at a minimum, the following:

(1) Update of regulations;

(2) Incinerator operation, including startup and shutdown procedures;

(3) Inspection and maintenance,

(4) Responses to malfunctions or conditions that may lead to malfunction; and
(5) Discussion of operating problems encountered by attendees.

(g) A lapsed qualification shall be renewed by one of the following methods:

(1) For a lapse of less than 3 years, the HMIWI operator shall complete and pass a standard annual
refresher course described in paragraph (f) of this section.

(2) For a lapse of 3 years or more, the HMIWI operator shall complete and pass a training course
with the minimum criteria described in paragraph (c) of this section.

(h) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall maintain documentation at the facility that
address the following:

(1) Summary of the applicable standards under this subpart;
NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-56



(2) Description of basic combustion theory applicable to an HMIWT;
(3) Procedures for receiving, handling, and charging waste;

(4) HMIWI startup, shutdown, and malfunction procedures;

(5) Procedures for maintaining proper combustion air supply levels;

(6) Procedures for operating the HMIWTI and associated air pollution control systems within the
standards established under this subpart;

(7) Procedures for responding to periodic malfunction or conditions that may lead to malfunction;
(8) Procedures for monitoring HMIWI emissions;

(9) Reporting and recordkeeping procedures; and

(10) Procedures for handling ash.

(1) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall establish a program for reviewing the
information listed in paragraph (h) of this section annually with each HMIWI operator (defined in
§60.51c).

(1) The initial review of the information listed in paragraph (h) of this section shall be conducted
within 6 months after the effective date of this subpart or prior to assumption of responsibilities
affecting HMIWI operation, whichever date is later.

(2) Subsequent reviews of the information listed in paragraph (h) of this section shall be conducted
annually.

() The information listed in paragraph (h) of this section shall be kept in a readily accessible
location for all HMIWTI operators. This information, along with records of training shall be
available for inspection by the EPA or its delegated enforcement agent upon request.

§ 60.54c Siting requirements.

(a) The owner or operator of an affected facility for which construction is commenced after
September 15, 1997 shall prepare an analysis of the impacts of the affected facility. The analysis
shall consider air pollution control alternatives that minimize, on a site-specific basis, to the
maximum extent practicable, potential risks to public health or the environment. In considering
such alternatives, the analysis may consider costs, energy impacts, non-air environmental impacts,
or any other factors related to the practicability of the alternatives.

(b) Analyses of facility impacts prepared to comply with State, local, or other Federal regulatory
requirements may be used to satisfy the requirements of this section, as long as they include the
consideration of air pollution control alternatives specified in paragraph (a) of this section.

(c) The owner or operator of the affected facility shall complete and submit the siting requirements
of this section as required under §60.58c(a)(1)(iii).

§ 60.55c Waste management plan.

The owner or operator of an affected facility shall prepare a waste management plan. The waste
management plan shall identify both the feasibility and the approach to separate certain
components of solid waste from the health care waste stream in order to reduce the amount of toxic
emissions from incinerated waste. A waste management plan may include, but is not limited to,
elements such as paper, cardboard, plastics, glass, battery, or metal recycling; or purchasing
recycled or recyclable products. A waste management plan may include different goals or
approaches for different areas or departments of the facility and need not include new waste
management goals for every waste stream. It should identify, where possible, reasonably available
additional waste management measures, taking into account the effectiveness of waste

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-57



management measures already in place, the costs of additional measures, the emission reductions
expected to be achieved, and any other environmental or energy impacts they might have. The
American Hospital Association publication entitled “An Ounce of Prevention: Waste Reduction
Strategies for Health Care Facilities” (incorporated by reference, see §60.17) shall be considered in
the development of the waste management plan.

§ 60.56c Compliance and performance testing.

() The emission limits under this subpart apply at all times except during periods of startup,
shutdown, or malfunction, provided that no hospital waste or medical/infectious waste is charged
to the affected facility during startup, shutdown, or malfunction.

(b) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall conduct an initial performance test as
required under §60.8 to determine compliance with the emission limits using the procedures and
test methods listed in paragraphs (b)(1) through (b)(12) of this section. The use of the bypass stack
during a performance test shall invalidate the performance test.

(1) All performance tests shall consist of a minimum of three test runs conducted under
representative operating conditions.

(2) The minimum sample time shall be 1 hour per test run unless otherwise indicated.

(3) EPA Reference Method 1 of appendix A of this part shall be used to select the sampling
location and number of traverse points.

(4) EPA Reference Method 3, 3A, or 3B of appendix A of this part shall be used for gas
composition analysis, including measurement of oxygen concentration. EPA Reference Method 3,
3A, or 3B of appendix A of this part shall be used simultaneously with each reference method.

(5) The pollutant concentrations shall be adjusted to 7 percent oxygen using the following equation:
Cagi=Cmeas (20.9-7)/(20.9-%0,)

where:

Cagi=pollutant concentration adjusted to 7 percent oxygen;

Cmeas=pollutant concentration measured on a dry basis (20.9-7)=20.9 percent oxygen—?7 percent
oxygen (defined oxygen correction basis);

20.9=oxygen concentration in air, percent; and

%Q,=oxygen concentration measured on a dry basis, percent.

(6) EPA Reference Method 5 or 29 of appendix A of this part shall be used to measure the
particulate matter emissions.

(7) EPA Reference Method 9 of appendix A of this part shall be used to measure stack opacity.

(8) EPA Reference Method 10 or 10B of appendix A of this part shall be used to measure the CO
emissions.

(9) EPA Reference Method 23 of appendix A of this part shall be used to measure total
dioxin/furan emissions. The minimum sample time shall be 4 hours per test run. If the affected
facility has selected the toxic equivalency standards for dioxin/furans, under §60.52c, the
following procedures shall be used to determine compliance:

(i) Measure the concentration of each dioxin/furan tetra-through octa-congener emitted using EPA
Reference Method 23.
(ii) For each dioxin/furan congener measured in accordance with paragraph (b)(9)(i) of this

section, multiply the congener concentration by its corresponding toxic equivalency factor
specified in Table 2 of this subpart.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-58



(iii) Sum the products calculated in accordance with paragraph (b)(9)(ii) of this section to obtain
the total concentration of dioxins/furans emitted in terms of toxic equivalency.

(10) EPA Reference Method 26 or 26A of appendix A of this part shall be used to measure HCI
emissions. If the affected facility has selected the percentage reduction standards for HCI1 under
§60.52c, the percentage reduction in HC] emissions (%Ruc1) is computed using the following
formula:

(%Rm)=(Ei;E"]xwo

Where:
%Ruci=percentage reduction of HCI emissions achieved;

E;=HCI1 emission concentration measured at the control device inlet, corrected to 7 percent oxygen
(dry basis); and

E,=HCI emission concentration measured at the control device outlet, corrected to 7 percent
oxygen (dry basis).
(11) EPA Reference Method 29 of appendix A of this part shall be used to measure Pb, Cd, and Hg

emissions. If the affected facility has selected the percentage reduction standards for metals under
§60.52c, the percentage reduction in emissions (%R metal) is computed using the following formula:

(%Rmm)=(gi;,g’]x100

Where:
%R meri=percentage reduction of metal emission (Pb, Cd, or Hg) achieved,

E;=metal emission concentration (Pb, Cd, or Hg) measured at the control device inlet, corrected to
7 percent oxygen (dry basis); and

E.,=metal emission concentration (Pb, Cd, or Hg) measured at the control device outlet, corrected
to 7 percent oxygen (dry basis).

(12) The EPA Reference Method 22 of appendix A of this part shall be used to determine
compliance with the fugitive ash emission limit under §60.52¢(c). The minimum observation time
shall be a series of three 1-hour observations.

(c) Following the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be
completed under §60.8, whichever date comes first, the owner or operator of an affected facility shall:

(1) Determine compliance with the opacity limit by conducting an annual performance test (no
more than 12 months following the previous performance test) using the applicable procedures and
test methods listed in paragraph (b) of this section.

(2) Determine compliance with the PM, CO, and HCI emission limits by conducting an annual
performance test (no more than 12 months following the previous performance test) using the
applicable procedures and test methods listed in paragraph (b) of this section. If all three
performance tests over a 3-year period indicate compliance with the emission limit for a pollutant
(PM, CO, or HCI), the owner or operator may forego a performance test for that pollutant for the
subsequent 2 years. At a minimum, a performance test for PM, CO, and HCl shall be conducted
every third year (no more than 36 months following the previous performance test). If a
performance test conducted every third year indicates compliance with the emission limit for a
pollutant (PM, CO, or HCI), the owner or operator may forego a performance test for that pollutant
for an additional 2 years. If any performance test indicates noncompliance with the respective

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-59



emission limit, a performance test for that pollutant shall be conducted annually until all annual
performance tests over a 3-year period indicate compliance with the emission limit. The use of the
bypass stack during a performance test shall invalidate the performance test.

(3) For large HMIWI, determine compliance with the visible emission limits for fugitive emissions from
flyash/bottom ash storage and handling by conducting a performance test using EPA Reference Method
22 on an annual basis (no more than 12 months following the previous performance test).

(4) Facilities using a CEMS to demonstrate compliance with any of the emission limits under
§60.52c shall:

(i) Determine compliance with the appropriate emission limit(s) using a 12-hour rolling average,
calculated each hour as the average of the previous 12 operating hours (not including startup,
shutdown, or malfunction).

(ii) Operate all CEMS in accordance with the applicable procedures under appendices B and F of
this part.

(d) The owner or operator of an affected facility equipped with a dry scrubber followed by a fabric
filter, a wet scrubber, or a dry scrubber followed by a fabric filter and wet scrubber shall:

(1) Establish the appropriate maximum and minimum operating parameters, indicated in Table 3 of
this subpart for each control system, as site specific operating parameters during the initial
performance test to determine compliance with the emission limits; and

(2) Following the date on which the initial performance test is completed or is required to be
completed under §60.8, whichever date comes first, ensure that the affected facility does not
operate above any of the applicable maximum operating parameters or below any of the applicable
minimum operating parameters listed in Table 3 of this subpart and measured as 3-hour rolling
averages (calculated each hour as the average of the previous 3 operating hours) at all times except
during periods of startup, shutdown and malfunction. Operating parameter limits do not apply
during performance tests. Operation above the established maximum or below the established
minimum operating parameter(s) shall constitute a violation of established operating parameter(s).

(e) Except as provided in paragraph (h) of this section, for affected facilities equipped with a dry
scrubber followed by a fabric filter:

(1) Operation of the affected facility above the maximum charge rate and below the minimum
secondary chamber temperature (each measured on a 3-hour rolling average) simultaneously shall
constitute a violation of the CO emission limit.

(2) Operation of the affected facility above the maximum fabric filter inlet temperature, above the
maximum charge rate, and below the minimum dioxin/furan sorbent flow rate (each measured on a
3-hour rolling average) simultaneously shall constitute a violation of the dioxin/furan emission
limit.

(3) Operation of the affected facility above the maximum charge rate and below the minimum HCI
sorbent flow rate (each measured on a 3-hour rolling average) simultaneously shall constitute a
violation of the HCI emission limit.

(4) Operation of the affected facility above the maximum charge rate and below the minimum Hg
sorbent flow rate (each measured on a 3-hour rolling average) simultaneously shall constitute a
violation of the Hg emission limit.

(5) Use of the bypass stack (except during startup, shutdown, or malfunction) shall constitute a
violation of the PM, dioxin/furan, HCI, Pb, Cd and Hg emission limits.

(f) Except as provided in paragraph (h) of this section, for affected facilities equipped with a wet
scrubber:

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-60



(1) Operation of the affected facility above the maximum charge rate and below the minimum
pressure drop across the wet scrubber or below the minimum horsepower or amperage to the
system (each measured on a 3-hour rolling average) simultaneously shall constitute a violation of
the PM emission limit.

(2) Operation of the affected facility above the maximum charge rate and below the minimum
secondary chamber temperature (each measured on a 3-hour rolling average) simultaneously shall
constitute a violation of the CO emission limit.

(3) Operation of the affected facility above the maximum charge rate, below the minimum
secondary chamber temperature, and below the minimum scrubber liquor flow rate (each measured
on a 3-hour rolling average) simultaneously shall constitute a violation of the dioxin/furan
emission limit.

(4) Operation of the affected facility above the maximum charge rate and below the minimum
scrubber liquor pH (each measured on a 3-hour rolling average) simultaneously shall constitute a
violation of the HCI emission limit.

(5) Operation of the affected facility above the maximum flue gas temperature and above the
maximum charge rate (each measured on a 3-hour rolling average) simultaneously shall constitute
a violation of the Hg emission limit.

(6) Use of the bypass stack (except during startup, shutdown, or malfunction) shall constitute a
violation of the PM, dioxin/furan, HC, Pb, Cd and Hg emission limits.

(8) Except as provided in paragraph (h) of this section, for affected facilities equipped with a dry
scrubber followed by a fabric filter and a wet scrubber:

(1) Operation of the affected facility above the maximum charge rate and below the minimum
secondary chamber temperature (each measured on a 3-hour rolling average) simultaneously shall
constitute a violation of the CO emission limit.

(2) Operation of the affected facility above the maximum fabric filter inlet temperature, above the
maximum charge rate, and below the minimum dioxin/furan sorbent flow rate (each measured on a 3-
hour rolling average) simultaneously shall constitute a violation of the dioxin/furan emission limit.

(3) Operation of the affected facility above the maximum charge rate and below the minimum
scrubber liquor pH (each measured on a 3-hour rolling average) simultaneously shall constitute a
violation of the HCI emission limit.

(4) Operation of the affected facility above the maximum charge rate and below the minimum Hg
sorbent flow rate (each measured on a 3-hour rolling average) simultaneously shall constitute a
violation of the Hg emission limit.

(5) Use of the bypass stack (except during startup, shutdown, or malfunction) shall constitute a
violation of the PM, dioxin/furan, HCI, Pb, Cd and Hg emission limits.

(h) The owner or operator of an affected facility may conduct a repeat performance test within 30
days of violation of applicable operating parameter(s) to demonstrate that the affected facility is
not in violation of the applicable emission limit(s). Repeat performance tests conducted pursuant to
this paragraph shall be conducted using the identical operating parameters that indicated a
violation under paragraph (e), (f), or (g) of this section.

(i) The owner or operator of an affected facility using an air pollution control device other than a
dry scrubber followed by a fabric filter, a wet scrubber, or a dry scrubber followed by a fabric filter
and a wet scrubber to comply with the emission limits under §60.52c shall petition the
Administrator for other site-specific operating parameters to be established during the initial

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-61



performance test and continuously monitored thereafter. The owner or operator shall not conduct
the initial performance test until after the petition has been approved by the Administrator.

(j) The owner or operator of an affected facility may conduct a repeat performance test at any time
to establish new values for the operating parameters. The Administrator may request a repeat
performance test at any time.

[62 FR 48382, Sept. 15, 1997, as amended at 65 FR 61753, Oct. 17, 2000]
§ 60.57c Monitoring requirements.

(a) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall install, calibrate (to manufacturers'
specifications), maintain, and operate devices (or establish methods) for monitoring the applicable
maximum and minimum operating parameters listed in Table 3 of this subpart such that these
devices (or methods) measure and record values for these operating parameters at the frequencies
indicated in Table 3 of this subpart at all times except during periods of startup and shutdown.

(b) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall install, calibrate (to manufacturers'
specifications), maintain, and operate a device or method for measuring the use of the bypass stack
including date, time, and duration.

(c) The owner or operator of an affected facility using something other than a dry scrubber
followed by a fabric filter, a wet scrubber, or a dry scrubber followed by a fabric filter and a wet
scrubber to comply with the emission limits under §60.52¢ shall install, calibrate (to the
manufacturers' specifications), maintain, and operate the equipment necessary to monitor the site-
specific operating parameters developed pursuant to §60.56¢(i).

(d) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall obtain monitoring data at all times during
HMIWI operation except during periods of monitoring equipment malfunction, calibration, or
repair. At a minimum, valid monitoring data shall be obtained for 75 percent of the operating hours
per day and for 90 percent of the operating days per calendar quarter that the affected facility is
combusting hospital waste and/or medical/infectious waste.

§ 60.58c Reporting and recordkeeping requirements.

(a) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall submit notifications, as provided by §60.7. In
addition, the owner or operator shall submit the following information:

(1) Prior to commencement of construction;

(i) A statement of intent to construct;
(ii) The anticipated date of commencement of construction; and
(iii) All documentation produced as a result of the siting requirements of §60.54c.

(2) Prior to initial startup;

(1) The type(s) of waste to be combusted;

(ii)) The maximum design waste burning capacity;

(iii) The anticipated maximum charge rate; and

(iv) If applicable, the petition for site-specific operating parameters under §60.56¢(i).

(b) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall maintain the following information (as
applicable) for a period of at least 5 years:

(1) Calendar date of each record;
(2) Records of the following data:

(i) Concentrations of any pollutant listed in §60.52¢ or measurements of opacity as determined by
the continuous emission monitoring system (if applicable);

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-62



(i1) Results of fugitive emissions (by EPA Reference Method 22) tests, if applicable;

(i) HMIWTI charge dates, times, and weights and hourly charge rates;

(iv) Fabric filter inlet temperatures during each minute of operation, as applicable;

(v) Amount and type of dioxin/furan sorbent used during each hour of operation, as applicable;
(vi) Amount and type of Hg sorbent used during each hour of operation, as applicable;

(vii) Amount and type of HCI sorbent used during each hour of operation, as applicable;

(viii) Secondary chamber temperatures recorded during each minute of operation;

(ix) Liquor flow rate to the wet scrubber inlet during each minute of operation, as applicable;

(x) Horsepower or amperage to the wet scrubber during each minute of operation, as applicable;
(x1) Pressure drop across the wet scrubber system during each minute of operation, as applicable,
(xii) Temperature at the outlet from the wet scrubber during each minute of operation, as
applicable;

(xiii) pH at the inlet to the wet scrubber during each minute of operation, as applicable,

(xiv) Records indicating use of the bypass stack, including dates, times, and durations, and

(xv) For affected facilities complying with §§60.56¢(i) and 60.5 7c(c), the owner or operator shall
maintain all operating parameter data collected.

(3) Identification of calendar days for which data on emission rates or operating parameters
specified under paragraph (b)(2) of this section have not been obtained, with an identification of
the emission rates or operating parameters not measured, reasons for not obtaining the data, and a
description of corrective actions taken.

(4) Identification of calendar days, times and durations of malfunctions, a description of the
malfunction and the corrective action taken.

(5) Identification of calendar days for which data on emission rates or operating parameters
specified under paragraph (b)(2) of this section exceeded the applicable limits, with a description
of the exceedances, reasons for such exceedances, and a description of corrective actions taken.

(6) The results of the initial, annual, and any subsequent performance tests conducted to determine
compliance with the emission limits and/or to establish operating parameters, as applicable.

(7) All documentation produced as a result of the siting requirements of §60.54c;

(8) Records showing the names of HMIWI operators who have completed review of the
information in §60.53c(h) as required by §60.53¢(i), including the date of the initial review and all
subsequent annual reviews;

(9) Records showing the names of the HMIWI operators who have completed the operator training
requirements, including documentation of training and the dates of the training;

(10) Records showing the names of the HMIWT operators who have met the criteria for
qualification under §60.53c and the dates of their qualification; and

(11) Records of calibration of any monitoring devices as required under §60.57c (a), (b), and (c).

(c) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall submit the information specified in
paragraphs (c)(1) through (c)(3) of this section no later than 60 days following the initial
performance test. All reports shall be signed by the facilities manager.

(1) The initial performance test data as recorded under §60.56¢ (b)(1) through (b)(12), as applicable.

(2) The values for the site-specific operating parameters established pursuant to §60.56c¢ (d) or (i),
as applicable.

(3) The waste management plan as specified in §60.55c.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-63



(d) An annual report shail be submitted 1 year following the submission of the information in
paragraph (c) of this section and subsequent reports shall be submitted no more than 12 months
following the previous report (once the unit is subject to permitting requirements under Title V of
the Clean Air Act, the owner or operator of an affected facility must submit these reports
semiannually). The annual report shall include the information specified in paragraphs (@)
through (d)(8) of this section. All reports shall be signed by the facilities manager.

(1) The values for the site-specific operating parameters established pursuant to §60.56¢ (d) or (i),
as applicable.

(2) The highest maximum operating parameter and the lowest minimum operating parameter, as
applicable, for each operating parameter recorded for the calendar year being reported, pursuant to
§60.56¢(d) or (i), as applicable.

(3) The highest maximum operating parameter and the lowest minimum operating parameter, as
applicable for each operating parameter recorded pursuant to §60.56¢ (d) or (i) for the calendar
year preceding the year being reported, in order to provide the Administrator with a summary of
the performance of the affected facility over a 2-year period.

(4) Any information recorded under paragraphs (b)(3) through (b)(5) of this section for the
calendar year being reported.

(5) Any information recorded under paragraphs (b)(3) through (b)(5) of this section for the
calendar year preceding the year being reported, in order to provide the Administrator with a
summary of the performance of the affected facility over a 2-year period.

(6) If a performance test was conducted during the reporting period, the results of that test.

(7) If no exceedances or malfunctions were reported under paragraphs (b)(3) through (b)(5) of this
section for the calendar year being reported, a statement that no exceedances occurred during the
reporting period.

(8) Any use of the bypass stack, the duration, reason for malfunction, and corrective action taken.

(¢) The owner or operator of an affected facility shall submit semiannual reports containing any
information recorded under paragraphs (b)(3) through (b)(5) of this section no later than 60 days
following the reporting period. The first semiannual reporting period ends 6 months following the
submission of information in paragraph (c) of this section. Subsequent reports shall be submitted
no later than 6 calendar months following the previous report. All reports shall be signed by the
facilities manager.

() All records specified under paragraph (b) of this section shall be maintained onsite in either
paper copy or computer-readable format, unless an alternative format is approved by the
Administrator.

Table 1 to Subpart Ec of Part 60—Emission Limits for Small, Medium, and Large HMIWI

Emission Limits
Units :
Pollutant (7% oxygen, dry basis) HMIWI size
Small Medium Large
Milligrams per dry standard cubic
t i tandard cubi
Particulate matter ’f‘:)f,gr (grains per dry standard cubic | ¢y 53y | 34(0.015) | 34(0.015)
Carbon monoxide | Parts per million by volume 40 40 40

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-64



Nanograms per dry standard cubic
meter total dioxins/furans (grains
per billion dry standard cubic feet) 125 (55) or 25(11) 25(11)
Dioxins/furans or nanograms per dry standard 2.3 (1.0) or or
cubic meter total dioxins/furans ‘=i 0.6 (0.26) 0.6 (0.26)
TEQ (grains per billion dry
standard cubic feet).
Tydrdsentehilbride [\ ers,per.millionjoppercent 150r99% | 150r99% | 150r99%
reduction.
Sulfur dioxide Parts per million by volume. 55 55 55
Nitrogen oxides | Parts per million by volume. 250 250 250
Milligrams per dry standard cubic
Lead meter (graing per thousand dry 1.2 (0.52) 0.07 (0.03) 0.07 (0.03)
standard cubic feet) or percent or 70% or 98% or 98%
reduction.
Milligrams per dry standard cubic
Cadmium meter (graing per thousand dry 0.16 (0.07) 0.04 (0.02) 0.04 (0.02)
standard cubic feet) or percent or 65% or 90% or 90%
reduction.
Milligrams per dry standard cubic
Meroury meter (graing per thousand dry 0.55 (0.24) 0.55(0.24) 0.55 (0.24)
standard cubic feet) or percent or 85% or 85% or 85%
reduction. i
Table 2 of Subpart Ec to Part 60—Toxic Equivalency Factors
Toxic
Dioxin/furan congener equivalency
factor
2,3,7,8-tetrachlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin................. 1
1,2,3,7,8-pentachlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin.............. 0.5
1,2,3,4,7,8-hexachlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin............ 0.1
1,2,3,7,8,9-hexachlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin............ 0.1
1,2,3,6,7,8-hexachlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin............ 0.1
1,2,3,4,6,7,8-heptachlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin........... 0.01
octachlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin.........ccceceeveuneee 0.001
2,3,7,8-tetrachlorinated dibenzofuran..................... 0.1
2,3,4,7,8-pentachlorinated dibenzofuran................... 0.5
1,2,3,7,8-pentachlorinated dibenzofuran................... 0.05
1,2,3,4,7,8-hexachlorinated dibenzofuran.................. 0.1
1,2,3,6,7,8-hexachlorinated dibenzofuran.................. 0.1
1,2,3,7,8,9-hexachlorinated dibenzofuran.................. 0.1
2,3,4,6,7,8-hexachlorinated dibenzofuran.................. 0.1
1,2,3,4,6,7,8-heptachlorinated dibenzofuran............... 0.01
1,2,3,4,7,8,9-heptachlorinated dibenzofuran............... 0.01
Octachlorinated dibenzofuran.........cc.cccereveeeencnnee 0.001
NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-65




Table 3 to Subpart Ec of Part 60—Operating Parameters To Be Monitored and Minimum
Measurement and Recording Frequencies

Minimum frequency
Dry
Operating Dry scrubber
parameters scrubber followed
fobegontored meas],?:::;nent reg)::ﬁn N scr\ﬁ,t?lger prglebnic
g by fabric filter and
filter wet
scrubber
Maximum operating
parameters:
Maximum charge rate Continuous 1xhour [beheck] [bcheck] [beheck]
Maximum fabric filter . :
inlet temperature Continuous 1xminute [bcheck] [beheck]
Maximum flue gas A i
temperature Continuous lxmmutg [bcheck] [bcheck]
Minimum operating
parameters:
Minimum secondary . .
e e Continuous 1xminute [beheck] [becheck] [beheck]
Minimum dioxin/furan
SR M Hourly 1xhour [becheck] [beheck]
Minimum HCI sorbent
o orate Hourly 1xhour [bcheck] [bcheck]
Minimum mercury (Hg)
i S Hourly 1xhour [bcheck] [beheck]
Minimum pressure drop
agross T il Continuous 1xminute [bcheck] [beheck]
minimum horsepower or
amperage to wet scrubber
Minimum scrubber liquor . ,
flow rate Continuous 1xminute [beheck] [bcheck]
Il:'II;mmum serubbegliguor Continuous 1xminute [bcheck] [beheck]
NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-66



Subpart AAAA—Standards of Performance for Small Municipal Waste Combustion Units
for Which Construction is Commenced After August 30, 1999 or for Which Modification or
Reconstruction is Commenced After June 6, 2001

Electronic Code of Federal Regulations (e-CFR) current as of March 29, 2007 - Title 40:
Protection of Environment, Part 60-Standards Of Performance For New Stationary Sources

Source: 65 FR 76355, Dec. 6, 2000, unless otherwise noted.
Introduction
§ 60.1000 What does this subpart do?

This subpart establishes new source performance standards for new small municipal waste
combustion units.

§ 60.1005 When does this subpart become effective?

This subpart takes effect June 6, 2001. Some of the requirements in this subpart apply to municipal
waste combustion unit planning and must be completed before construction is commenced on the
municipal waste combustion unit. In particular, the preconstruction requirements in §§60.1050
through 60.1150 must be completed prior to commencing construction. Other requirements (such
as the emission limits) apply when the municipal waste combustion unit begins operation.

Applicability

§ 60.1010 Does this subpart apply to my municipal waste combustion unit?

Yes, if your municipal waste combustion unit meets two criteria:

(a) Your municipal waste combustion unit is a new municipal waste combustion unit.

(b) Your municipal waste combustion unit has the capacity to combust at least 35 tons per day but
no more than 250 tons per day of municipal solid waste or refuse-derived fuel.

§ 60.1015 What is a new municipal waste combustion unit?

(a) A new municipal waste combustion unit is a municipal waste combustion unit that meets either
of two criteria:

(1) Commenced construction after August 30, 1999.
(2) Commenced reconstruction or modification after June 6, 2001.

(b) This subpart does not apply to your municipal waste combustion unit if you make physical or
operational changes to an existing municipal waste combustion unit primarily to comply with the
emission guidelines in subpart BBBB of this part. Such changes do not qualify as reconstruction or
modification under this subpart.

§ 60.1020 Does this subpart allow any exemptions?

(a) Small municipal waste combustion units that combust less than 11 tons per day. You are
exempt from this subpart if you meet four requirements:

(1) Your municipal waste combustion unit is subject to a federally enforceable permit limiting the
amount of municipal solid waste combusted to less than 11 tons per day.

(2) You notify the Administrator that the unit qualifies for the exemption.
(3) You provide the Administrator with a copy of the federally enforceable permit.
(4) You keep daily records of the amount of municipal solid waste combusted.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-67



(b) Small power production facilities. You are exempt from this subpart if you meet four
requirements:

(1) Your unit qualifies as a small power production facility under section 3(17)(C) of the Federal
Power Act (16 U.S.C. 796(17)(C)).

(2) Your unit combusts homogeneous waste (excluding refuse-derived fuel) to produce electricity.
(3) You notify the Administrator that the unit qualifies for the exemption.

(4) You provide the Administrator with documentation that the unit qualifies for the exemption.
(c) Cogeneration facilities. You are exempt from this subpart if you meet four requirements:

(1) Your unit qualifies as a cogeneration facility under section 3(18)(B) of the Federal Power Act
(16 U.S.C. 796(18)(B)).

(2) Your unit combusts homogeneous waste (excluding rcfuse-derived fuel) to produce electricity
and steam or other forms of energy used for industrial, commercial, heating, or cooling purposes.

(3) You notify the Administrator that the unit qualifies for the exemption.
(4) You provide the Administrator with documentation that the unit qualifies for the exemption.

(d) Municipal waste combustion units that combust only tires. You are exempt from this subpart if
you meet three requirements:

(1) Your municipal waste combustion unit combusts a single-itern waste stream of tires and no other
municipal waste (the unit can co-fire coal, fuel oil, natural gas, or other nonmunicipal solid waste).

(2) You notify the Administrator that the unit qualifies for the exemption.
(3) You provide the Administrator with documentation that the unit qualifies for the exemption.

(¢) Hazardous waste combustion units. You are exempt from this subpart if you get a permit for
your unit under section 3005 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act.

(f) Materials recovery units. You are exempt from this subpart if your unit combusts waste mainly
to recover metals. Primary and secondary smelters qualify for the exemption.

(g) Co-fired combustors. You are exempt from this subpart if you meet four requirements:

(1) Your unit has a federally enforceable permit limiting the combustion of municipal solid waste
to 30 percent of the total fuel input by weight.

(2) You notify the Administrator that the unit qualifies for the exemption.

(3) You provide the Administrator with a copy of the federally enforceable permit.

(4) You record the weights, each quarter, of municipal solid waste and of all other fuels combusted.
(h) Plastics/rubber recycling units. You are exempt from this subpart if you meet four requirements:

(1) Your pyrolysis/combustion unit is an integrated part of a plastics/rubber recycling unit as
defined under “Definitions” (§60.1465).

(2) You record the weights, each quarter, of plastics, rubber, and rubber tires processed.

(3) You record the weights, each quarter, of feed stocks produced and marketed from chemical
plants and petroleum refineries.

(4) You keep the name and address of the purchaser of those feed stocks.

(i) Units that combust fuels made from products of plastics/rubber recycling plants. You are
exempt from this subpart if you meet two requirements:

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-68



(1) Your unit combusts gasoline, diesel fuel, jet fuel, fuel oils, residual oil, refinery gas, petroleum
coke, liquified petroleum gas, propane, or butane produced by chemical plants or petroleum
refineries that use feedstocks produced by plastics/rubber recycling units.

(2) Your unit does not combust any other municipal solid waste.
(G) Cement kilns. You are exempt from this subpart if your cement kiln combusts municipal solid waste.

(k) Air curtain incinerators. If your air curtain incinerator (see §60.1465 for definition) combusts
100 percent yard waste, you must meet only the requirements under “Air Curtain Incinerators That
Burn 100 Percent Yard Waste” (§§60.1435 through 60.1455).

§ 60.1025 Do subpart E new source performance standards also apply to my municipal waste
combustion unit?

If this subpart AAAA applies to your municipal waste combustion unit, then subpart E of this part
does not apply to your municipal waste combustion unit.

§ 60.1030 Can the Administrator delegate authority to enforce these Federal new source
performance standards to a State agency?

Yes, the Administrator can delegate all authorities in all sections of this subpart to the State for
direct State enforcement.

§ 60.1035 How are these new source performance standards structured?
These new source performance standards contain five major components:

(a) Preconstruction requirements.
(1) Materials separation plan.

(2) Siting analysis.

(b) Good combustion practices.
(1) Operator training.

(2) Operator certification.

(3) Operating requirements.

(c) Emission limits.

(d) Monitoring and stack testing.

(e) Recordkeeping and reporting.

§ 60.1040 Do all five components of these new source performance standards apply at the same time?

No, you must meet the preconstruction requirements before you commence construction of the
municipal waste combustion unit. After the municipal waste combustion unit begins operation, you
must meet all of the good combustion practices, emission limits, monitoring, stack testing, and
most recordkeeping and reporting requirements.

§ 60.1045 Are there different subcategories of small municipal waste combustion units within
this subpart?

(a) Yes, this subpart subcategorizes small municipal waste combustion units into two groups based
on the aggregate capacity of the municipal waste combustion plant as follows:

(1) Class I Units. Class I units are small municipal waste combustion units that are located at
municipal waste combustion plants with an aggregate plant combustion capacity greater than 250
tons per day of municipal solid waste. (See the definition of “municipal waste combustion plant
capacity” in §60.1465 for specification of which units at a plant are included in the aggregate
capacity calculation.)

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-69



(2) Class II Units. Class II units are small municipal waste combustion units that are located at
municipal waste combustion plants with an aggregate plant combustion capacity less than or equal
to 250 tons per day of municipal solid waste. (See the definition of “municipal waste combustion
plant capacity” in §60.1465 for specification of which units at a plant are included in the aggregate
capacity calculation.)

(b) The requirements for Class I and Class II units are identical except for two items:

(1) Class I units have a nitrogen oxides emission limit. Class II units do not have a nitrogen oxides
emission limit (see Table 1 of this subpart). Additionally, Class I units have continuous emission
monitoring, recordkeeping, and reporting requirements for nitrogen oxides.

(2) Class II units are eligible for the reduced testing option provided in §60.1305.
Preconstruction Requirements: Materials Separation Plan
§ 60.1050 Who must submit a materials separation plan?

(a) You must prepare a materials separation plan for your municipal waste combustion unit if you
commence construction of a new small municipal waste combustion unit after December 6, 2000.

(b) If you commence construction of your municipal waste combustion unit after August 30, 1999
but before December 6, 2000, you are not required to prepare the materials separation plan
specified in this subpart.

(c) You must prepare a materials separation plan if you are required to submit an initial application
for a construction permit, under 40 CFR part 51, subpart I, or part 52, as applicable, for the
reconstruction or modification of your municipal waste combustion unit.

§ 60.1055 What is a materials separation plan?

The plan identifies a goai and an approach for separating certain components of municipal solid
waste for a given service area prior to waste combustion and making them available for recycling.

§ 60.1060 What steps must I complete for my materials separation plan?

(a) For your materials separation plan, you must complete nine steps:

(1) Prepare a draft materials separation plan.

(2) Make your draft plan available to the public.

(3) Hold a public meeting on your draft plan.

(4) Prepare responses to public comments received during the public comment period on your draft
plan.

(5) Prepare a revised materials separation plan.

(6) Discuss the revised plan at the public meeting for review of the siting analysis.
(7) Prepare responses to public comments received on your revised plan.

(8) Prepare a final materials separation plan.

(9) Submit the final materials separation plan.

(b) You may use analyses conducted under the requirements of 40 CFR part 51, subpart I, or part
52, to comply with some of the materials separation requirements of this subpart.

§ 60.1065 What must I include in my draft materials separation plan?

(a) You must prepare and submit a draft materials separation plan for your municipal waste
combustion unit and its service area.

(b) Your draft materials separation plan must identify a goal and an approach for separating certain
components of municipal solid waste for a given service area prior to waste combustion and
making them available for recycling. A materials separation plan may include such elements as

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-70



dropoff facilities, buy-back or deposit-return incentives, programs for curbside pickup, and
centralized systems for mechanical separation.

(c) Your materials separation plan may include different goals or approaches for different subareas
in the service area.

(d) Your materials separation plan may exclude materials separation activities for certain subareas
or, if warranted, the entire service area.

§ 60.1070 How do I make my draft materials separation plan available to the public?

(a) Distribute your draft materials separation plan to the main public libraries in the area where you
will construct the municipal waste combustion unit.

(b) Publish a notice of a public meeting in the main newspapers that serve two areas:

(1) The area where you will construct the municipal waste combustion unit.

(2) The areas where the waste that your municipal waste combustion unit combusts will be
collected.

(c) Include six items in your notice of the public meeting:

(1) The date of the public meeting.

(2) The time of the public meeting.

(3) The location of the public meeting.

(4) The location of the public libraries where the public can find your materials separation plan.
Include the normal business hours of each library.

(5) An'agenda of the topics that will be discussed at the public meeting.

(6) The beginning and ending dates of the public comment period on your draft materials
separation plan.

§ 60.1075 When must I accept comments on the materials separation plan?
(a) You must accept verbal comments at the public meeting.

(b) You must accept written comments anytime during the period that begins on the date the document
is distributed to the main public libraries and ends 30 days after the date of the public meeting.

§ 60.1080 Where and when must I hold a public meeting on my draft materials separation plan?
(a) You must hold a public meeting and accept comments on your draft materials separation plan.

(b) You must hold the public meeting in the county where you will construct the municipal waste
combustion unit.

(c) You must schedule the public meeting to occur at least 30 days after you make your draft
materials separation plan available to the public.

(d) You may combine the public meeting with any other public meeting required as part of any other
Federal, State, or local permit review. However, you may not combine it with the public meeting
required for the siting analysis under “Preconstruction Requirements: Siting Analysis” (§60.1140).

(e) You are encouraged to address eight topics at the public meeting for your draft materials
separation plan:

(1) Expected size of the service area for your municipal waste combustion unit.

(2) Amount of waste you will collect in the service area.

(3) Types and estimated amounts of materials proposed for separation.

(4) Methods proposed for materials separation.

(5) Amount of residual waste for disposal.

(6) Alternate disposal methods for handling the residual waste.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-71



(7) Where your responses to public comments on the draft materials separation plan will be
available for inspection.

(8) Where your revised materials separation plan will be available for inspection.

(f) You must prepare a transcript of the public meeting on your draft materials separation plan.

§ 60.1085 What must I do with any public comments I receive during the public comment period
on my draft materials separation plan?

You must do three steps:

(a) Prepare written responses to any public comments you received during the public comment
period. Summarize the responses to public comments in a document that is separate from your
revised materials separation plan.

(b) Make the comment response document available to the public in the service area where you
will construct your municipal waste combustion unit. You must distribute the document at least to
the main public libraries used to announce the public meeting.

(c) Prepare a revised materials separation plan for the municipal waste combustion unit that
includes, as appropriate, changes made in response to any public comments you received during
the public comment period.

§ 60.1090 What must I do with my revised materials separation plan?
You must do two tasks:

(a) As specified under “Reporting” (§60.1375), submit five items to the Administrator by the date
you submit the application for a construction permit under 40 CFR part 51, subpart I, or part 52. (If
you are not required to submit an application for a construction permit under 40 CFR part 51,
subpart I, or part 52, submit five items to the Administrator by the date of your notice of
construction under §60.1380):

(1) Your draft materials separation plan.

(2) Your revised materials separation plan.

(3) Your notice of the public meeting for your draft materials separation plan.

(4) A transcript of the public meeting on your draft materials separation plan.

(5) The document that summarizes your responses to the public comments you received during the
public comment period on your draft materials separation plan.

(b) Make your revised materials separation plan available to the public as part of the siting analysis
procedures under “Preconstruction Requirements: Siting Analysis” (§60.1130).

§ 60.1095 What must I include in the public meeting on my revised materials separation plan?

As part of the public meeting for review of the siting analysis, as specified under “Preconstruction
Requirements: Siting Analysis” (§60.1140), you must discuss two areas:

(a) Differences between your revised materials separation plan and your draft materials separation
plan discussed at the first public meeting (§60.1080).

(b) Questions about your revised materials separation plan.
§ 60.1100 What must I do with any public comments I receive on my revised materials separation plan?

(a) Prepare written responses to any public comments and include them in the document that
summarizes your responses to public comments on the siting analysis.

(b) Prepare a final materials separation plan that includes, as appropriate, changes made in
response to any public comments you received on your revised materials separation plan.

§ 60.1105 How do I submit my final materials separation plan?

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-72



As specified under “Reporting” (§60.1380), submit your final materials separation plan to the
Administrator as part of the notice of construction for the municipal waste combustion unit.

Preconstruction Requirements: Siting Analysis
§ 60.1110 Who must submit a siting analysis?

(a) You must prepare a siting analysis if you commence construction of a small municipal waste
combustion unit after December 6, 2000.

(b) If you commence construction on your municipal waste combustion unit after August 30, 1999, but
before December 6, 2000, you are not required to prepare the siting analysis specified in this subpart.

(c) You must prepare a siting analysis if you are required to submit an initial application for a
construction permit, under 40 CFR part 51, subpart I, or part 52, as applicable, for the
reconstruction or modification of your municipal waste combustion unit.

§ 60.1115 What is a siting analysis?

The siting analysis addresses how your municipal waste combustion unit affects ambient air
quality, visibility, soils, vegetation, and other relevant factors. The analysis can be used to
determine whether the benefits of your proposed facility significantly outweigh the environmental
and social costs resulting from its location and construction. The analysis must also consider other
major industrial facilities near the proposed site.

§ 60.1120 What steps must I complete for my siting analysis?

(a) For your siting analysis, you must complete five steps:

(1) Prepare an analysis.

(2) Make your analysis available to the public.

(3) Hold a public meeting on your analysis.

(4) Prepare responses to public comments received on your analysis.
(5) Submit your analysis.

(b) You may use analyses conducted under the requirements of 40 CFR part 51, subpart I, or part
52, to comply with some of the siting analysis requirements of this subpart.
§ 60.1125 What must I include in my siting analysis?

(2) Include an analysis of how your municipal waste combustion unit affects four areas:

(1) Ambient air quality.

(2) Visibility.

(3) Soils.

(4) Vegetation.

(b) Include an analysis of alternatives for controlling air pollution that minimize potential risks to
the public health and the environment.

§ 60.1130 How do I make my siting analysis available to the public?

(a) Distribute your siting analysis and revised materials separation plan to the main public libraries
in the area where you will construct your municipal waste combustion unit.

(b) Publish a notice of a public meeting in the main newspapers that serve two areas:
(1) The area where you will construct your municipal waste combustion unit.
(2) The areas where the waste that your municipal waste combustion unit combusts will be collected.

(c) Include six items in your notice of the public meeting:

(1) The date of the public meeting.
(2) The time of the public meeting.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-73



(3) The location of the public meeting.

(4) The location of the public libraries where the public can find your siting analysis and revised materials
separation plan. Include the normal business hours of each library.

(5) An agenda of the topics that will be discussed at the public meeting.

(6) The beginning and ending dates of the public comment period on your siting analysis and revised
materials separation plan.

§ 60.1135 When must I accept comments on the siting analysis and revised materials separation plan?
(a) You must accept verbal comments at the public meeting.

(b) You must accept written comments anytime during the period that begins on the date the document
is distributed to the main public libraries and ends 30 days after the date of the public meeting.

§ 60.1140 Where and when must I hold a public meeting on the siting analysis?

(a) You must hold a public meeting to discuss and accept comments on your siting analysis and
your revised materials separation plan.

(b) You must hold the public meeting in the county where you will construct your municipal waste
combustion unit.

(¢) You must schedule the public meeting to occur at least 30 days after you make your siting
analysis and revised materials separation plan available to the public.

(d) You must prepare a transcript of the public meeting on your siting analysis.

§ 60.1145 What must I do with any public comments I receive during the public comment period
on my siting analysis?

You must do three things: .

(a) Prepare written responses to any public comments on your siting analysis and the revised
materials separation plan you received during the public comment period. Summarize the
responses to public comments in a document that is separate from your materials separation plan
and siting analysis.

(b) Make the comment response document available to the public in the service area where you

will construct your municipal waste combustion unit. You must distribute the document at least to
the main public libraries used to announce the public meeting for the siting analysis.

(c) Prepare a revised siting analysis for the municipal waste combustion unit that includes, as
appropriate, changes made in response to any public comments you received during the public
comment period.

§ 60.1150 How do I submit my siting analysis?

As specified under “Reporting” (§60.1380), submit four items as part of the notice of construction:

(a) Your siting analysis.

(b) Your notice of the public meeting on your siting analysis.

(c) A transcript of the public meeting on your siting analysis.

(d) The document that summarizes your responses to the public comments you received during the public
comment period.

Good Combustion Practices: Operator Training
§ 60.1155 What types of training must I do?

There are two types of required training:
(a) Training of operators of municipal waste combustion units using the U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency (EPA) or a State-approved training course.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-74



(b) Training of plant personnel using a plant-specific training course.
§ 60.1160 Who must complete the operator training course? By when?

(a) Three types of employees must complete the EPA or State-approved operator training course:
(1) Chief facility operators.

(2) Shift supervisors.

(3) Control room operators.

(b) Those employees must complete the operator training course by the later of three dates:
(1) Six months after your municipal waste combustion unit initial startup.
(2) December 6, 2001.

(3) The date before an employee assumes responsibilities that affect operation of the municipal
waste combustion unit.

§60.1165 Who must complete the plant-specific training course?

All employees with responsibilities that affect how a municipal waste combustion unit operates
must complete the plant-specific training course. Include at least six types of employees:

(a) Chief facility operators.

(b) Shift supervisors.

(c) Control room operators.

(d) Ash handlers.

(e) Maintenance personnel.

(®) Crane or load handlers.

§ 60.1170 What plant-specific training must I provide?
For plant-specific training, you must do four things:

(a) For training at a particular plant, develop a specific operating manual for that plant by the later
of two dates:

(1) Six months after your municipal waste combustion unit initial startup.

(2) December 6, 2001.

(b) Establish a program to review the plant-specific operating manual with people whose
responsibilities affect the operation of your municipal waste combustion unit. Complete the initial
review by the later of three dates: L

(1) Six months after your municipal waste combustion unit initial startup.

(2) December 6, 2001.

(3) The date before an employee assumes responsibilities that affect operation of the municipal
waste combustion unit.

(c) Update your manual annually.

(d) Review your manual with staff annually.

§ 60.1175 What information must I include in the plant-specific operating manual?
You must include 11 items in the operating manual for your plant:

(a) A summary of all applicable requirements in this subpart.

(b) A description of the basic combustion principles that apply to municipal waste combustion
units.

(c) Procedures for receiving, handling, and feeding municipal solid waste.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-75



(d) Procedures to be followed during periods of startup, shutdown, and malfunction of the
municipal waste combustion unit.

(e) Procedures for maintaining a proper level of combustion air supply.

(f) Procedures for operating the municipal waste combustion unit in compliance with the
requirements contained in this subpart.

(g) Procedures for responding to periodic upset or off-specification conditions.

(h) Procedures for minimizing carryover of particulate matter.

(i) Procedures for handling ash.

(j) Procedures for monitoring emissions from the municipal waste combustion unit.
(k) Procedures for recordkeeping and reporting.

§ 60.1180 Where must I keep the plant-specific operating manual?

You must keep your operating manual in an easily accessible location at your plant. It must be
available for review or inspection by all employees who must review it and by the Administrator.

Good Combustion Practices: Operator Certification

§ 60.1185 What types of operator certification must the chief facility operator and shift supervisor
obtain and by when must they obtain it?

(a) Each chief facility operator and shift supervisor must obtain and keep a current provisional
operator certification from the American Society of Mechanical Engineers (QRO-1-1994)
(incorporated by reference in §60. 17(h)(1)) or a current provisional operator certification from
your State certification program.

(b) Each chief facility operator and shift supervisor must obtain a provisional certification by the
later of three dates:

(1) Six months after the municipal waste combustion unit initial startup.

(2) December 6, 2001.

(3) Six months after they transfer to the municipal waste combustion unit or 6 months after they
are hired to work at the municipal waste combustion unit.

(c) Each chief facility operator and shift supervisor must take one of three actions:

(1) Obtain a full certification from the American Society of Mechanical Engineers or a State
certification program in your State.

(2) Schedule a full certification exam with the American Society of Mechanical Engineers (QRO-
1-1994) (incorporated by reference in §60.17(h)(1)).

(3) Schedule a full certification exam with your State certification program.

(d) The chief facility operator and shift supervisor must obtain the full certification or be scheduled
to take the certification exam by the later of three dates:

(1) Six months after the municipal waste combustion unit initial startup.
(2) December 6, 2001.

(3) Six months after they transfer to the municipal waste combustion unit or 6 months after they
are hired to work at the municipal waste combustion unit.

§ 60.1190 Afier the required date for operator certification, who may operate the municipal waste
combustion unit?

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-76



After the required date for full or provisional certifications, you must not operate your municipal
waste combustion unit unless one of four employees is on duty:

(a) A fully certified chief facility operator.

(b) A provisionally certified chief facility operator who is scheduled to take the full certification
exam.

(c) A fully certified shift supervisor.

(d) A provisionally certified shift supervisor who is scheduled to take the full certification exam.

§ 60.1195 What if all the certified operators must be temporarily offsite?

If the certified chief facility operator and certified shift supervisor both are unavailable, a
provisionally certified control room operator at the municipal waste combustion unit may fulfill
the certified operator requirement. Depending on the length of time that a certified chief facility
operator and certified shift supervisor are away, you must meet one of three criteria:

(a) When the certified chief facility operator and certified shift supervisor are both offsite for 12
hours or less, and no other certified operator is onsite, the provisionally certified control room
operator may perform those duties without notice to, or approval by, the Administrator.

(b) When the certified chief facility operator and certified shift supervisor are offsite for more than
12 hours, but for 2 weeks or less, and no other certified operator is onsite, the provisionally
certified control room operator may perform those duties without notice to, or approval by, the
Administrator. However, you must record the period when the certified chief facility operator and
certified shift supervisor are offsite and include that information in the annual report as specified
under §60.1410(1).

(c) When the certified chief facility operator and certified shift supervisor are offsite for more than
2 weeks, and no other certified operator is onsite, the provisionally certified control room operator
may perform those duties without notice to, or approval by, the Administrator. However, you must
take two actions:

(1) Notify the Administrator in writing. In the notice, state what caused the absence and what you
are doing to ensure that a certified chief facility operator or certified shift supervisor is onsite.

(2) Submit a status report and corrective action summary to the Administrator every 4 weeks
following the initial notification. If the Administrator notifies you that your status report or
corrective action summary is disapproved, the municipal waste combustion unit may continue
operation for 90 days, but then must cease operation. If corrective actions are taken in the 90-day
period such that the Administrator withdraws the disapproval, municipal waste combustion unit
operation may continue.

Good Combustion Practices: Operating Requirements
§ 60.1200 What are the operating practice requirements for my municipal waste combustion unit?

(a) You must not operate your municipal waste combustion unit at loads greater than 110 percent
of the maximum demonstrated load of the municipal waste combustion unit (4-hour block
average), as specified under “Definitions” (§60.1465).

(b) You must not operate your municipal waste combustion unit so that the temperature at the inlet
of the particulate matter control device exceeds 17°C above the maximum demonstrated
temperature of the particulate matter control device (4-hour block average), as specified under
“Definitions” (§60.1465).

(c) If your municipal waste combustion unit uses activated carbon to control dioxins/furans or
mercury emissions, you must maintain an 8-hour block average carbon feed rate at or above the
highest average level established during the most recent dioxins/furans or mercury test.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-77



(d) If your municipal waste combustion unit uses activated carbon to control dioxins/furans or
mercury emissions, you must evaluate total carbon usage for each calendar quarter. The total
amount of carbon purchased and delivered to your municipal waste combustion plant must be at or
above the required quarterly usage of carbon. At your option, you may choose to evaluate required
quarterly carbon usage on a municipal waste combustion unit basis for each individual municipal
waste combustion unit at your plant. Calculate the required quarterly usage of carbon using
equation 4 or 5 in §60.1460(f).

(e) Your municipal waste combustion unit is exempt from limits on load level, temperature at the
inlet of the particulate matter control device, and carbon feed rate during any of five situations:
(1) During your annual tests for dioxins/furans.

(2) During your annual mercury tests (for carbon feed rate requirements only).

(3) During the 2 weeks preceding your annual tests for dioxins/furans.

(4) During the 2 weeks preceding your annual mercury tests (for carbon feed rate requirements
only).

(5) Whenever the Administrator or delegated State authority permits you to do any of five
activities:

(i) Evaluate system performance.

(i1) Test new technology or control technologies.

(iii) Perform diagnostic testing.

(iv) Perform other activities to improve the performance of your municipal waste combustion unit.
(v) Perform other activities to advance the state of the art for emission controls for your municipal
waste combustion unit. '

§ 60.1205 What happens to the operating requirements during periods of startup, shutdown, and
malfunction?

(a) The operating requirelhents of this subpart apply at all times except during periods of municipal
waste combustion unit startup, shutdown, or malfunction.

(b) Each startup, shutdown, or malfunction must not last for longer than 3 hours.
Emission Limits
§ 60.1210 What pollutants are regulated by this subpart?

Eleven pollutants, in four groupings, are regulated:
(a) Organics. Dioxins/furans.
(b) Metals.

(1) Cadmium.

(2) Lead.

(3) Mercury.

(4) Opacity.

(5) Particulate matter.

(c) Acid gases.

(1) Hydrogen chloride.

(2) Nitrogen oxides.

(3) Sulfur dioxide.

(d) Other.

(1) Carbon monoxide.

(2) Fugitive ash.

§ 60.1215 What emission limits must I meet? By when?

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-78



You must meet the emission limits specified in Tables 1 and 2 of this subpart. You must meet the
limits 60 days after your municipal waste combustion unit reaches the maximum load level but no
later than 180 days after its initial startup.

§ 60.1220 What happens to the emission limits during periods of startup, shutdown, and
malfunction?

(a) The emission limits of this subpart apply at all times except during periods of municipal waste
combustion unit startup, shutdown, or malfunction.

(b) Each startup, shutdown, or malfunction must not last for longer than 3 hours.

(¢) A maximum of 3 hours of test data can be dismissed from compliance calculations during
periods of startup, shutdown, or malfunction.

(d) During startup, shutdown, or malfunction periods longer than 3 hours, emissions data cannot be
discarded from compliance calculations and all provisions under §60.11(d) apply.

Continuous Emission Monitoring
§ 60.1225 What types of continuous emission monitoring must I perform?

To continuously monitor emissions, you must perform four tasks:

(a) Install continuous emission monitoring systems for certain gaseous pollutants.
(b) Make sure your continuous emission monitoring systems are operating correctly.
(c) Make sure you obtain the minimum amount of monitoring data.

(d) Install a continuous opacity monitoring system.

§ 60.1230 What continuous emission monitoring systems must I install for gaseous pollutants?

(a) You must install, calibrate, maintain, and operate continuous emission monitoring systems for
oxygen (or carbon dioxide), sulfur dioxide, and carbon monoxide. If you operate a Class I
municipal waste combustion unit, you must also install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a
continuous emission monitoring system for nitrogen oxides. Install the continuous emission
monitoring systems for sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, and oxygen (or carbon dioxide) at the
outlet of the air pollution control device.

(b) You must install, evaluate, and operate each continuous emission monitoring system according
to the “Monitoring Requirements” in §60.13.

(¢) You must monitor the oxygen (or carbon dioxide) concentration at each location where you
monitor sulfur dioxide and carbon monoxide. Additionally, if you operate a Class I municipal
waste combustion unit, you must also monitor the oxygen (or carbon dioxide) concentration at the
location where you monitor nitrogen oxides.

(d) You may choose to monitor carbon dioxide instead of oxygen as a diluent gas. If you choose to
monitor carbon dioxide, then an oxygen monitor is not required, and you must follow the
requirements in §60.1255.

(e) If you choose to demonstrate compliance by monitoring the percent reduction of sulfur dioxide,
you must also install continuous emission monitoring systems for sulfur dioxide and oxygen (or
carbon dioxide) at the inlet of the air pollution control device.

(D If you prefer to use an alternative sulfur dioxide monitoring method, such as parametric
monitoring, or cannot monitor emissions at the inlet of the air pollution control device to determine
percent reduction, you can apply to the Administrator for approval to use an alternative monitoring
method under §60.13(i).

§ 60.1235 How are the data from the continuous emission monitoring systems used?

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-79



You must use data from the continuous emission monitoring systems for sulfur dioxide, nitrogen
oxides, and carbon monoxide to demonstrate continuous compliance with the emission limits specified
in Tables 1 and 2 of this subpart. To demonstrate compliance for dioxins/furans, cadmium, lead,
mercury, particulate matter, opacity, hydrogen chloride, and fugitive ash, see §60.1290.

§ 60.1240 How do I make sure my continuous emission monitoring systems are operating correctly?

(a) Conduct initial, daily, quarterly, and annual evaluations of your continuous emission
monitoring systems that measure oxygen (or carbon dioxide), sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides
(Class I municipal waste combustion units only), and carbon monoxide.

(b) Complete your initial evaluation of the continuous emission monitoring systems within 60 days
after your municipal waste combustion unit reaches the maximum load level at which it will
operate, but no later than 180 days after its initial startup.

(c) For initial and annual evaluations, collect data concurrently (or within 30 to 60 minutes) using
your oxygen (or carbon dioxide) continuous emission monitoring system, your sulfur dioxide,
nitrogen oxides, or carbon monoxide continuous emission monitoring systems, as appropriate, and
the appropriate test methods specified in Table 3 of this subpart. Collect the data during each initial
and annual evaluation of your continuous emission monitoring systems following the applicable
performance specifications in appendix B of this part. Table 4 of this subpart shows the
performance specifications that apply to each continuous emission monitoring system.

(d) Follow the quality assurance procedures in Procedure 1 of appendix F of this part for each
continuous emission monitoring system. The procedures include daily calibration drift and
quarterly accuracy determinations.

§ 60.1245 Am I exempt from any appendix B or appendix F requirements to evaluate continuous
emission monitoring systems? )

Yes, the accuracy tests for your sulfur dioxide continuous emission monitoring system require you
to also evaluate your oxygen (or carbon dioxide) continuous emission monitoring system.
Therefore, your oxygen (or carbon dioxide) continuous emission monitoring system is exempt
from two requirements:

(a) Section 2.3 of Performance Specification 3 in appendix B of this part (relative accuracy
requirement).

(b) Section 5.1.1 of appendix F of this part (relative accuracy test audit).
§ 60.1250 What is my schedule for evaluating continuous emission monitoring systems?

(a) Conduct annual evaluations of your continuous emission monitoring systems no more than 13
months after the previous evaluation was conducted.

(b) Evaluate your continuous emission monitoring systems daily and quarterly as specified in
appendix F of this part.

§ 60.1255 What must I do if I choose to monitor carbon dioxide instead of oxygen as a diluent gas?

You must establish the relationship between oxygen and carbon dioxide during the initial
evaluation of your continuous emission monitoring systems. You may reestablish the relationship
during annual evaluations. To establish the relationship use three procedures:

(a) Use EPA Reference Method 3A or 3B in appendix A of this part to determine oxygen
concentration at the location of your carbon dioxide monitor.

(b) Conduct at least three test runs for oxygen. Make sure each test run represents a 1-hour average
and that sampling continues for at least 30 minutes in each hour.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-80



(c) Use the fuel-factor equation in EPA Reference Method 3B in appendix A of this part to
determine the relationship between oxygen and carbon dioxide.

§ 60.1260 What is the minimum amount of monitoring data I must collect with my continuous
emission monitoring systems and is the data collection requirement enforceable?

(a) Where continuous emission monitoring systems are required, obtain 1-hour arithmetic
averages. Make sure the averages for sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, and carbon monoxide are in
parts per million by dry volume at 7 percent oxygen (or the equivalent carbon dioxide level). Use
the 1-hour averages of oxygen (or carbon dioxide) data from your continuous emission monitoring
system to determine the actual oxygen (or carbon dioxide) level and to calculate emissions at 7
percent oxygen (or the equivalent carbon dioxide level).

(b) Obtain at least two data points per hour in order to calculate a valid 1-hour arithmetic average.
Section 60.13(€)(2) requires your continuous emission monitoring systems to complete at least one
cycle of operation (sampling, analyzing, and data recording) for each 15-minute period.

(c) Obtain valid 1-hour averages for 75 percent of the operating hours per day for 90 percent of the
operating days per calendar quarter. An operating day is any day the unit combusts any municipal
solid waste or refuse-derived fuel.

(d) If you do not obtain the minimum data required in paragraphs (a) through (c) of this section,
you are in violation of the data collection requirement regardless of the emission level monitored,
and you must notify the Administrator according to §60.1410(e).

(e) If you do not obtain the minimum data required in paragraphs (a) through (c) of this section,
you must still use all valid data from the continuous emission monitoring systems in calculating
emission concentrations and percent reductions in accordance with §60.1265.

§ 60.1265 How do I convert my 1-hour arithmetic averages into the appropriate averaging times
and units?

(a) Use the equation in §60.1460(a) to calculate emissions at 7 percent oxygen.

(b) Use EPA Reference Method 19 in appendix A of this part, section 4.3, to calculate the daily
geometric average concentrations of sulfur dioxide emissions. If you are monitoring the percent
reduction of sulfur dioxide, use EPA Reference Method 19 in appendix A of this part, section 5.4,
to determine the daily geometric average percent reduction of potential sulfur dioxide emissions.

(c) If you operate a Class I municipal waste combustion unit, use EPA Reference Method 19 in
appendix A of this part, section 4.1, to calculate the daily arithmetic average for concentrations of
nitrogen oxides.

(d) Use EPA Reference Method 19 in appendix A of this part, section 4.1, to calculate the 4-hour
or 24-hour daily block averages (as applicable) for concentrations of carbon monoxide.

§ 60.1270 What is required for my continuous opacity monitoring system and how are the data used?
(2) Install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a continuous opacity monitoring system.

(b) Install, evaluate, and operate each continuous opacity monitoring system according to §60.13.

(c) Complete an initial evaluation of your continuous opacity monitoring system according to
Performance Specification 1 in appendix B of this part. Complete the evaluation within 60 days

after your municipal waste combustion unit reaches the maximum load level at which it will

operate, but no more than 180 days after its initial startup.

(d) Complete each annual evaluation of your continuous opacity monitoring system no more than
13 months after the previous evaluation.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-81



(e) Use tests conducted according to EPA Reference Method 9 in appendix A of this part, as
specified in §60.1300, to determine compliance with the opacity limit in Table 1 of this subpart.
The data obtained from your continuous opacity monitoring system are not used to determine
compliance with the opacity limit.

§ 60.1275 What additional requirements must I meet for the operation of my continuous emission
monitoring systems and continuous opacity monitoring system?

. Use the required span values and applicable performance specifications in Table 4 of this subpart.

§ 60.1280 What must I do if any of my continuous emission monitoring systems are temporarily
unavailable to meet the data collection requirements?

Refer to Table 4 of this subpart. It shows alternate methods for collecting data when systems
malfunction or when repairs, calibration checks, or zero and span checks keep you from collecting
the minimum amount of data.

Stack Testing
§ 60.1285 What types of stack tests must I conduct?

Conduct initial and annual stack tests to measure the emission levels of dioxins/furans, cadmium,
lead, mercury, particulate matter, opacity, hydrogen chloride, and fugitive ash.

§ 60.1290 How are the stack test data used?

You must use results of stack tests for dioxins/furans, cadmium, lead, mercury, particulate matter,
opacity, hydrogen chloride, and fugitive ash to demonstrate compliance with the emission limits in
Table 1 of this subpart. To demonstrate compliance for carbon monoxide, nitrogen oxides, and
sulfur dioxide, see §60.1235.

§ 60.1295 What schedule must I follow for the stack testing?

(a) Conduct initial stack tests for the pollutants listed in §60.1285 within 60 days after your
municipal waste combustion unit reaches the maximum load level at which it will operate, but no
later than 180 days after its initial startup.

(b) Conduct annual stack tests for the same pollutants after the initial stack test. Conduct each
annual stack test no later than 13 months after the previous stack test.

§ 60.1300 What test methods must I use to stack test?

(2) Follow Table 5 of this subpart to establish the sampling location and to determine pollutant
concentrations, number of traverse points, individual test methods, and other specific testing
requirements for the different pollutants.

(b) Make sure that stack tests for all the pollutants consist of at least three test runs, as specified in
§60.8. Use the average of the pollutant emission concentrations from the three test runs to
determine compliance with the emission limits in Table 1 of this subpart.

(c) Obtain an oxygen (or carbon dioxide) measurement at the same time as your pollutant
measurements to determine diluent gas levels, as specified in §60.1230.

(d) Use the equations in §60.1460(a) to calculate emission levels at 7 percent oxygen (or an
equivalent carbon dioxide basis), the percent reduction in potential hydrogen chloride emissions,
and the reduction efficiency for mercury emissions. See the individual test methods in Table 5 of
this subpart for other required equations.

(€) You can apply to the Administrator for approval under §60.8(b) to use a reference method with
minor changes in methodology, use an equivalent method, use an alternative method the results of
which the Administrator has determined are adequate for demonstrating compliance, waive the

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-82



requirement for a performance test because you have demonstrated by other means that you are in
compliance, or use a shorter sampling time or smaller sampling volume.

§ 60.1305 May I conduct stack testing less often?

(a) You may test less often if you own or operate a Class II municipal waste combustion unit and if
all stack tests for a given pollutant over 3 consecutive years show you comply with the emission
limit. In that case, you are not required to conduct a stack test for that pollutant for the next 2
years. However, you must conduct another stack test within 36 months of the anniversary date of
the third consecutive stack test that shows you comply with the emission limit. Thereafter, you
must perform stack tests every 3rd year but no later than 36 months following the previous stack
tests. If a stack test shows noncompliance with an emission limit, you must conduct annual stack
tests for that pollutant until all stack tests over 3 consecutive years show compliance with the
emission limit for that pollutant. The provision applies to all pollutants subject to stack testing
requirements: dioxins/furans, cadmium, lead, mercury, particulate matter, opacity, hydrogen
chloride, and fugitive ash.

(b) You can test less often for dioxins/furans emissions if you own or operate a municipal waste
combustion plant that meets two conditions. First, you have multiple municipal waste combustion
units onsite that are subject to this subpart. Second, all those municipal waste combustion units
have demonstrated levels of dioxins/furans emissions less than or equal to 7 nanograms per dry
standard cubic meter (total mass) for 2 consecutive years. In that case, you may choose to conduct
annual stack tests on only one municipal waste combustion unit per year at your plant. The
provision only applies to stack testing for dioxins/furans emissions.

(1) Conduct the stack test no more than 13 months following a stack test on any municipal waste
combustion unit subject to this subpart at your plant. Each year, test a different municipal waste
combustion unit subject to this subpart and test all municipal waste combustion units subject to this
subpart in a sequence that you determine. Once you determine a testing sequence, it must not be
changed without approval by the Administrator.

(2) If each annual stack test shows levels of dioxins/furans emissions less than or equal to 7
nanograms per dry standard cubic meter (total mass), you may continue stack tests on only one
municipal waste combustion unit subject to this subpart per year.

(3) If any annual stack test indicates levels of dioxins/furans emissions greater than 7 nanograms
per dry standard cubic meter (total mass), conduct subsequent annual stack tests on all municipal
waste combustion units subject to this subpart at your plant. You may return to testing one
municipal waste combustion unit subject to this subpart per year if you can demonstrate
dioxins/furans emission levels less than or equal to 7 nanograms per dry standard cubic meter
(total mass) for all municipal waste combustion units at your plant subject to this subpart for 2
consecutive years.

§ 60.1310 May I deviate from the 13-month testing schedule if unforeseen circumstances arise?

You may not deviate from the 13-month testing schedules specified in §§60. 1295(b) and
60.1305(b)(1) unless you apply to the Administrator for an alternative schedule, and the
Administrator approves your request for alternate scheduling prior to the date on which you would
otherwise have been required to conduct the next stack test.

Other Monitoring Requirements
§ 60.1315 Must I meet other requirements for continuous monitoring?

You must also monitor three operating parameters:

(a) Load level of each municipal waste combustion unit.

(b) Temperature of flue gases at the inlet of your particulate matter air pollution control device.
NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-83



(c) Carbon feed rate if activated carbon is used to control dioxins/furans or mercury emissions.
§ 60.1320 How do I monitor the load of my municipal waste combustion unit?

() If your municipal waste combustion unit generates steam, you must install, calibrate, maintain,
and operate a steam flowmeter or a feed water flowmeter and meet five requirements:

(1) Continuously measure and record the measurements of steam (or feed water) in kilograms (or
pounds) per hour.

(2) Calculate your steam (or feed water) flow in 4-hour block averages.

(3) Calculate the steam (or feed water) flow rate using the method in “American Society of
Mechanical Engineers Power Test Codes: Test Code for Steam Generating Units, Power Test Code
4.1—1964 (R1991),” section 4 (incorporated by reference in §60.17(h)(2)).

(4) Design, construct, install, calibrate, and use nozzles or orifices for flow rate measurements,
using the recommendations in “American Society of Mechanical Engineers Interim Supplement
19.5 on Instruments and Apparatus: Application, Part I of Fluid Meters,” 6th Edition (1971),
chapter 4 (incorporated by reference in §60.17(h)(3)).

(5) Before each dioxins/furans stack test, or at least once a year, calibrate all signal conversion
elements associated with steam (or feed water) flow measurements according to the manufacturer
instructions.

(b) If your municipal waste combustion unit does not generate steam, or, if your municipal waste
combustion units have shared steam systems and steam load cannot be estimated per unit, you
must determine, to the satisfaction of the Administrator, one or more operating parameters that can
be used to continuously estimate load level (for example, the feed rate of municipal solid waste or
refuse-derived fuel). You must continuously monitor the selected parameters.

§ 60.1325 How do I monitor the temperature of flue gases at the inlet of my particulate matter
control device?

You must install, calibrate, maintain, and operate a device to continuously measure the
temperature of the flue gas stream at the inlet of each particulate matter control device.

§ 60.1330 How do I monitor the injection rate of activated carbon?

If your municipal waste combustion unit uses activated carbon to control dioxins/furans or
mercury emissions, you must meet three requirements:

(a) Select a carbon injection system operating parameter that can be used to calculate carbon feed
rate (for example, screw feeder speed).

(b) During each dioxins/furans and mercury stack test, determine the average carbon feed rate in
kilograms (or pounds) per hour. Also, determine the average operating parameter level that
correlates to the carbon feed rate. Establish a relationship between the operating parameter and the
carbon feed rate in order to calculate the carbon feed rate based on the operating parameter level.
(c) Continuously monitor the selected operating parameter during all periods when the municipal
waste combustion unit is operating and combusting waste, and calculate the 8-hour block average
carbon feed rate in kilograms (or pounds) per hour, based on the selected operating parameter.
When calculating the 8-hour block average, do two things:

(1) Exclude hours when the municipal waste combustion unit is not operating.

(2) Include hours when the municipal waste combustion unit is operating but the carbon feed
system is not working correctly.

§ 60.1335 What is the minimum amount of monitoring data I must collect with my continuous
parameter monitoring systems and is the data collection requirement enforceable?

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-84



(a) Where continuous parameter monitoring systems are used, obtain 1-hour arithmetic averages
for three parameters:

(1) Load level of the municipal waste combustion unit.

(2) Temperature of the flue gases at the inlet of your particulate matter control device.

(3) Carbon feed rate if activated carbon is used to control dioxins/furans or mercury emissions.

(b) Obtain at least two data points per hour in order to calculate a valid 1-hour arithmetic average.

(c) Obtain valid 1-hour averages for at least 75 percent of the operating hours per day for 90
percent of the operating days per calendar quarter. An operating day is any day the unit combusts
any municipal solid waste or refuse-derived fuel.

(d) If you do not obtain the minimum data required in paragraphs (a) through (c) of this section,
you are in violation of the data collection requirement and you must notify the Administrator
according to §60.1410(e).

Recordkeeping

§ 60.1340 What records must I keep?

You must keep five types of records:

(a) Materials separation plan and siting analysis.

(b) Operator training and certification.

(c) Stack tests.

(d) Continuously monitored pollutants and parameters.
(e) Carbon feed rate.

§ 60.1345 Where must I keep my records and for how long?

(a) Keep all records onsite in paper copy or electronic format unless the Administrator approves
another format.

(b) Keep all records on each municipal waste combustion unit for at least 5 years.

(c) Make all records available for submittal to the Administrator, or for onsite review by an
inspector.

§ 60.1350 What records must I keep for the materials separation plan and siting analysis?

You must keep records of five items:

(a) The date of each record.

(b) The final materials separation plan.

(c) The siting analysis.

(d) A record of the location and date of the public meetings.

(e) Your responses to the public comments received during the public comment periods.

§ 60.1355 What records must I keep for operator training and certification?

You must keep records of six items:
(a) Records of provisional certifications. Include three items:

(1) For your municipal waste combustion plant, names of the chief facility operator, shift
supervisors, and control room operators who are provisionally certified by the American Society of
Mechanical Engineers or an equivalent State-approved certification program.

(2) Dates of the initial provisional certifications.

(3) Documentation showing current provisional certifications.
(b) Records of full certifications. Include three items:

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-85



(1) For your municipal waste combustion plant, names of the chief facility operator, shift
supervisors, and control room operators who are fully certified by the American Society of
Mechanical Engineers or an equivalent State-approved certification program.

(2) Dates of initial and renewal full certifications.

(3) Documentation showing current full certifications.
(c) Records showing completion of the operator training course. Include three items:

(1) For your municipal waste combustion plant, names of the chief facility operator, shift
supervisors, and control room operators who have completed the EPA or State municipal waste
combustion operator training course.

(2) Dates of completion of the operator training course.

(3) Documentation showing completion of the operator training course.

(d) Records of reviews for plant-specific operating manuals. Include three items:

(1) Names of persons who have reviewed the operating manual.

(2) Date of the initial review.

(3) Dates of subsequent annual reviews.

(e) Records of when a certified operaior is temporarily offsite. Include two main items:

(1) If the certified chief facility operator and certified shift supervisor are offsite for more than 12
hours, but for 2 weeks or less, and no other certified operator is onsite, record the dates that the
certified chief facility operator and certified shift supervisor were offsite.

(2) When the certified chief facility operator and certified shift supervisor are offsite for more than
2 weeks and no other certified operator is onsite, keep records of four items:

(1) Your notice that all certified persons are offsite.

(i1) The conditions that cause those people to be offsite.

(iit) The corrective actions you are taking to ensure a certified chief facility operator or certified
shift supervisor is onsite.

(iv) Copies of the written reports submitted every 4 weeks that summarize the actions taken to
ensure that a certified chief facility operator or certified shift supervisor will be onsite.

() Records of calendar dates. Include the calendar date on each record.
§ 60.1360 What records must I keep for stack tests?
For stack tests required under §60.1285, you must keep records of four items:

(a) The results of the stack tests for eight pollutants or parameters recorded in the appropriate units
of measure specified in Table 1 of this subpart:

(1) Dioxins/furans.

(2) Cadmium.

(3) Lead.

(4) Mercury.

(5) Opacity.

(6) Particulate matter.

(7) Hydrogen chloride.

(8) Fugitive ash.

(b) Test reports including supporting calculations that document the results of all stack tests.

(c) The maximum demonstrated load of your municipal waste combustion units and maximum
temperature at the inlet of your particulate matter control device during all stack tests for
dioxins/furans emissions.

(d) The calendar date of each record.
NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-86



§ 60.1365 What records must I keep for continuously monitored pollutants or parameters?
You must keep records of eight items:

(a) Records of monitoring data. Document six parameters measured using continuous monitoring
systems:

(1) All 6-minute average levels of opacity.

(2) All 1-hour average concentrations of sulfur dioxide emissions.

(3) For Class I municipal waste combustion units only, all 1-hour average concentrations of
nitrogen oxides emissions.

(4) All 1-hour average concentrations of carbon monoxide emissions.

(5) All 1-hour average load levels of your municipal waste combustion unit.

(6) All 1-hour average flue gas temperatures at the inlet of the particulate matter control device.

(b) Records of average concentrations and percent reductions. Document five parameters:

(1) All 24-hour daily block geometric average concentrations of sulfur dioxide emissions or
average percent reductions of sulfur dioxide emissions.

(2) For Class I municipal waste combustion units only, all 24-hour daily arithmetic average
concentrations of nitrogen oxides emissions.

(3) All 4-hour block or 24-hour daily block arithmetic average concentrations of carbon monoxide
emissions.

(4) All 4-hour block arithmetic average load levels of your municipal waste combustion unit.

(5) All 4-hour block arithmetic average flue gas temperatures at the inlet of the particulate matter
control device.

(c) Records of exceedances. Document three items: -

(1) Calendar dates whenever any of the five pollutant or parameter levels recorded in paragraph (b)
of this section or the opacity level recorded in paragraph (a)(1) of this section did not meet the
emission limits or operating levels specified in this subpart.

(2) Reasons you exceeded the applicable emission limits or operating levels.
(3) Corrective actions you took, or are taking, to meet the emission limits or operating levels.
(d) Records of minimum data. Document three items:

(1) Calendar dates for which you did not collect the minimum amount of data required under
§§60.1260 and 60.1335. Record the dates for five types of pollutants and parameters:

(i) Sulfur dioxide emissions.

(i) For Class I municipal waste combustion units only, nitrogen oxides emissions.

(iii) Carbon monoxide emissions.

(iv) Load levels of your municipal waste combustion unit.

(v) Temperatures of the flue gases at the inlet of the particulate matter control device.

(2) Reasons you did not collect the minimum data.
(3) Corrective actions you took, or are taking, to obtain the required amount of data.

(e) Records of exclusions. Document each time you have excluded data from your calculation of
averages for any of the following five pollutants or parameters and the reasons the data were excluded:

(1) Sulfur dioxide emissions.
(2) For Class I municipal waste combustion units only, nitrogen oxides emissions.

(3) Carbon monoxide emissions.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-87



(4) Load levels of your municipal waste combustion unit.
(5) Temperatures of the flue gases at the inlet of the particulate matter control device.

(f) Records of drift and accuracy. Document the results of your daily drift tests and quarterly
accuracy determinations according to Procedure 1 of appendix F of this part. Keep the records for
the sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides (Class I municipal waste combustion units only), and carbon
monoxide continuous emissions monitoring systems.

(g) Records of the relationship between oxygen and carbon dioxide. If you choose to monitor
carbon dioxide instead of oxygen as a diluent gas, document the relationship between oxygen and
carbon dioxide, as specified in §60.1255.

(h) Records of calendar dates. Include the calendar date on each record.
§ 60.1370 What records must I keep for municipal waste combustion units that use activated carbon?

For municipal waste combustion units that use activated carbon to control dioxins/furans or
mercury emissions, you must keep records of five items:

(a) Records of average carbon feed rate. Document five items:

(1) Average carbon feed rate in kilograms (or pounds) per hour during all stack tests for
dioxins/furans and mercury emissions. Include supporting calculations in the records.

(2) For the operating parameter chosen to monitor carbon feed rate, average operating level during
all stack tests for dioxins/furans and mercury emissions. Include supporting data that document the
relationship between the operating parameter and the carbon feed rate.

(3) All 8-hour block average carbon feed rates in kilograms (or pounds) per hour calculated from
the monitored operating parameter.

(4) Total carbon purchased and delivered to the municipal waste combustion plant for each
calendar quarter. If you choose to evaluate total carbon purchased and delivered on a municipal
waste combustion unit basis, record the total carbon purchased and delivered for each individual
municipal waste combustion unit at your plant. Include supporting documentation.

(5) Required quarterly usage of carbon for the municipal waste combustion plant, calculated using
equation 4 or 5 in §60.1460(f). If you choose to evaluate required quarterly usage for carbon on a
municipal waste combustion unit basis, record the required quarterly usage for each municipal
waste combustion unit at your plant. Include supporting calculations.

(b) Records of low carbon feed rates. Document three items:

(1) The calendar dates when the average carbon feed rate over an 8-hour block was less than the
average carbon feed rates determined during the most recent stack test for dioxins/furans or
mercury emissions (whichever has a higher feed rate).

(2) Reasons for the low carbon feed rates.
(3) Corrective actions you took or are taking to meet the 8-hour average carbon feed rate requirement.
(c) Records of minimum carbon feed rate data. Document three items:

(1) Calendar dates for which you did not collect the minimum amount of carbon feed rate data
required under §60.1335.

(2) Reasons you did not collect the minimum data.
(3) Corrective actions you took or are taking to get the required amount of data.

(d) Records of exclusions. Document each time you have excluded data from your calculation of
average carbon feed rates and the reasons the data were excluded.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-88



(e) Records of calendar dates. Include the calendar date on each record.
Reporting
§ 60.1375 What reports must I submit before I submit my notice of construction?

(a) If you are required to submit an application for a construction permit under 40 CFR part 51,
subpart I, or 40 CFR part 52, you must submit five items by the date you submit your application.
(1) Your draft materials separation plan, as specified in §60.1065.

(2) Your revised materials separation plan, as specified in §60.1085(c).

(3) Your notice of the initial public meeting for your draft materials separation plan, as specified in
§60.1070(b).

(4) A transcript of the initial public meeting, as specified in §60.1080(f).

(5) The document that summarizes your responses to the public comments you received during the
initial public comment period, as specified in §60.1085(a).

(b) If you are not required to submit an application for a construction permit under 40 CFR part 51,
subpart I, or 40 CFR part 52, you must submit the items in paragraph (a) of this section with your
notice of construction.

§ 60.1380 What must I include in my notice of construction?

(a) Include ten items:

(1) A statement of your intent to construct the municipal waste combustion unit.

(2) The planned initial startup date of your municipal waste combustion unit.

(3) The types of fuels you plan to combust in your municipal waste combustion unit.

(4) The capacity of your municipal waste combustion unit including supporting capacity
calculations, as specified in §60.1460(d) and (e).

(5) Your siting analysis, as specified in §60.1125. )

(6) Your final materials separation plan, as specified in §60.1100(b).

(7) Your notice of the second public meeting (siting analysis meeting), as specified in §60.1130(b).
(8) A transcript of the second public meeting, as specified in §60.1140(d).

(9) A copy of the document that summarizes your responses to the public comments you received
during the second public comment period, as specified in §60.1145(a).

(10) Your final siting analysis, as specified in §60.1145(c).

(b) Submit your notice of construction no later than 30 days after you commence construction,
reconstruction, or modification of your municipal waste combustion unit.

§ 60.1385 What reports must I submit after I submit my notice of construction and in what form?

(a) Submit an initial report and annual reports, plus semiannual reports for any emission or
parameter level that does not meet the limits specified in this subpart.

(b) Submit all reports on paper, postmarked on or before the submittal dates in §§60.1395,
60.1405, and 60.1420. If the Administrator agrees, you may submit electronic reports.

(c) Keep a copy of all reports required by §§60.1400, 60.1410, and 60.1425 onsite for 5 years.
§ 60.1390 What are the appropriate units of measurement for reporting my data?

See Tables 1 and 2 of this subpart for appropriate units of measurement.

§ 60.1395 When must I submit the initial report?

As specified in §60.7(c), submit your initial report within 60 days after your municipal waste
combustion unit reaches the maximum load level at which it will operate, but no later than 180
days after its initial startup.

§ 60.1400 What must I include in my initial report?
NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-89



You must include seven items:

(a) The emission levels measured on the date of the initial evaluation of your continuous emission
monitoring systems for all of the following five pollutants or parameters as recorded in accordance
with §60.1365(b).

(1) The 24-hour daily geometric average concentration of sulfur dioxide emissions or the 24-hour
daily geometric percent reduction of sulfur dioxide emissions.

(2) For Class I municipal waste combustion units only, the 24-hour daily arithmetic average
concentration of nitrogen oxides emissions.

(3) The 4-hour block or 24-hour daily arithmetic average concentration of carbon monoxide emissions.
(4) The 4-hour block arithmetic average load level of your municipal waste combustion unit.

(5) The 4-hour block arithmetic average flue gas temperature at the inlet of the particulate matter
control device.

(b) The results of the initial stack tests for eight pollutants or parameters (use appropriatc units as
specified in Table 2 of this subpart):

(1) Dioxins/furans.

(2) Cadmium.

(3) Lead.

(4) Mercury.

(5) Opacity.

(6) Particulate matter.

(7) Hydrogen chloride.

(8) Fugitive ash.

(c) The test report that documents the initial stack tests including supporting calculations.

(d) The initial performance evaluation of your continuous emissions monitoring systems. Use the
applicable performance specifications in appendix B of this part in conducting the evaluation.

(e) The maximum demonstrated load of your municipal waste combustion unit and the maximum
demonstrated temperature of the flue gases at the inlet of the particulate matter control device. Use
values established during your initial stack test for dioxins/furans emissions and include supporting
calculations.

() If your municipal waste combustion unit uses activated carbon to control dioxins/furans or
mercury emissions, the average carbon feed rates that you recorded during the initial stack tests for
dioxins/furans and mercury emissions. Include supporting calculations as specified in
§60.1370(a)(1) and (2).

(g) If you choose to monitor carbon dioxide instead of oxygen as a diluent gas, documentation of
the relationship between oxygen and carbon dioxide, as specified in §60.1255.
§ 60.1405 When must I submit the annual report?

Submit the annual report no later than February 1 of each year that follows the calendar year in
which you collected the data. If you have an operating permit for any unit under title V of the
Clean Air Act (CAA), the permit may require you to submit semiannual reports. Parts 70 and 71 of
this chapter contain program requirements for permits.

§ 60.1410 What must I include in my annual report?

Summarize data collected for all pollutants and parameters regulated under this subpart. Your
summary must include twelve items:

(a) The results of the annual stack test, using appropriate units, for eight pollutants, as recorded
under §60.1360(a):

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-90



(1) Dioxins/furans.

(2) Cadmium.

(3) Lead.

(4) Mercury.

(5) Particulate matter.
(6) Opacity.

(7) Hydrogen chloride.
(8) Fugitive ash.

(b) A List of the highest average levels recorded, in the appropriate units. List the values for five
pollutants or parameters:

(1) Sulfur dioxide emissions.

(2) For Class I municipal waste combustion units only, nitrogen oxides emissions.

(3) Carbon monoxide emissions.

(4) Load level of the municipal waste combustion unit.

(5) Temperature of the flue gases at the inlet of the particulate matter air pollution control device
(4-hour block average).

(c) The highest 6-minute opacity level measured. Base the value on all 6-minute average opacity
levels recorded by your continuous opacity monitoring system (§60.1365(a)(1)).

(d) For municipal waste combustion units that use activated carbon for controlling dioxins/furans
or mercury emissions, include four records:

(1) The average carbon feed rates recorded during the most recent dioxins/furans and mercury
stack tests.

(2) The lowest 8-hour block average carbon feed rate recorded during the year.

(3) The total carbon purchased and delivered to the municipal waste combustion plant for each
calendar quarter. If you choose to evaluate total carbon purchased and delivered on a municipal
waste combustion unit basis, record the total carbon purchased and delivered for each individual
municipal waste combustion unit at your plant.

(4) The required quarterly carbon usage of your municipal waste combustion plant calculated using
equation 4 or 5 in §60.1460(f). If you choose to evaluate required quarterly usage for carbon on a
municipal waste combustion unit basis, record the required quarterly usage for each municipal
waste combustion unit at your plant.

(e) The total number of days that you did not obtain the minimum number of hours of data for six
pollutants or parameters. Include the reasons you did not obtain the data and corrective actions that
you have taken to obtain the data in the future. Include data on:

(1) Sulfur dioxide emissions.

(2) For Class I municipal waste combustion units only, nitrogen oxides emissions.

(3) Carbon monoxide emissions.

(4) Load level of the municipal waste combustion unit.

(5) Temperature of the flue gases at the inlet of the particulate matter air pollution control device.
(6) Carbon feed rate.

() The number of hours you have excluded data from the calculation of average levels (include the
reasons for excluding it). Include data for six pollutants or parameters:

(1) Sulfur dioxide emissions.

(2) For Class I municipal waste combustion units only, nitrogen oxides emissions.

(3) Carbon monoxide emissions.

(4) Load level of the municipal waste combustion unit.

(5) Temperature of the flue gases at the inlet of the particulate matter air pollution control device.
(6) Carbon feed rate.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-91



(g) A notice of your intent to begin a reduced stack testing schedule for dioxins/furans emissions
during the following calendar year, if you are eligible for alternative scheduling (§60.1305(a) or

(b))

(h) A notice of your intent to begin a reduced stack testing schedule for other pollutants during the
following calendar year if you are eligible for alternative scheduling (§60.1305(a)).

(1) A summary of any emission or parameter level that did not meet the limits specified in this
subpart. '

(i) A summary of the data in paragraphs (a) through (d) of this section from the year preceding the
reporting year which gives the Administrator a summary of the performance of the municipal
waste combustion unit over a 2-year period.

(k) If you choose to monitor carbon dioxide instead of oxygen as a diluent gas, documentation of
the relationship between oxygen and carbon dioxide, as specified in §60.1255.

(1) Documentation of periods when all certified chief facility operators and certified shift
supervisors are offsite for more than 12 hours.

§ 60.1415 What must I do if I am out of compliance with the requirements of this subpart?

You must submit a semiannual report on any recorded emission or parameter level that does not
meet the requirements specified in this subpart.

§ 60.1420 If a semiannual report is required, when must I submit it?

(a) For data collected during the first half of a calendar year, submit your semiannual report by
August 1 of that year.

(b) For data you collected during the second half of the calendar year, submit your semiannual
report by February 1 of the following year.

§ 60.1425 What must I include in the semiannual out-of-compliance reports?
You must include three items in the semiannual report:

(a) For any of the following six pollutants or parameters that exceeded the limits specified in this
subpart, include the calendar date they exceeded the limits, the averaged and recorded data for that
date, the reasons for exceeding the limits, and your corrective actions:

(1) Concentration or percent reduction of sulfur dioxide emissions.

(2) For Class I municipal waste combustion units only, concentration of nitrogen oxides emissions.
(3) Concentration of carbon monoxide emissions.

(4) Load level of your municipal waste combustion unit.

(5) Temperature of the flue gases at the inlet of your particulate matter air pollution control device.
(6) Average 6-minute opacity level. The data obtained from your continuous opacity monitoring
system are not used to determine compliance with the limit on opacity emissions.

(b) If the results of your annual stack tests (as recorded in §60.1360(a)) show emissions above the
limits specified in Table 1 of this subpart for dioxins/furans, cadmium, lead, mercury, particulate
matter, opacity, hydrogen chloride, and fugitive ash, include a copy of the test report that
documents the emission levels and your corrective actions.

(c) For municipal waste combustion units that apply activated carbon to control dioxins/furans or
mercury emissions, include two items:

(1) Documentation of all dates when the 8-hour block average carbon feed rate (calculated from
the carbon injection system operating parameter) is less than the highest carbon feed rate
established during the most recent mercury and dioxins/furans stack test (as specified in
§60.1370(a)(1)). Include four items:

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-92



(i) Eight-hour average carbon feed rate.

(11) Reasons for occurrences of low carbon feed rates.

(iii) The corrective actions you have taken to meet the carbon feed rate requirement.
(iv) The calendar date.

(2) Documentation of each quarter when total carbon purchased and delivered to the municipal
waste combustion plant is less than the total required quarterly usage of carbon. If you choose to
evaluate total carbon purchased and delivered on a municipal waste combustion unit basis, record
the total carbon purchased and delivered for each individual municipal waste combustion unit at
your plant. Include five items:

(1) Amount of carbon purchased and delivered to the plant.

(11) Required quarterly usage of carbon.

(iii) Reasons for not meeting the required quarterly usage of carbon.

(iv) The corrective actions you have taken to meet the required quarterly usage of carbon.

(v) The calendar date.

§ 60.1430 Can reporting dates be changed?

(a) If the Administrator agrees, you may change the semiannual or annual reporting dates.
(b) See §60.19(c) for procedures to seek approval to change your reporting date.

Air Curtain Incinerators that Burn 100 Percent Yard Waste

§ 60.1435 What is an air curtain incinerator?

An air curtain incinerator operates by forcefully projecting a curtain of air across an open chamber
or open pit in which combustion occurs. Incinerators of that type can be constructed above or
below ground and with or without refractory walls and floor.

§ 60.1440 What is yard waste?

Yard waste is grass, grass clippings, bushes, shrubs, and clippings from bushes and shrubs. They
come from residential, commercial/retail, institutional, or industrial sources as part of maintaining
yards or other private or public lands. Yard waste does not include two items:

(a) Construction, renovation, and demolition wastes that are exempt from the definition of
“municipal solid waste” in §60.1465.

(b) Clean wood that is exempt from the definition of “municipal solid waste” in §60.1465.

§ 60.1445 What are the emission limits for air curtain incinerators that burn 100 percent yard
waste?

If your air curtain incinerator combusts 100 percent yard waste, you must meet only the emission
limits in this section.

(a) Within 60 days after your air curtain incinerator reaches the maximum load level at which it
will operate, but no later than 180 days after its initial startup, you must meet two limits:

(1) The opacity limit is 10 percent (6-minute average) for air curtain incinerators that can combust
at least 35 tons per day of municipal solid waste and no more than 250 tons per day of municipal
solid waste.

(2) The opacity limit is 35 percent (6-minute average) during the startup period that is within the
first 30 minutes of operation.

(b) Except during malfunctions, the requirements of this subpart apply at all times. Each
malfunction must not exceed 3 hours.

§ 60.1450 How must I monitor opacity for air curtain incinerators that burn 100 percent yard waste?

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-93



(a) Use EPA Reference Method 9 in appendix A of this part to determine compliance with the
opacity limit.

(b) Conduct an initial test for opacity as specified in §60.8.

(c) After the initial test for opacity, conduct annual tests no more than 13 calendar months
following the date of your previous test.

§ 60.1455 What are the recordkeeping and reporting requirements for air curtain incinerators that
burn 100 percent yard waste?

(a) Provide a notice of construction that includes four items:

(1) Your intent to construct the air curtain incinerator.

(2) Your planned initial startup date.

(3) Types of fuels you plan to combust in your air curtain incinerator.

(4) The capacity of your incinerator, including supporting capacity calculations, as specified in
§60.1460(d) and (e).

(b) Keep records of results of all opacity tests onsite in either paper copy or electronic format
unless the Administrator approves another format.

(c) Keep all records for each incinerator for at least 5 years.
(d) Make all records available for submittal to the Administrator or for onsite review by an inspector.

(e) Submit the results (each 6-minute average) of the opacity tests by February 1 of the year
following the year of the opacity emission test.

(f) Submit reports as a paper copy on or before the applicable submittal date. If the Administrator
agrees, you may submit reports on electronic media.

(g) If the Administrator agrees, you may change the annual reporting dates (see §60.19(c)).
(h) Keep a copy of all reports onsite for a period of 5 years.

Equations

§ 60.1460 What equations must I use?

(a) Concentration correction to 7 percent oxygen. Correct any pollutant concentration to 7 percent
oxygen using equation 1 of this section:

C1%= Cunc* (13.9) * (1/(20.9-CO,)) (Eq.1)
Where:

C;%= concentration corrected to 7 percent oxygen.
Cunc= uncorrected pollutant concentration.

CO,= concentration of oxygen (percent).

(b) Percent reduction in potential mercury emissions. Calculate the percent reduction in potential
mercury emissions (%Py,) using equation 2 of this section:

%Pug= (Bi—o) * (100/E;) (Eq. 2)
Where:
%Pug= percent reduction of potential mercury emissions

E= mercury emission concentration as measured at the air pollution control device inlet, corrected
to 7 percent oxygen, dry basis

E,= mercury emission concentration as measured at the air pollution control device outlet,
corrected to 7 percent oxygen, dry basis

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-94



(c) Percent reduction in potential hydrogen chloride emissions. Calculate the percent reduction in
potential hydrogen chloride emissions (%Pyc:) using equation 3 of this section:

%Puci= (Ei~ Eo) * (100/E;) (Eq. 3)
Where:
%Puc1= percent reduction of the potential hydrogen chloride emissions

E= hydrogen chloride emission concentration as measured at the air pollution control device inlet,
corrected to 7 percent oxygen, dry basis

Eo= hydrogen chloride emission concentration as measured at the air pollution control device
outlet, corrected to 7 percent oxygen, dry basis

(d) Capacity of a municipal waste combustion unit. For a municipal waste combustion unit that can
operate continuously for 24-hour periods, calculate the municipal waste combustion unit capacity
based on 24 hours of operation at the maximum charge rate. To determine the maximum charge
rate, use one of two methods:

(1) For municipal waste combustion units with a design based on heat input capacity, calculate the
maximum charging rate based on the maximum heat input capacity and one of two heating values:
(i) If your municipal waste combustion unit combusts refuse-derived fuel, use a heating value of
12,800 kilojoules per kilogram (5,500 British thermal units per pound).

(ii) If your municipal waste combustion unit combusts municipal solid waste, use a heating value
of 10,500 kilojoules per kilogram (4,500 British thermal units per pound).

(2) For municipal waste combustion units with a design not based on heat input capacity, use the
maximum designed charging rate.

(e) Capacity of a batch municipal waste combustion unit. Calculate the capacity of a batch
municipal waste combustion unit as the maximum design amount of municipal solid waste they
can charge per batch multiplied by the maximum number of batches they can process in 24 hours.
Calculate the maximum number of batches by dividing 24 by the number of hours needed to
process one batch. Retain fractional batches in the calculation. For example, if one batch requires
16 hours, the municipal waste combustion unit can combust 24/16, or 1.5 batches, in 24 hours.

() Quarterly carbon usage. If you use activated carbon to comply with the dioxins/furans or
mercury limits, calculate the required quarterly usage of carbon using equation 4 of this section for
plant basis or equation 5 of this section for unit basis:

(1) Plant basis.

C=3f*h (B4

il
Where:
C =required quarterly carbon usage for the plant in kilograms (or pounds).

fi= required carbon feed rate for the municipal waste combustion unit in kilograms (or pounds) per
hour. That is the average carbon feed rate during the most recent mercury or dioxins/furans stack
tests (whichever has a higher feed rate).

h;= number of hours the municipal waste combustion unit was in operation during the calendar
quarter (hours).

n = number of municipal waste combustion units, i, located at your plant.
(2) Unit basis.
C=f*h (Eq. 5)

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-95



Where:
C =required quarterly carbon usage for the unit in kilograms (or pounds).

f=required carbon feed rate for the municipal waste combustion unit in kilograms (or pounds) per
hour. That is the average carbon feed rate during the most recent mercury or dioxins/furans stack
tests (whichever has a higher feed rate).

h = number of hours the municipal waste combustion unit was in operation during the calendar
quarter (hours).

Definitions
§ 60.1465 What definitions must I know?
Terms used but not defined in this section are defined in the CAA and in subparts A and B of this part.

Administrator means the Administrator of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency or his/her
authorized representative or the Administrator of a State Air Pollution Control Agency.

Air curtain incinerator means an incinerator that operates by forcefully projecting a curtain of air
across an open chamber or pit in which combustion occurs. Incinerators of that type can be
constructed above or below ground and with or without refractory walls and floor.

Batch municipal waste combustion unit means a municipal waste combustion unit designed so it
cannot combust municipal solid waste continuously 24 hours per day because the design does not
allow waste to be fed to the unit or ash to be removed during combustion.

Calendar quarter means three consecutive months (nonoverlapping) beginning on: January 1,
April 1, July 1, or October 1.

Calendar year means 365 (or 366 consecutive days for leap years) consecutive days starting on
January 1 and ending on December 31.

Chief facility operator means the person in direct charge and control of the operation of a
municipal waste combustion unit. That person is responsible for daily onsite supervision, technical
direction, management, and overall performance of the municipal waste combustion unit.

Class I units mean small municipal waste combustion units subject to this subpart that are located
at municipal waste combustion plants with an aggregate plant combustion capacity greater than
250 tons per day of municipal solid waste. See the definition in this section of “municipal waste
combustion plant capacity” for specification of which units at a plant site are included in the
aggregate capacity calculation.

Class II units mean small municipal waste combustion units subject to this subpart that are located
at municipal waste combustion plants with an aggregate plant combustion capacity less than or
equal to 250 tons per day of municipal solid waste. See the definition in this section of “municipal
waste combustion plant capacity” for specification of which units at a plant site are included in the
aggregate capacity calculation.

Clean wood means untreated wood or untreated wood products including clean untreated lumber,
tree stumps (whole or chipped), and tree limbs (whole or chipped). Clean wood does not include
two items:

(1) “Yard waste,” which is defined elsewhere in this section.

(2) Construction, renovation, or demolition wastes (for example, railroad ties and telephone poles)
that are exempt from the definition of “municipal solid waste” in this section.

Co-fired combustion unit means a unit that combusts municipal solid waste with nonmunicipal
solid waste fuel (for example, coal, industrial process waste). To be considered a co-fired
combustion unit, the unit must be subject to a federally enforceable permit that limits it to

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-96



combusting a fuel feed stream which is 30 percent or less (by weight) municipal solid waste as
measured each calendar quarter.

Continuous burning means the continuous, semicontinuous, or batch feeding of municipal solid
waste to dispose of the waste, produce energy, or provide heat to the combustion system in
preparation for waste disposal or energy production. Continuous burning does not mean the use of
municipal solid waste solely to thermally protect the grate or hearth during the startup period when
municipal solid waste is not fed to the grate or hearth.

Continuous emission monitoring system means a monitoring system that continuously measures
the emissions of a pollutant from a municipal waste combustion unit.

Dioxins/furans mean tetra- through octachlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans.

Eight-hour block average means the average of all hourly emission concentrations or parameter
levels when the municipal waste combustion unit operates and combusts municipal solid waste
measured over any of three 8-hour periods of time:

(1) 12:00 midnight to 8:00 a.m.

(2) 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m.

(3) 4:00 p.m. to 12:00 midnight.

Federally enforceable means all limits and conditions the Administrator can enforce (including the
requirements of 40 CFR parts 60, 61, and 63), requirements in a State's implementation plan, and any
permit requirements established under 40 CFR 52.21 or under 40 CFR 51.18 and 40 CFR 51.24.

First calendar half means the period that starts on January 1 and ends on June 30 in any year.

Fluidized bed combustion unit means a unit where municipal waste is combusted in a fluidized bed
of material. The fluidized bed material may remain in the primary combustion zone or may be
carried out of the primary combustion zone and returned through a recirculation loop.

Four-hour block average or 4-hour block average means the average of all hourly emission
concentrations or parameter levels when the municipal waste combustion unit operates and
combusts municipal solid waste measured over any of six 4-hour periods:

(1) 12:00 midnight to 4:00 a.m.

(2) 4:00 a.m. to 8:00 a.m.

(3) 8:00 a.m. to 12:00 noon.

(4) 12:00 noon to 4:00 p.m.

(5) 4:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m.

(6) 8:00 p.m. to 12:00 midnight.

Mass burn refractory municipal waste combustion unit means a field-erected municipal waste
combustion unit that combusts municipal solid waste in a refractory wall furnace. Unless otherwise
specified, that includes municipal waste combustion units with a cylindrical rotary refractory wall
furnace.

Mass burn rotary waterwall municipal waste combustion unit means a field-erected municipal waste
combustion unit that combusts municipal solid waste in a cylindrical rotary waterwall furnace.

Mass burn waterwall municipal waste combustion unit means a field-erected municipal waste
combustion unit that combusts municipal solid waste in a waterwall furnace.

Materials separation plan means a plan that identifies a goal and an approach for separating certain
components of municipal solid waste for a given service area in order to make the separated
materials available for recycling. A materials separation plan may include three items:

(1) Elements such as dropoff facilities, buy-back or deposit-return incentives, curbside pickup
programs, or centralized mechanical separation systems.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-97



(2) Different goals or approaches for different subareas in the service area.
(3) No materials separation activities for certain subareas or, if warranted, the entire service area.

Maximum demonstrated load of a municipal waste combustion unit means the highest 4-hour
block arithmetic average municipal waste combustion unit load achieved during 4 consecutive
hours in the course of the most recent dioxins/furans stack test that demonstrates compliance with
the applicable emission limit for dioxins/furans specified in this subpart.

Maximum demonstrated temperature of the particulate matter control device means the highest 4-
hour block arithmetic average flue gas temperature measured at the inlet of the particulate matter
control device during 4 consecutive hours in the course of the most recent stack test for
dioxins/furans emissions that demonstrates compliance with the limits specified in this subpart.

Medical/infectious waste means any waste meeting the definition of “medical/infectious waste” in
§60.51c of subpart E, of this part.

Mixed fuel-fired (pulverized coal/refuse-derived fuel) combustion unit means a combustion unit
that combusts coal and refuse-derived fuel simultaneously, in which pulverized coal is introduced
into an air stream that carries the coal to the combustion chamber of the unit where it is combusted
in suspension. That includes both conventional pulverized coal and micropulverized coal.

Modification or modified municipal waste combustion unit means a municipal waste combustion
unit you have changed after June 6, 2001 and that meets one of two criteria:

(1) The cumulative cost of the changes over the life of the unit exceeds 50 percent of the original
cost of building and installing the unit (not including the cost of land) updated to current costs.

(2) Any physical change in the municipal waste combustion unit or change in the method of
operating it that increases the emission level of any air pollutant for which new source
performance standards have been established under section 129 or section 111 of the CAA.
Increases in the emission level of any air pollutant are determined when the municipal waste
combustion unit operates at 100 percent of its physical load capability and are measured
downstream of all air pollution control devices. Load restrictions based on permits or other
nonphysical operational restrictions cannot be considered in the determination.

Modular excess-air municipal waste combustion unit means a municipal waste combustion unit
that combusts municipal solid waste, is not field-erected, and has multiple combustion chambers,
all of which are designed to operate at conditions with combustion air amounts in excess of
theoretical air requirements.

Modular starved-air municipal waste combustion unit means a municipal waste combustion unit
that combusts municipal solid waste, is not field-erected, and has multiple combustion chambers in
which the primary combustion chamber is designed to operate at substoichiometric conditions.

Municipal solid waste or municipal-type solid waste means household, commercial/retail, or
institutional waste. Household waste includes material discarded by residential dwellings, hotels,
motels, and other similar permanent or temporary housing. Commercial/retail waste includes
material discarded by stores, offices, restaurants, warehouses, nonmanufacturing activities at
industrial facilities, and other similar establishments or facilities. Institutional waste includes
materials discarded by schools, by hospitals (nonmedical), by nonmanufacturing activities at
prisons and government facilities, and other similar establishments or facilities. Household,
commercial/retail, and institutional waste does include yard waste and refuse-derived fuel.
Household, commercial/retail, and institutional waste does not include used oil; sewage sludge;
wood pallets; construction, renovation, and demolition wastes (which include railroad ties and
telephone poles); clean wood; industrial process or manufacturing wastes; medical waste; or motor
vehicles (including motor vehicle parts or vehicle fluff).

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-98



Municipal waste combustion plant means one or more municipal waste combustion units at the
same location as specified under Applicability (§60.1015(a)and (b)).

Municipal waste combustion plant capacity means the aggregate municipal waste combustion
capacity of all municipal waste combustion units at the plant that are subject to subparts Ea or Eb
of this part, or this subpart.

Municipal waste combustion unit means any setting or equipment that combusts solid, liquid, or
gasified municipal solid waste including, but not limited to, field-erected combustion units (with or
without heat recovery), modular combustion units (starved-air or excess-air), boilers (for example,
steam generating units), furnaces (whether suspension-fired, grate-fired, mass-fired, air curtain
incinerators, or fluidized bed-fired), and pyrolysis/combustion units. Two criteria further define
municipal waste combustion units:

(1) Municipal waste combustion units do not include pyrolysis or combustion units located at a
plastics or rubber recycling unit as specified under Applicability (§60.1020(h) and (i)). Municipal
waste combustion units also do not include cement kilns that combust municipal solid waste as
specified under Applicability (§60.1020(j)). Municipal waste combustion units also do not include
internal combustion engines, gas turbines, or other combustion devices that combust landfill gases
collected by landfill gas collection systems.

(2) The boundaries of a municipal waste combustion unit are defined as follows. The municipal
waste combustion unit includes, but is not limited to, the municipal solid waste fuel feed system,
grate system, flue gas system, bottom ash system, and the combustion unit water system. The
municipal waste combustion unit does not include air pollution control equipment, the stack, water
treatment equipment, or the turbine-generator set. The municipal waste combustion unit boundary
starts at the municipal solid waste pit or hopper and extends through three areas:

(i) The combustion unit flue gas system, which ends immediately after the heat recovery
equipment or, if there is no heat recovery equipment, immediately after the combustion chamber.
(i1) The combustion unit bottom ash system, which ends at the truck loading station or similar
equipment that transfers the ash to final disposal. It includes all ash handling systems connected to
the bottom ash handling system.

(iii) The combustion unit water system, which starts at the feed water pump and ends at the piping
that exits the steam drum or superheater.

Particulate matter means total particulate matter emitted from municipal waste combustion units as
measured using EPA Reference Method S in appendix A of this part and the procedures specified
in §60.1300.

Plastics or rubber recycling unit means an integrated processing unit for which plastics, rubber, or
rubber tires are the only feed materials (incidental contaminants may be in the feed materials). The
feed materials are processed and marketed to become input feed stock for chemical plants or
petroleum refineries. The following three criteria further define a plastics or rubber recycling unit:

(1) Each calendar quarter, the combined weight of the feed stock that a plastics or rubber recycling
unit produces must be more than 70 percent of the combined weight of the plastics, rubber, and
rubber tires that recycling unit processes.

(2) The plastics, rubber, or rubber tires fed to the recycling unit may originate from separating or
diverting plastics, rubber, or rubber tires from municipal or industrial solid waste. The feed
materials may include manufacturing scraps, trimmings, and off-specification plastics, rubber, and
rubber tire discards.

(3) The plastics, rubber, and rubber tires fed to the recycling unit may contain incidental
contaminants (for example, paper labels on plastic bottles or metal rings on plastic bottle caps).

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-99



Potential hydrogen chloride emissions means the level of emissions from a municipal waste
combustion unit that would occur from combusting municipal solid waste without emission
controls for acid gases.

Potential mercury emissions means the level of emissions from a municipal waste combustion unit
that would occur from combusting municipal solid waste without controls for mercury emissions.

Potential sulfur dioxide emissions means the level of emissions from a municipal waste
combustion unit that would occur from combusting municipal solid waste without emission
controls for acid gases.

Pyrolysis/combustion unit means a unit that produces gases, liquids, or solids by heating municipal
solid waste. The gases, liquids, or solids produced are combusted and the emissions vented to the
atmosphere.

Reconstruction means rebuilding a municipal waste combustion unit and meeting two criteria:
(1) The reconstruction begins after June 6, 2001.

(2) The cumulative cost of the construction over the life of the unit exceeds 50 percent of the
original cost of building and installing the municipal waste combustion unit (not including land)
updated to current costs (current dollars). To determine what systems are within the boundary of
the municipal waste combustion unit used to calculate those costs, see the definition in this section
of “municipal waste combustion unit.”

Refractory unit or refractory wall furnace means a municipal waste combustion unit that has no energy
recovery (such as through a waterwall) in the furnace of the municipal waste combustion unit.

Refuse-derived fuel means a type of municipal solid waste produced by processing municipal solid
waste through shredding and size classification. That includes all classes of refuse-derived fuel
including two fuels:

(1) Low-density fluff refuse-derived fuel through densified refuse-derived fuel.
(2) Pelletized refuse-derived fuel.

Same location means the same or contiguous properties under common ownership or control,
including those separated only by a street, road, highway, or other public right-of-way. Common
ownership or control includes properties that are owned, leased, or operated by the same entity,
parent entity, subsidiary, subdivision, or any combination thereof. Entities may include a
municipality, other governmental unit, or any quasi-governmental authority (for example, a public
utility district or regional authority for waste disposal).

Second calendar half means the period that starts on July 1 and ends on December 31 in any year.

Shift supervisor means the person who is in direct charge and control of operating a municipal waste
combustion unit and who is responsible for onsite supervision, technical direction, management, and
overall performance of the municipal waste combustion unit during an assigned shift.

Spreader stoker, mixed fuel-fired (coal/refuse-derived fuel) combustion unit means a municipal
waste combustion unit that combusts coal and refuse-derived fuel simultaneously, in which coal is
introduced to the combustion zone by a mechanism that throws the fuel onto a grate from above.
Combustion takes place both in suspension and on the grate.

Standard conditions when referring to units of measure mean a temperature of 20 °C and a
pressure of 101.3 kilopascals.

Startup period means the period when a municipal waste combustion unit begins the continuous
combustion of municipal solid waste. It does not include any warmup period during which the

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-100



municipal waste combustion unit combusts fossil fuel or other solid waste fuel but receives no
municipal solid waste.

Stoker (refuse-derived fuel) combustion unit means a steam generating unit that combusts refuse-
derived fuel in a semisuspension combusting mode, using air-fed distributors.

Total mass dioxins/furans or total mass means the total mass of tetra-through octachlorinated
dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans as determined using EPA Reference Method 23 in appendix
A of this part and the procedures specified in §60.1300.

Twenty-four hour daily average or 24-hour daily average means either the arithmetic mean or
geometric mean (as specified) of all hourly emission concentrations when the municipal waste
combustion unit operates and combusts municipal solid waste measured during the 24 hours
between 12:00 midnight and the following midnight.

Untreated lumber means wood or wood products that have been cut or shaped and include wet, air-
dried, and kiln-dried wood products. Untreated lumber does not include wood products that have
been painted, pigment-stained, or pressure-treated by compounds such as chromate copper
arsenate, pentachlorophenol, and creosote.

Waterwall furnace means a municipal waste combustion unit that has energy (heat) recovery in the
furnace (for example, radiant heat transfer section) of the combustion unit.

Yard waste means grass, grass clippings, bushes, shrubs, and clippings from bushes and shrubs.
They come from residential, commercial/retail, institutional, or industrial sources as part of
maintaining yards or other private or public lands. Yard waste does not include two items:

(1) Construction, renovation, and demolition wastes that are exempt from the definition of
“municipal solid waste” in this section.

(2) Clean wood that is exempt from the definition of “municipal solid waste” in this section.

Table 1 to Subpart AAAA of Part 60—Emission Limits for New Small Municipal Waste
Combustion Units

Using the
following And determine
You must meet the averaging compliance by the
For the following pollutants following emission limits® times following methods
1. Organics
Dioxins/Furans (total 13 nanograms per dry standard [3-run average [Stack test.
mass basis) cubic meter (minimum run
duration is 4
hours)
2. Metals:
Cadmium 0.020 milligrams per dry 3-run average |[Stack test.
standard cubic meter (run duration
specified in
test method)

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-10t



Lead 0.20 milligrams  |3-run average [Stack test.
per dry standard |(run duration
cubic meter specified in
test method)
Mercury 0.080 milligrams |3-run average [Stack test.
per dry standard |(run duration
cubic meter or 85 [specified in
percent reduction jtest method)
of potential
mercury emissions
Opacity 10 percent Thirty 6- Stack test.
minute
averages
Particulate Matter 24 milligrams per |3-run average [Stack test.
dry standard cubic |(run duration
meter specified in
test method)
3. Acid Gases:
Hydrogen Chloride 25 parts per 3-run average {Stack test
million by dry (minimum run
volume or 95 duration is 1
percent reduction |[hour)
of potential
hydrogen chloride
emissions

Nitrogen Oxides (Class I units)®

150 (180 for 1st
year of operation)

24-hour daily
block

Continuous emission
monitoring system.

parts per million [arithmetic
by dry volume average
concentration
Nitrogen Oxides (Class II units)* 500 parts per See footnote?  [See footnote®
million by dry
volume
Sulfur Dioxide 30 parts per 24-hour daily |Continuous
million by dry block monitoring emission
volume or 80 geometric system.
percent reduction |average
of potential sulfur [concentration
dioxide emissions |or percent
reduction
4. Other:
Fugitive Ash Visible emissions |Three 1-hour [Visible emission test.
for no more than 5{observation
percent of hourly |periods

observation period

All emission limits (except for opacity) are measured at 7 percent oxygen.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE

C-102



®Class I units mean small municipal waste combustion units subject to this subpart that are located
at municipal waste combustion plants with an aggregate plant combustion capacity more than 250
tons per day of municipal solid waste. See §60.1465 for definitions.

°Class II units mean small municipal waste combustion units subject to this subpart that are located
at municipal waste combustion plants with an aggregate plant combustion capacity no more than
250 tons per day of municipal solid waste. See §60.1465 for definitions.

No monitoring, testing, recordkeeping, or reporting is required to demonstrate compliance with
the nitrogen oxides limit for Class II units.

Table 2 to Subpart AAAA of Part 60—Carbon Monoxide Emission Limits for New Small
Municipal Waste Combustion Units

For the following municipal waste You must meet the following carbon || Using the following
combustion units monoxide limits® averaging times®
1. Fluidized-bed 100 parts per million by dry volume [4-hour.

2. Fluidized bed, mixed fuel, (wood/refuse- {200 parts per million by dry volume [24-hour.
derived fuel)

3. Mass burn rotary refractory 100 parts per million by dry volume [4-hour.
4. Mass burn rotary waterwall 100 parts per million by dry volume {24-hour.
5. Mass burn waterwall and refractory 100 parts per million by dry volume [4-hour.

6. Mixed fuel-fired (pulverized coal/refuse- [|150 parts per million by dry volume [4-hour.
derived fuel)

7. Modular starved-air and excess air 50 parts per million by dry volume [[4-hour.

8. Spreader stoker, mixed fuel-fired 150 parts per million by dry volume {24-hour daily.
(coal/refuse-derived fuel)

9. Stoker, refuse-derived fuel 150 parts per million by dry volume ||24-hour daily.

*All limits (except for opacity) are measured at 7 percent oxygen. Compliance is determined by
continuous emission monitoring systems.

®Block averages, arithmetic mean. See §60.1465 for definitions.
“24-hour block average, geometric mean. See §60.1465 for definitions.

Table 3 of Subpart AAAA to Part 60—Requirements for Validating Continuous Emission
Monitoring Systems (CEMS)

For the following Use the following methods in appendix Use the following methods in
continuous emission A of this part to validate pollutant appendix A of this part to measure
monitoring systems concentration levels oxygen (or carbon dioxide)

1. Nitrogen Oxides (Class I[Method 7, 7A, 7B, 7C, 7D, or 7E Method 3 or 3A.
units only)®

2. Sulfur Dioxide Method 6 or 6C Method 3 or 3A.
3. Carbon Monoxide Method 10, 10A, or 10B Method 3 or 3A.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-103



*Class I units mean small municipal waste combustion units subject to this subpart that are located
at municipal waste combustion plants with an aggregate plant combustion capacity more than 250
tons per day of municipal solid waste. See §60.1465 for definitions.

Table 4 of Subpart AAAA to Part 60—Requirements for Continuous Emission Monitoring

Systems (CEMS)
Use the following || If needed to meet minimum
performance data requirements, use the
For the specifications in following alternate methods
following [ Use the following span values for |lappendix B of this part{| in appendix A of this part to
pollutants your CEMS for your CEMS collect data
1. Opacity 100 percent opacity P.S. 1 Method 9.
2. Nitrogen  [|Control device outlet: 125 percent [[P.S. 2 Method 7E.
Oxides (Class [[of the maximum expected hourly
I units only)® (potential nitrogen oxides
emissions of the municipal waste
combustion unit
3. Sulfur Inlet to control device: 125 P.S.2 Method 6C.
Dioxide percent of the maximum
expected sulfur dioxide
emissions of the municipal
waste combustion unit. Control
device outlet: 50 percent of the
maximum expected hourly
potential sulfur dioxide
emissions of the municipal
waste combustion unit
4. Carbon 125 percent of the maximum  [[P.S. 4A Method 10 altemnative
Monoxide [expected hourly potential interference trap.
carbon with monoxide
emissions of the municipal
waste combustion unit
5. Oxygen or |25 percent oxygen or 25 PS.3 Method 3A or 3B.
Carbon percent carbon dioxide
Dioxide

*Class I units mean small municipal waste combustion units subject to this subpart that are located
at municipal waste combustion plants with an aggregate plant combustion capacity more than 250
tons per day of municipal solid waste. See §60.1465 for definitions.

Table 5 of Subpart AAAA to Part 60—Requirements for Stack Tests

To measure the following
pollutants

Use the following
methods in appendix
A of this part to
determine the
sampling location

Use the methods in appendix A of
this part to measure pollutant

concentration

Also note the following
additional information

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE

C-104




1. Organics:

Dioxins/Furans

Method 1

Method 23*

The minimum sampling
time must be 4 hours per
test run while the
municipal waste
combustion unit is
operating at full load.

2. Metals:

Cadmium

Method 1

Method 29°

Compliance testing
must be performed
while the municipal
waste combustion unit
is operating at full
load.

Lead

Method 1

Method 29?

Compliance testing
must be performed
while the municipal
waste combustion unit
is operating at full
load.

Mercury

Method 1

Method 29°

Compliance testing
must be performed
while the municipal
waste combustion unit
is operating at full
load.

Opacity

Method 9

Method 9

Use Method 9 to
determine compliance
with opacity limit. 3-
hour observation
period (thirty 6-minute

averages).

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE

C-105




Particulate
Matter

Method 1

Method 5°

The minimum sample
Matter volume must be
1.0 cubic meters. The
probe and filter holder
heating systems in the
sample train must be
set to provide a gas
temperature no greater
than 160 £14°C. The
minimum sampling
time is 1 hour.

3. Acid Gases:®

Hydrogen
Chloride

Method 1

Method 26 or 26A*

Test runs must be at
least 1 hour long while
the municipal waste
combustion unit is
operating at full load.

4. Other:"

Fugitive Ash

Not applicable

Method 22 (visible emissions)

The three 1-hour
observation period
must include periods
when the facility
transfers fugitive ash
from the municipal
waste combustion unit
to the area where the
fugitive ash is stored
or loaded into

containers or trucks.

*Must simultaneously measure oxygen (or carbon dioxide) using Method 3A or 3B in appendix A

of this part.

bUse CEMS to test sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxide, and carbon monoxide. Stack tests are not
required except for quality assurance requirements in Appendix F of this part.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE

C-106




Subpart CCCC—Standards of Performance for Commercial and Industrial Solid Waste
Incineration Units for Which Construction Is Commenced After November 30, 1999 or for
Which Modification or Reconstruction Is Commenced on or After June 1, 2001

Electronic Code of Federal Regulations (e-CFR) current as of March 29, 2007 - Title 40:
Protection of Environment, Part 60-Standards Of Performance For New Stationary Sources

Source: 65 FR 75350, Dec. 1, 2000, unless otherwise noted.

Introduction
§ 60.2000 What does this subpart do?

This subpart establishes new source performance standards for commercial and industrial solid
waste incineration (CISWTI) units.

§ 60.2005 When does this subpart become effective?

This subpart takes effect on June 1, 2001. Some of the requirements in this subpart apply to
planning the CISWT unit and must be completed even before construction is initiated on the CISWI
unit (i.e., the preconstruction requirements in §§60.2045 and 60.2050). Other requirements such as
the emission limitations and operating limits apply after the CISWT unit begins operation.

Applicability
§ 60.2010 Does this subpart apply to my incineration unit?

Yes, if your incineration unit meets all the requirements specified in paragraphs (a) through (c) of
this section.

(a) Your incineration unit is a new incineration unit as defined in §60.2015.
(b) Your incineration unit is a CISWI unit as defined in §60.2265.
(c) Your incineration unit is not exempt under §60.2020.

§ 60.2015 What is a new incineration unit?

(a) A new incineration unit is an incineration unit that meets either of the two criteria specified in
paragraph (a)(1) or (2) of this section.

(1) Commenced construction after November 30, 1999.

(2) Commenced reconstruction or modification on or after June 1, 2001.

(b) This subpart does not affect your incineration unit if you make physical or operational changes
to your incineration unit primarily to comply with the emission guidelines in subpart DDDD of this
part (Emission Guidelines and Compliance Times for Commercial and Industrial Solid Waste
Incineration Units). Such changes do not qualify as reconstruction or modification under this
subpart.

§ 60.2020 What combustion units are exempt from this subpart?
This subpart exempts fifteen types of units described in paragraphs (a) through (o) of this section.

(a) Pathological waste incineration units. Incineration units burning 90 percent or more by weight
(on a calendar quarter basis and excluding the weight of auxiliary fuel and combustion air) of
pathological waste, low-level radioactive waste, and/or chemotherapeutic waste as defined in
§60.2265 are not subject to this subpart if you meet the two requirements specified in paragraphs
(a)(1) and (2) of this section.

(1) Notify the Administrator that the unit meets these criteria.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-107



(2) Keep records on a calendar quarter basis of the weight of pathological waste, low-level
radioactive waste, and/or chemotherapeutic waste burned, and the weight of all other fuels and
wastes burned in the unit.

(b) Agricultural waste incineration units. Incineration units burning 90 percent or more by weight
(on a calendar quarter basis and excluding the weight of auxiliary fuel and combustion air) of
agricultural wastes as defined in §60.2265 are not subject to this subpart if you meet the two
requirements specified in paragraphs (b)(1) and (2) of this section.

(1) Notify the Administrator that the unit meets these criteria.

(2) Keep records on a calendar quarter basis of the weight of agricultural waste burned, and the
weight of all other fuels and wastes burned in the unit.

(c) Municipal waste combustion units. Incineration units that meet either of the two criteria
specified in paragraph (c)(1) or (2) of this section.

(1) Are regulated under subpart Ea of this part (Standards of Performance for Municipal Waste
Combustors); subpart Eb of this part (Standards of Performance for Municipal Waste Combustors
for Which Construction is Commenced After September 20, 1994); subpart Cb of this part
(Emission Guidelines and Compliance Time for Large Municipal Combustors that are. Constructed
on or Before September 20, 1994); AAAA of this part (Standards of Performance for New
Stationary Sources: Small Municipal Waste Combustion Units); or subpart BBBB of this part
(Emission Guidelines for Existing Stationary Sources: Small Municipal Waste Combustion Units).

(2) Burn greater than 30 percent municipal solid waste or refuse-derived fuel, as defined in subpart
Ea, subpart Eb, subpart AAAA, and subpart BBBB of this part, and that have the capacity to burn
less than 35 tons (32 megagrams) per day of municipal solid waste or refuse-derived fuel, if you
meet the two requirements in paragraphs (c)(2)(i) and (ii) of this section. .

(i) Notify the Administrator that the unit meets these criteria.

(ii) Keep records on a calendar quarter basis of the weight of municipal solid waste burned, and the
weight of all other fuels and wastes burned in the unit.

(d) Medical waste incineration units. Incineration units regulated under subpart Ec of this part
(Standards of Performance for Hospital/Medical/Infectious Waste Incinerators for Which
Construction is Commenced After June 20, 1996) or subpart Ce of this part (Emission Guidelines
and Compliance Times for Hospital/Medical/Infectious Waste Incinerators).

(e) Small power production facilities. Units that meet the three requirements specified in
paragraphs (e)(1) through (3) of this section.

(1) The unit qualifies as a small power-production facility under section 3(17)(C) of the Federal
Power Act (16 U.S.C. 796(17)(C)).

(2) The unit burns homogeneous waste (not including refuse-derived fuel) to produce electricity.
(3) You notify the Administrator that the unit meets all of these criteria.

(f) Cogeneration facilities. Units that meet the three requirements specified in paragraphs (f)(1)
through (3) of this section.

(1) The unit qualifies as a cogeneration facility under section 3(18)(B) of the Federal Power Act
(16 U.S.C. 796(18)(B)).

(2) The unit burns homogeneous waste (not including refuse-derived fuel) to produce electricity
and steam or other forms of energy used for industrial, commercial, heating, or cooling purposes.
(3) You notify the Administrator that the unit meets all of these criteria.

(g) Hazardous waste combustion units. Units that meet either of the two criteria specified in
paragraph (g)(1) or (2) of this section.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-108



(1) Units for which you are required to get a permit under section 3005 of the Solid Waste
Disposal Act.

(2) Units regulated under subpart EEE of 40 CFR part 63 (National Emission Standards for
Hazardous Air Pollutants from Hazardous Waste Combustors).

(h) Materials recovery units. Units that combust waste for the primary purpose of recovering
metals, such as primary and secondary smelters.

(i) Air curtain incinerators. Air curtain incinerators that burn only the materials listed in paragraphs
(1)(1) through (3) of this section are only required to meet the requirements under “Air Curtain
Incinerators™ (§§60.2245 through 60.2260).

(1) 100 percent wood waste.
(2) 100 percent clean lumber.
(3) 100 percent mixture of only wood waste, clean lumber, and/or yard waste.

(4) Cyclonic barrel burners. (See §60.2265)
(k) Rack, part, and drum reclamation units. (See §60.2265)

(1) Cement kilns. Kilns regulated under subpart LLL of part 63 of this chapter (National Emission
Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants from the Portland Cement Manufacturing Industry).

(m) Sewage sludge incinerators. Incineration units regulated under subpart O of this part
(Standards of Performance for Sewage Treatment Plants).

(n) Chemical recovery units. Combustion units burning materials to recover chemical constituents
or to produce chemical compounds where there is an existing commercial market for such
recovered chemical constituents or compounds. The seven types of units described in paragraphs
(n)(1) through (7) of this section are considered chemical recovery units.

(1) Units burning only pulping liquors ( i.e., black liquor) that are reclaimed in a pulping liquor
recovery process and reused in the pulping process.

(2) Units burning only spent sulfuric acid used to produce virgin sulfuric acid.

(3) Units burning only wood or coal feedstock for the production of charcoal.

(4) Units burning only manufacturing byproduct streams/residues containing catalyst metals which
are reclaimed and reused as catalysts or used to produce commercial grade catalysts.

(5) Units burning only coke to produce purified carbon monoxide that is used as an intermediate in
the production of other chemical compounds.

(6) Units burning only hydrocarbon liquids or solids to produce hydrogen, carbon monoxide,
synthesis gas, or other gases for use in other manufacturing processes.

(7) Units burning only photographic film to recover silver.

(o) Laboratory Analysis Units. Units that burn samples of materials for the purpose of chemical or
physical analysis.

§ 60.2025 What if my chemical recovery unit is not listed in §60.2020(n)?

(a) If your chemical recovery unit is not listed in §60.2020(n), you can petition the Administrator
to add your unit to the list. The petition must contain the six items in paragraphs (a)(1) through (6)
of this section.

(1) A description of the source of the materials being burned.

(2) A description of the composition of the materials being burned, highlighting the chemical
constituents in these materials that are recovered. _

(3) A description (including a process flow diagram) of the process in which the materials are
burned, highlighting the type, design, and operation of the equipment used in this process.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-109



(4) A description (including a process flow diagram) of the chemical constituent recovery process,
highlighting the type, design, and operation of the equipment used in this process.

(5) A description of the commercial markets for the recovered chemical constituents and their use.
(6) The composition of the recovered chemical constituents and the composition of these chemical
constituents as they are bought and sold in commercial markets.

(b) Until the Administrator approves your petition, the incineration unit is covered by this subpart.

(c) If a petition is approved, the Administrator will amend §60.2020(n) to add the unit to the list of
chemical recovery units.

§ 60.2030 Who implements and enforces this subpart?

(a) This subpart can be implemented and enforced by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA), or a delegated authority such as your State, local, or tribal agency. If the EPA
Administrator has delegated authority to your State, local, or tribal agency, then that agency (as
well as EPA) has the authority to implement and enforce this subpart. You should contact your
EPA Regional Office to find out if this subpart is delegated to your State, local, or tribal agency.

(b) In delegating implementation and enforcement authority of this subpart to a State, local, or
tribal agency, the authorities contained in paragraph (c) of this section are retained by the EPA
Administrator and are not transferred to the State, local, or tribal agency.

(c) The authorities that will not be delegated to State, local, or tribal agencies are specified in
paragraphs (c)(1) through (7) of this section.

(1) Approval of alternatives to the emission limitations in Table 1 of this subpart and operating
limits established under §60.2110.

(2) Approval of major alternatives to test methods.

(3) Approval of major alternatives to monitoring.

(4) Approval of major alternatives to recordkeeping and reporting.
(5) The requirements in §60.2025.

(6) The requirements in §60.2115.

(7) The requirements in §60.2100(b)(2).

§ 60.2035 How are these new source performance standards structured?

These new source performance standards contain the eleven major components listed in
paragraphs () through (k) of this section.

(a) Preconstruction siting analysis.

(b) Waste management plan.

(c) Operator training and qualification.
(d) Emission limitations and operating limits.
(e) Performance testing.

(f) Initial compliance requirements.

(g) Continuous compliance requirements.
(h) Monitoring.

(i) Recordkeeping and reporting.

(j) Definitions.

(k) Tables.

§ 60.2040 Do all eleven components of these new source performance standards apply at the
same time?

No. You must meet the preconstruction siting analysis and waste management plan requirements
before you commence construction of the CISWI unit. The operator training and qualification,

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-110



emission limitations, operating limits, performance testing and compliance, monitoring, and most
recordkeeping and reporting requirements are met after the CISWT unit begins operation.

Preconstruction Siting Analysis
§ 60.2045 Who must prepare a siting analysis?

(2) You must prepare a siting analysis if you plan to commence construction of a CISWI unit after
December 1, 2000.

(b) You must prepare a siting analysis if you are required to submit an initial application for a
construction permit under 40 CFR part 51, subpart I, or 40 CFR part 52, as applicable, for the
reconstruction or modification of your CISWI unit.

§ 60.2050 What is a siting analysis?

(2) The siting analysis must consider air pollution control alternatives that minimize, on a site-
specific basis, to the maximum extent practicable, potential risks to public health or the
environment. In considering such alternatives, the analysis may consider costs, energy impacts,
nonair environmental impacts, or any other factors related to the practicability of the alternatives.

(b) Analyses of your CISWI unit's impacts that are prepared to comply with State, local, or other
Federal regulatory requirements may be used to satisfy the requirements of this section, provided they
include the consideration of air pollution control alternatives specified in paragraph (a) of this section.

(c) You must complete and submit the siting requirements of this section as required under
§60.2190(c) prior to commencing construction.

Waste Management Plan
§ 60.2055 What is a waste management plan?

A waste management plan is a written plan that identifies both the feasibility and the methods used
to reduce or separate certain components of solid waste from the waste stream in order to reduce or
eliminate toxic emissions from incinerated waste.

§ 60.2060 When must I submit my waste management plan?
You must submit a waste management plan prior to commencing construction.
§ 60.2065 What should I include in my waste management plan?

A waste management plan must include consideration of the reduction or separation of waste-stream
elements such as paper, cardboard, plastics, glass, batteries, or metals; or the use of recyclable
materials. The plan must identify any additional waste management measures and implement those
measures the source considers practical and feasible, considering the effectiveness of waste
management measures already in place, the costs of additional measures, the emissions reductions
expected to be achieved, and any other environmental or energy impacts they might have.

Operator Training and Qualification
§ 60.2070 What are the operator training and qualification requirements?

(a) No CISWTI unit can be operated unless a fully trained and qualified CISWI unit operator is
accessible, either at the facility or can be at the facility within 1 hour. The trained and qualified
CISWI unit operator may operate the CISWT unit directly or be the direct supervisor of one or
more other plant personnel who operate the unit. If all qualified CISWI unit operators are
temporarily not accessible, you must follow the procedures in §60.2100.

(b) Operator training and qualification must be obtained through a State-approved program or by
completing the requirements included in paragraph (c) of this section.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-111



(c) Training must be obtained by completing an incinerator operator training course that includes,
at a minimum, the three elements described in paragraphs (c)(1) through (3) of this section.

(1) Training on the eleven subjects listed in paragraphs (c)(1)(i) through (xi) of this section.

(1) Environmental concerns, including types of emissions.

(11) Basic combustion principles, including products of combustion.

(iii) Operation of the specific type of incinerator to be used by the operator, including proper
startup, waste charging, and shutdown procedures.

(iv) Combustion controls and monitoring.

(v) Operation of air pollution control equipment and factors affecting performance (if applicable).
(vi) Inspection and maintenance of the incinerator and air pollution control devices.

(vii) Actions to correct malfunctions or conditions that may lead to malfunction.

(viii) Bottom and fly ash characteristics and handling procedures.

(ix) Applicable Federal, State, and local regulations, including Occupational Safety and Health
Administration workplace standards.

(x) Pollution prevention.

(xi) Waste’'management practices.

(2) An examination designed and administered by the instructor.

(3) Written material covering the training course topics that may serve as reference material
following completion of the course.

§ 60.2075 When must the operator training course be completed?

The operator training course must be completed by the later of the three dates specified in
paragraphs (a) through (c) of this section.

(a) Six months after your CISWI unit startup.
(b) December 3, 2001.

(c) The date before an employee assumes responsibility for operating the CISWT unit or assumes
responsibility for supervising the operation of the CISWI unit.

§ 60.2080 How do I obtain my operator qualification?

(a) You must obtain operator qualification by completing a training course that satisfies the criteria
under §60.2070(b).

(b) Qualification is valid from the date on which the training course is completed and the operator
successfully passes the examination required under §60.2070(c)(2).

§ 60.2085 How do I maintain my operator qualification?

To maintain qualification, you must complete an annual review or refresher course covering, at a
minimum, the five topics described in paragraphs (a) through (e) of this section.

(a) Update of regulations.

(b) Incinerator operation, including startup and shutdown procedures, waste charging, and ash
handling.

(c) Inspection and maintenance.

(d) Responses to malfunctions or conditions that may lead to malfunction.

(e) Discussion of operating problems encountered by attendees.

§ 60.2090 How do I renew my lapsed operator qualification?

You must renew a lapsed operator qualification by one of the two methods specified in paragraphs (a)
and (b) of this section.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-112



(a) For a lapse of less than 3 years, you must complete a standard annual refresher course described in
§60.2085.

(b) For a lapse of 3 years or more, you must repeat the initial qualification requirements in §60.2080(a).
§ 60.2095 What site-specific documentation is required?

(a) Documentation must be available at the facility and readily accessible for all CISWI unit
operators that addresses the ten topics described in paragraphs (a)(1) through (10) of this section.
You must maintain this information and the training records required by paragraph (c) of this
section in a manner that they can be readily accessed and are suitable for inspection upon request.

(1) Summary of the applicable standards under this subpart.

(2) Procedures for receiving, handling, and charging waste.

(3) Incinerator startup, shutdown, and malfunction procedures.

(4) Procedures for maintaining proper combustion air supply levels.

(5) Procedures for operating the incinerator and associated air pollution control systems within the
standards established under this subpart.

(6) Monitoring procedures for demonstrating compliance with the incinerator operating limits.
(7) Reporting and recordkeeping procedures.

(8) The waste management plan required under §§60.2055 through 60.2065.

(9) Procedures for handling ash.

(10) A list of the wastes burned during the performance test.

(b) You must establish a program for reviewing the information listed in paragraph (a) of this
section with each incinerator operator.

(1) The initial review of the information listed in paragraph (a) of this section must be conducted
within 6 months after the effective date of this subpart or prior to an employee's assumption of
responsibilities for operation of the CISWTI unit, whichever date is later.

(2) Subsequent annual reviews of the information listed in paragraph (a) of this section must be
conducted not later than 12 months following the previous review.

(c¢) You must also maintain the information specified in paragraphs (c)(1) through (3) of this section.

(1) Records showing the names of CISWI unit operators who have completed review of the
information in §60.2095(a) as required by §60.2095(b), including the date of the initial review and
all subsequent annual reviews.

(2) Records showing the names of the CISWI operators who have completed the operator training
requirements under §60.2070, met the criteria for qualification under §60.2080, and maintained or
renewed their qualification under §60.2085 or §60.2090. Records must include documentation of
training, the dates of the initial and refresher training, and the dates of their qualification and all
subsequent renewals of such qualifications.

(3) For each qualified operator, the phone and/or pager number at which they can be reached
during operating hours.

§ 60.2100 What if all the qualified operators are temporarily not accessible?

If all qualified operators are temporarily not accessible (i.e., not at the facility and not able to be at

the facility within 1 hour), you must meet one of the two criteria specified in paragraphs (a) and (b)
of this section, depending on the length of time that a qualified operator is not accessible.

(a) When all qualified operators are not accessible for more than 8 hours, but less than 2 weeks, the
CISWI unit may be operated by other plant personnel familiar with the operation of the CISWI
unit who have completed a review of the information specified in §60.2095(a) within the past 12

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-113



months. However, you must record the period when all qualified operators were not accessible and
include this deviation in the annual report as specified under §60.2210.

(b) When all qualified operators are not accessible for 2 weeks or more, you must take the two
actions that are described in paragraphs (b)(1) and (2) of this section.

(1) Notify the Administrator of this deviation in writing within 10 days. In the notice, state what
caused this deviation, what you are doing to ensure that a qualified operator is accessible, and
when you anticipate that a qualified operator will be accessible.

(2) Submit a status report to the Administrator every 4 weeks outlining what you are doing to
ensure that a qualified operator is accessible, stating when you anticipate that a qualified operator
will be accessible and requesting approval from the Administrator to continue operation of the
CISWI unit. You must submit the first status report 4 weeks after you notify the Administrator of
the deviation under paragraph (b)(1) of this section. If the Administrator notifies you that your
request to continue operation of the CISWTI unit is disapproved, the CISWTI unit may continue
operation for 90 days, then must cease operation. Operation of the unit may resume if you meet the
two requirements in paragraphs (b)(2)(i) and (i1) of this section.

(i) A qualified operator is accessible as required under §60.2070(a).
(ii) You notify the Administrator that a qualified operator is accessible and that you are resuming
operation.

Emission Limitations and Operating Limits
§ 60.2105 What emission limitations must I meet and by when?

You must meet the emission limitations specified in Table 1 of this subpart 60 days after your CISWI
unit reaches the charge rate at which it will operate, but no later than 180 days after its initial startup.

§ 60.2110 What operating limits must I meet and by when?

(a) If you use a wet scrubber to comply with the emission limitations, you must establish operating
limits for four operating parameters (as specified in Table 2 of this subpart) as described in
paragraphs (a)(1) through (4) of this section during the initial performance test.

(1) Maximum charge rate, calculated using one of the two different procedures in paragraph
(a)(1)(@) or (ii), as appropriate.

(i) For continuous and intermittent units, maximum charge rate is 110 percent of the average
charge rate measured during the most recent performance test demonstrating compliance with all
applicable emission limitations.

(ii) For batch units, maximum charge rate is 110 percent of the daily charge rate measured during
the most recent performance test demonstrating compliance with all applicable emission
limitations.

(2) Minimum pressure drop across the wet scrubber, which is calculated as 90 percent of the
average pressure drop across the wet scrubber measured during the most recent performance test
demonstrating compliance with the particulate matter emission limitations; or minimum amperage
to the wet scrubber, which is calculated as 90 percent of the average amperage to the wet scrubber
measured during the most recent performance test demonstrating compliance with the particulate
matter emission limitations.

(3) Minimum scrubber liquor flow rate, which is calculated as 90 percent of the average liquor
flow rate at the inlet to the wet scrubber measured during the most recent performance test
demonstrating compliance with all applicable emission limitations.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-114



(4) Minimum scrubber liquor pH, which is calculated as 90 percent of the average liquor pH at the
inlet to the wet scrubber measured during the most recent performance test demonstrating
compliance with the HCI emission limitation.

(b) You must meet the operating limits established during the initial performance test 60 days after
your CISWI unit reaches the charge rate at which it will operate, but no later than 180 days after its
initial startup.

() If you use a fabric filter to comply with the emission limitations, you must operate each fabric
filter system such that the bag leak detection system alarm does not sound more than 5 percent of
the operating time during a 6-month period. In calculating this operating time percentage, if
inspection of the fabric filter demonstrates that no corrective action is required, no alarm time is
counted. If corrective action is required, each alarm shall be counted as a minimum of 1 hour. If
you take longer than 1 hour to initiate corrective action, the alarm time shall be counted as the
actual amount of time taken by you to initiate corrective action.

§ 60.2115 What if I do not use a wet scrubber to comply with the emission limitations?

If you use an air pollution control device other than a wet scrubber, or limit emissions in some
other manner, to comply with the emission limitations under §60.2105, you must petition the
Administrator for specific operating limits to be established during the initial performance test and
continuously monitored thereafter. You must not conduct the initial performance test until after the
petition has been approved by the Administrator. Your petition must include the five items listed in
paragraphs (a) through (e) of this section.

(2) Identification of the specific parameters you propose to use as additional operating limits.

(b) A discussion of the relationship between these parameters and emissions of regulated
pollutants, identifying how emissions of regulated pollutants change with changes in these
parameters, and how limits on these parameters will serve to limit emissions of regulated
pollutants.

(c) A discussion of how you will establish the upper and/or lower values for these parameters
which will establish the operating limits on these parameters.

(d) A discussion identifying the methods you will use to measure and the instruments you will use
to monitor these parameters, as well as the relative accuracy and precision of these methods and
instruments.

(e) A discussion identifying the frequency and methods for recalibrating the instruments you will
use for monitoring these parameters.

§ 60.2120 What happens during periods of startup, shutdown, and malfunction?

(2) The emission limitations and operating limits apply at all times except during CISWT unit
startups, shutdowns, or malfunctions.
(b) Each malfunction must last no longer than 3 hours.

Performance Testing
§ 60.2125 How do I conduct the initial and annual performance test?

(a) All performance tests must consist of a minimum of three test runs conducted under conditions
representative of normal operations.

(b) You must document that the waste burned during the performance test is representative of the
waste burned under normal operating conditions by maintaining a log of the quantity of waste
burned (as required in §60.2175(b)(1)) and the types of waste burned during the performance test.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-115



(c) All performance tests must be conducted using the minimum run duration specified in Table 1
of this subpart.

(d) Method 1 of appendix A of this part must be used to select the sampling location and number
of traverse points.

(e) Method 3A or 3B of appendix A of this part must be used for gas composition analysis,
including measurement of oxygen concentration. Method 3A or 3B of appendix A of this part must
be used simultaneously with each method.

(f) All pollutant concentrations, except for opacity, must be adjusted to 7 percent oxygen using
Equation 1 of this section:

Cadi= Creas(20.9-7)/(20.9-%0,) (Eq. 1)

Where:

Cag= pollutant concentration adjusted to 7 percent oxygen;

Crneas= pollutant concentration measured on a dry basis;

(20.9-7) = 20.9 percent oxygen—7 percent oxygen (defined oxygen correction basis);
20.9 = oxygen concentration in air, percent; and

%0O,= oxygen concentration measured on a dry basis, percent.

(g) You must determine dioxins/furans toxic equivalency by following the procedures in
paragraphs (g)(1) through (3) of this section.

(1) Measure the concentration of each dioxin/furan tetra-through octachlorinated-congener emitted
using EPA Method 23.

(2) For each dioxin/furan (tetra-through octachlorinated) congener measured in accordance with
paragraph (g)(1) of this section, multiply the congener concentration by its corresponding toxic
equivalency factor specified in Table 3 of this subpart.

(3) Sum the products calculated in accordance with paragraph (g)(2) of this section to obtain the
total concentration of dioxins/furans emitted in terms of toxic equivalency.

§ 60.2130 How are the performance test data used?

You use results of performance tests to demonstrate compliance with the emission limitations in
Table 1 of this subpart.

Initial Compliance Requirements

§ 60.2135 How do I demonstrate initial compliance with the emission limitations and establish
the operating limits?

You must conduct an initial performance test, as required under §60.8, to determine compliance
with the emission limitations in Table 1 of this subpart and to establish operating limits using the
procedure in §60.2110 or §60.2115. The initial performance test must be conducted using the test
methods listed in Table 1 of this subpart and the procedures in §60.2125. '

§ 60.2140 By what date must I conduct the initial performance test?

The initial performance test must be conducted within 60 days after your CISWT unit reaches the
charge rate at which it will operate, but no later than 180 days after its initial startup.

Continuous Compliance Requirements
§ 60.2145 How do I demonstrate continuous compliance with the emission limitations and the
operating limits?

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-116



(a) You must conduct an annual performance test for particulate matter, hydrogen chloride, and
opacity for each CISWI unit as required under §60.8 to determine compliance with the emission
limitations. The annual performance test must be conducted using the test methods listed in Table
1 of this subpart and the procedures in §60.2125.

(b) You must continuously monitor the operating parameters specified in §60.2110 or established
under §60.2115. Operation above the established maximum or below the established minimum
operating limits constitutes a deviation from the established operating limits. Three-hour rolling
average values are used to determine compliance (except for baghouse leak detection system
alarms) unless a different averaging period is established under §60.2115. Operating limits do not
apply during performance tests.

(c) You must only burn the same types of waste used to establish operating limits during the
performance test.

§ 60.2150 By what date must I conduct the annual performance test?

You must conduct annual performance tests for particulate matter, hydrogen chloride, and opacity
within 12 months following the initial performance test. Conduct subsequent annual performance
tests within 12 months following the previous one.

§ 60.2155 May I conduct performance testing less often?

(a) You can test less often for a given pollutant if you have test data for at least 3 years, and all
performance tests for the pollutant (particulate matter, hydro gen chloride, or opacity) over 3
consecutive years show that you comply with the emission limitation. In this case, you do not have
to conduct a performance test for that pollutant for the next 2 years. You must conduct a
performance test during the 3rd year and no more than 36 months following the previous
performance test.

(b) If your CISWI unit continues to meet the emission limitation for particulate matter, hydrogen
chloride, or opacity, you may choose to conduct performance tests for these pollutants every 3rd
year, but each test must be within 36 months of the previous performance test.

() If a performance test shows a deviation from an emission limitation for particulate matter,
hydrogen chloride, or opacity, you must conduct annual performance tests for that pollutant until
all performance tests over a 3-year period show compliance.

§ 60.2160 May I conduct a repeat performance test to establish new operating limits?

(2) Yes. You may conduct a repeat performance test at any time to establish new values for the
operating limits. The Administrator may request a repeat performance test at any time.

(b) You must repeat the performance test if your feed stream is different than the feed streams used
during any performance test used to demonstrate compliance.

Monitoring

§ 60.2165 What monitoring equipment must I install and what parameters must I monitor?

(a) If you are using a wet scrubber to comply with the emission limitation under §60.2105, you
must install, calibrate (to manufacturers' specifications), maintain, and operate devices (or establish
methods) for monitoring the value of the operating parameters used to determine compliance with
the operating limits listed in Table 2 of this subpart. These devices (or methods) must measure and

record the values for these operating parameters at the frequencies indicated in Table 2 of this
subpart at all times except as specified in §60.2170(a).

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-117



(b) If you use a fabric filter to comply with the requirements of this subpart, you must install,
calibrate, maintain, and continuously operate a bag leak detection system as specified in
paragraphs (b)(1) through (8) of this section.

(1) You must install and operate a bag leak detection system for each exhaust stack of the fabric
filter.

(2) Each bag leak detection system must be installed, operated, calibrated, and maintained in a
manner consistent with the manufacturer's written specifications and recommendations.

(3) The bag leak detection system must be certified by the manufacturer to be capable of detecting
particulate matter emissions at concentrations of 10 milligrams per actual cubic meter or less.

(4) The bag leak detection system sensor must provide output of relative or absolute particulate
matter loadings.

(5) The bag leak detection system must be equipped with a device to continuously record the
output signal from the sensor.

(6) The bag leak detection system must be equipped with an alarm system that will sound
automatically when an increase in relative particulate matter emissions over a preset level is
detected. The alarm must be located where it is easily heard by plant operating personnel.

(7) For positive pressure fabric filter systems, a bag leak detection system must be installed in each
baghouse compartment or cell. For negative pressure or induced air fabric filters, the bag leak
detector must be installed downstream of the fabric filter.

(8) Where multiple detectors are required, the system's instrumentation and alarm may be shared
among detectors.

(c) If you are using something other than a wet scrubber to comply with the emission limitations -
under §60.2105, you must install, calibrate (to the manufacturers' specifications), maintain, and
operate the equipment necessary to monitor compliance with the site-specific operating limits
established using the procedures in §60.2115.

§ 60.2170 Is there a minimum amount of monitoring data I must obtain?

(a) Except for monitor malfunctions, associated repairs, and required quality assurance or quality
control activities (including, as applicable, calibration checks and required zero and span
adjustments of the monitoring system), you must conduct all monitoring at all times the CISWI
unit is operating.

(b) Do not use data recorded during monitor malfunctions, associated repairs, and required quality
assurance or quality control activities for meeting the requirements of this subpart, including data
averages and calculations. You must use all the data collected during all other periods in assessing
compliance with the operating limits.

Recordkeeping and Reporting
§ 60.2175 What records must I keep?

You must maintain the fourteen items (as applicable) as specified in paragraphs (a) through (n) of
this section for a period of at least 5 years:

(a) Calendar date of each record.
(b) Records of the data described in paragraphs (b)(1) through (6) of this section:

(1) The CISWI unit charge dates, times, weights, and hourly charge rates.

(2) Liquor flow rate to the wet scrubber inlet every 15 minutes of operation, as applicable.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-118



(3) Pressure drop across the wet scrubber system every 15 minutes of operation or amperage to the
wet scrubber every 15 minutes of operation, as applicable.

(4) Liquor pH as introduced to the wet scrubber every 15 minutes of operation, as applicable.

(5) For affected CISWI units that establish operating limits for controls other than wet scrubbers
under §60.2115, you must maintain data collected for all operating parameters used to determine
compliance with the operating limits.

(6) If a fabric filter is used to comply with the emission limitations, you must record the date, time,
and duration of each alarm and the time corrective action was initiated and completed, and a brief
description of the cause of the alarm and the corrective action taken. You must also record the
percent of operating time during each 6-month period that the alarm sounds, calculated as specified
in §60.2110(c).

(c) Identification of calendar dates and times for which monitoring systems used to monitor
operating limits were inoperative, inactive, malfunctioning, or out of control (except for downtime
associated with zero and span and other routine calibration checks). Identify the operating
parameters not measured, the duration, reasons for not obtaining the data, and a description of
corrective actions taken.

(d) Identification of calendar dates, times, and durations of malfunctions, and a description of the
malfunction and the corrective action taken.

(e) Identification of calendar dates and times for which data show a deviation from the operating
limits in Table 2 of this subpart or a deviation from other operating limits established under
§60.2115 with a description of the deviations, reasons for such deviations, and a description of
corrective actions taken.

(f) The results of the initial, annual, and any subsequent performance tests conducted to determine
compliance with the emission limits and/or to establish operating limits, as applicable. Retain a
copy of the complete test report including calculations.

(g) All documentation produced as a result of the siting requirements of §§60.2045 and 60.2050.

(h) Records showing the names of CISWI unit operators who have completed review of the
information in §60.2095(a) as required by §60.2095(b), including the date of the initial review and
all subsequent annual reviews.

(1) Records showing the names of the CISWI operators who have completed the operator training
requirements under §60.2070, met the criteria for qualification under §60.2080, and maintained or
renewed their qualification under §60.2085 or §60.2090. Records must include documentation of
training, the dates of the initial and refresher training, and the dates of their qualification and all
subsequent renewals of such qualifications.

() For each qualified operator, the phone and/or pager number at which they can be reached during
operating hours.

(k) Records of calibration of any monitoring devices as required under §60.2165.

(1) Equipment vendor specifications and related operation and maintenance requirements for the
incinerator, emission controls, and monitoring equipment.

(m) The information listed in §60.2095(a).

(n) On a daily basis, keep a log of the quantity of waste burned and the types of waste burned
(always required).

§ 60.2180 Where and in what format must I keep my records?

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-119



All records must be available onsite in either paper copy or computer-readable format that can be
printed upon request, unless an alternative format is approved by the Administrator.

§ 60.2185 What reports must I submit?
See Table 4 of this subpart for a summary of the reporting requirements.
§ 60.2190 What must I submit prior to commencing construction?

You must submit a notification prior to commencing construction that includes the five items listed
in paragraphs (a) through (e) of this section.

(a) A statement of intent to construct.

(b) The anticipated date of commencement of construction.

(c) All documentation produced as a result of the siting requirements of §60.2050.
(d) The waste management plan as specified in §§60.2055 through 60.2065.

(e) Anticipated date of initial startup.

§ 60.2195 What information must I submit prior to initial startup?

You must submit the information specified in paragraphs (a) through (e) of this section prior to
initial startup.

(a) The type(s) of waste to be burned.

(b) The maximum design waste burning capacity.

(c) The anticipated maximum charge rate.

(d) If applicable, the petition for site-specific operating limits under §60.2115.
(e) The anticipated date of initial startup.

§ 60.2200 What information must I submit following my initial performance test?

You must submit the information specified in paragraphs (a) through (c) of this section no later
than 60 days following the initial performance test. All reports must be signed by the facilities
manager.

(a) The complete test report for the initial performance test results obtained under §60.2135, as
applicable.

(b) The values for the site-specific operating limits established in §60.2110 or §60.2115.

(c) If you are using a fabric filter to comply with the emission limitations, documentation that a
bag leak detection system has been installed and is being operated, calibrated, and maintained as
required by §60.2165(b).

§ 60.2205 When must I submit my annual report?

You must submit an annual report no later than 12 months following the submission of the
information in §60.2200. You must submit subsequent reports no more than 12 months following
the previous report. (If the unit is subject to permitting requirements under title V of the Clean Air
Act, you may be required by the permit to submit these reports more frequently.)

§ 60.2210 What information must I include in my annual report?

The annual report required under §60.2205 must include the ten items listed in paragraphs (a)
through (j) of this section. If you have a deviation from the operating limits or the emission
limitations, you must also submit deviation reports as specified in §§60.2215, 60.2220, and
60.2225.

(a) Company name and address.

(b) Statement by a responsible official, with that official's name, title, and signature, certifying the
accuracy of the content of the report.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-120



(c) Date of report and beginning and ending dates of the reporting period.
(d) The values for the operating limits established pursuant to §60.2110 or §60.2115.

(e) If no deviation from any emission limitation or operating limit that applies to you has been
reported, a statement that there was no deviation from the emission limitations or operating limits
during the reporting period, and that no monitoring system used to determine compliance with the
operating limits was inoperative, inactive, malfunctioning or out of control.

(f) The highest recorded 3-hour average and the lowest recorded 3-hour average, as applicable, for
each operating parameter recorded for the calendar year being reported.

(8) Information recorded under §60.2175(b)(6) and (c) through (e) for the calendar year being reported.
(h) If a performance test was conducted during the reporting period, the results of that test.

(1) If you met the requirements of §60.2155(a) or (b), and did not conduct a performance test
during the reporting period, you must state that you met the requirements of §60.2155(a) or (b),
and, therefore, you were not required to conduct a performance test during the reporting period.

(§) Documentation of periods when all qualified CISWI unit operators were unavailable for more
than 8 hours, but less than 2 weeks.

§ 60.2215 What else must I report if I have a deviation from the operating limits or the emission
limitations?

(2) You must submit a deviation report if any recorded 3-hour average parameter level is above the
maximum operating limit or below the minimum operating limit established under this subpart, if the
bag leak detection system alarm sounds for more than 5 percent of the operating time for the 6-month
reporting period, or if a performance test was conducted that deviated from any emission limitation.

(b) The deviation report must be submitted by August 1 of that year for data collected during the
first half of the calendar year (January 1 to June 30), and by F ebruary 1 of the following year for
data you collected during the second half of the calendar year (July 1 to December 31).

§ 60.2220 What must I include in the deviation report?

In each report required under §60.2215, for any pollutant or parameter that deviated from the
emission limitations or operating limits specified in this subpart, include the six items described in
paragraphs (a) through (f) of this section.

(2) The calendar dates and times your unit deviated from the emission limitations or operating limit
requirements.

(b) The averaged and recorded data for those dates.

(c) Durations and causes of each deviation from the emission limitations or operating limits and
your corrective actions.

(d) A copy of the operating limit monitoring data during each deviation and any test report that
documents the emission levels.

(e) The dates, times, number, duration, and causes for monitor downtime incidents (other than
downtime associated with zero, span, and other routine calibration checks).

(f) Whether each deviation occurred during a period of startup, shutdown, or malfunction, or
during another period.

§ 60.2225 What else must I report if I have a deviation from the requirement to have a qualified
operator accessible?

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-121



(a) If all qualified operators are not accessible for 2 weeks or more, you must take the two actions
in paragraphs (a)(1) and (2) of this section.

(1) Submit a notification of the deviation within 10 days that includes the three items in paragraphs
(a)(1)(1) through (iii) of this section.

(i) A statement of what caused the deviation.

(i1) A description of what you are doing to ensure that a qualified operator is accessible.
(ii1) The date when you anticipate that a qualified operator will be available.

(2) Submit a status report to the Administrator every 4 weeks that includes the three items in
paragraphs (2)(2)(i) through (iii) of this section.

(1) A description of what you are doing to ensure that a qualified operator is accessible.
(i1) The date when you anticipate that a qualified operator will be accessible.
(iii) Request approval from the Administrator to continue operation of the CISWT unit.

(b) If your unit was shut down by the Administrator, under the provisions of §60.2100(b)(2), due
to a failure to provide an accessible qualified operator, you must notify the Administrator that you
are resuming operation once a qualified operator is accessible.

§ 60.2230 Are there any other notifications or reports that I must submit?
Yes. You must submit notifications as provided by §60.7.
§ 60.2235 In what form can I submit my reports?

Submit initial, annual, and deviation reports electronically or in paper format, postmarked on or
before the submittal due dates.

§ 60.2240 Can reporting dates be changed?

If the Administrator agrees, you may change the semiannual or annual reporting dates. See
§60.19(c) for procedures to seek approval to change your reporting date.

Title V Operating Permits
§ 60.2242 Am Irequired to apply for and obtain a title V operating permit for my unit?

Yes. Each CISWI unit must operate pursuant to a permit issued under section 129(e) and title V of
the Clean Air Act by the later of the two dates in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this section.

(a) Thirty-six months after December 1, 2000.

(b) The effective date of the title V permit program to which your unit is subject. If your unit is
subject to title V as a result of some triggering requirement(s) other than this subpart (for example,
being a major source), then your unit may be required to apply for and obtain a title V permit prior
to the deadlines noted above. If more than one requirement triggers the requirement to apply for a
title V permit, the 12-month timeframe for filing a title V application is triggered by the
requirement which first causes the source to be subject to title V.

Air Curtain Incinerators
§ 60.2245 What is an air curtain incinerator?

() An air curtain incinerator operates by forcefully projecting a curtain of air across an open
chamber or open pit in which combustion occurs. Incinerators of this type can be constructed
above or below ground and with or without refractory walls and floor. (Air curtain incinerators are
not to be confused with conventional combustion devices with enclosed fireboxes and controlled
air technology such as mass burn, modular, and fluidized bed combustors.)

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-122



(b) Air curtain incinerators that burn only the materials listed in paragraphs (b)(1) through (3) of
this section are only required to meet the requirements under “Air Curtain Incinerators”
(§§60.2245 through 60.2260).

(1) 100 percent wood waste.
(2) 100 percent clean lumber.
(3) 100 percent mixture of only wood waste, clean lumber, and/or yard waste.

§ 60.2250 What are the emission limitations for air curtain incinerators?

(2) Within 60 days after your air curtain incinerator reaches the charge rate at which it will operate,
but no later than 180 days after its initial startup, you must meet the two limitations specified in
paragraphs (a)(1) and (2) of this section.

(1) The opacity limitation is 10 percent (6-minute average), except as described in paragraph (a)(2)
of this section.

(2) The opacity limitation is 35 percent (6-minute average) during the startup period that is within
the first 30 minutes of operation.

(b) Except during malfunctions, the requirements of this subpart apply at all times, and each
malfunction must not exceed 3 hours.

§ 60.2255 How must I monitor opacity for air curtain incinerators?

(a) Use Method 9 of appendix A of this part to determine compliance with the opacity limitation.
(b) Conduct an initial test for opacity as specified in §60.8.

(c) After the initial test for opacity, conduct annual tests no more than 12 calendar months
following the date of your previous test.

§ 60.2260 What are the recordkeeping and reporting requirements for air curtain incinerators?

(a) Prior to commencing construction on your air curtain incinerator, submit the three items
described in paragraphs (2)(1) through (3) of this section.

(1) Notification of your intent to construct the air curtain incinerators.
(2) Your planned initial startup date.
(3) Types of materials you plan to burn in your air curtain incinerator.

(b) Keep records of results of all initial and annual opacity tests onsite in either paper copy or
electronic format, unless the Administrator approves another format, for at least 5 years.

(c) Make all records available for submittal to the Administrator or for an inspector's onsite review.

(d) You must submit the results (each 6-minute average) of the initial opacity tests no later than 60
days following the initial test. Submit annual opacity test results within 12 months following the
previous report.

() Submit initial and annual opacity test reports as electronic or paper copy on or before the
applicable submittal date.

(D) Keep a copy of the initial and annual reports onsite for a period of 5 years.
Definitions
§ 60.2265 What definitions must I know?

Terms used but not defined in this subpart are defined in the Clean Air Act and subpart A (General
Provisions) of this part.

Administrator means the Administrator of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency or his/her
authorized representative or Administrator of a State Air Pollution Control Agency.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-123



Agricultural waste means vegetative agricultural materials such as nut and grain hulls and chaff
(e.g., almond, walnut, peanut, rice, and wheat), bagasse, orchard prunings, corn stalks, coffee bean
hulls and grounds, and other vegetative waste materials generated as a result of agricultural
operations.

Air curtain incinerator means an incinerator that operates by forcefully projecting a curtain of air
across an open chamber or pit in which combustion occurs. Incinerators of this type can be
constructed above or below ground and with or without refractory walls and floor. (Air curtain
incinerators are not to be confused with conventional combustion devices with enclosed fireboxes
and controlled air technology such as mass burn, modular, and fluidized bed combustors.)

Auxiliary fuel means natural gas, liquified petroleum gas, fuel oil, or diesel fuel.

Bag leak detection system means an instrument that is capable of monitoring particulate matter
loadings in the exhaust of a fabric filter (i.e., baghouse) in order to detect bag failures. A bag leak
detection system includes, but is not limited to, an instrument that operates on triboelectric, light
scattering, light transmittance, or other principle to monitor relative particulate matter loadings.

Calendar quarter means three consecutive months (nonoverlapping) beginning on: January 1, April
1, July 1, or October 1.

Calendar year means 365 consecutive days starting on January 1 and ending on December 31.

Chemotherapeutic waste means waste material resulting from the production or use of
antineoplastic agents used for the purpose of stopping or reversing the growth of malignant cells.

Clean lumber means wood or wood products that have been cut or shaped and include wet, air-
dried, and kiln-dried wood products. Clean lumber does not include wood products that have been
painted, pigment-stained, or pressure-treated by compounds such as chromate copper arsenate,
pentachlorophenol, and creosote.

Commercial and industrial solid waste incineration (CISWI) unit means any combustion unit that
combusts commercial or industrial waste (as defined in this subpart), that is a distinct operating unit of
any commercial or industrial facility (including field erected, modular, and custom built incineration
units operating with starved or excess air), and any air curtain incinerator that is a distinct operating
unit of any commercial or industrial facility that does not comply with the opacity limits under this
subpart applicable to air curtain incinerators burning commercial or industrial waste. While not all
CISWI units will include all of the following components, a CISWI unit includes, but is not limited to,
the commercial or industrial solid waste feed system, grate system, flue gas system, waste heat
recovery equipment, if any, and bottom ash system. The CISWTI unit does not include air pollution
control equipment or the stack. The CISWT unit boundary starts at the commercial or industrial waste
hopper (if applicable) and extends through two areas: The combustion unit flue gas system, which
ends immediately after the last combustion chamber or after the waste heat recovery equipment, if
any; and the combustion unit bottom ash system, which ends at the truck loading station or similar
equipment that transfers the ash to final disposal. The CISWI unit includes all ash handling systems
connected to the bottom ash handling system. A CISWI unit does not include any of the fifteen types
of units described in §60.2555 of this subpart, nor does it include any combustion turbine or
reciprocating internal combustion engine.

Commercial or industrial waste means solid waste (as defined in this subpart) that is combusted at
any commercial or industrial facility using controlled flame combustion in an enclosed, distinct
operating unit: Whose design does not provide for energy recovery (as defined in this subpart); or
operated without energy recovery (as defined in this subpart). Commercial or industrial waste also
means solid waste (as defined in this subpart) combusted in an air curtain incinerator that is a
distinct operating unit of any commercial or industrial facility.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-124



Contained gaseous material means gases that are in a container when that container is combusted.

Cyclonic barrel burner means a combustion device for waste materials that is attached to a 55
gallon, open-head drum. The device consists of a lid, which fits onto and encloses the drum, and a
blower that forces combustion air into the drum in a cyclonic manner to enhance the mixing of
waste material and air.

Deviation means any instance in which an affected source subject to this subpart, or an owner or
operator of such a source:

(1) Fails to meet any requirement or obligation established by this subpart, including but not limited to
any emission limitation, operating limit, or operator qualification and accessibility requirements;

(2) Fails to meet any term or condition that is adopted to implement an applicable requirement in
this subpart and that is included in the operating permit for any affected source required to obtain
such a permit; or

(3) Fails to meet any emission limitation, operating limit, or operator qualification and accessibility
requirement in this subpart during startup, shutdown, or malfunction, regardless or whether or not
such failure is permitted by this subpart.

Dioxins/furans means tetra- through octachlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans.

Discard means, for purposes of this subpart and 40 CFR part 60, subpart DDDD, only, burned in
an incineration unit without energy recovery.

Drum reclamation unit means a unit that burns residues out of drums (e.g., 55 gallon drums) so
that the drums can be reused.

Energy recovery means the process of recovering thermal energy from combustion for useful
purposes such as steam generation or process heating. i

Fabric filter means an add-on air pollution control device used to capture particulate matter by
filtering gas streams through filter media, also known as a baghouse.

Low-level radioactive waste means waste material which contains radioactive nuclides emitting
primarily beta or gamma radiation, or both, in concentrations or quantities that exceed applicable
Federal or State standards for unrestricted release. Low-level radioactive waste is not high-level
radioactive waste, spent nuclear fuel, or byproduct material as defined by the Atomic Energy Act
of 1954 (42 U.S.C. 2014(e)(2)).

Malfunction means any sudden, infrequent, and not reasonably preventable failure of air pollution
control equipment, process equipment, or a process to operate in a normal or usual manner.
Failures that are caused, in part, by poor maintenance or careless operation are not malfunctions.

Modification or modified CISWI unit means a CISWI unit you have changed later than June 1,
2001 and that meets one of two criteria:

(1) The cumulative cost of the changes over the life of the unit exceeds 50 percent of the original
cost of building and installing the CISWT unit (not including the cost of land) updated to current
costs (current dollars). To determine what systems are within the boundary of the CISWTI unit used
to calculate these costs, see the definition of CISWI unit.

(2) Any physical change in the CISWI unit or change in the method of operating it that increases
the amount of any air pollutant emitted for which section 129 or section 111 of the Clean Air Act
has established standards.

Part reclamation unit means a unit that burns coatings off parts (e.g., tools, equipment) so that the
parts can be reconditioned and reused.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-125



Particulate matter means total particulate matter emitted from CISWI units as measured by Method
5 or Method 29 of appendix A of this part.

Pathological waste means waste material consisting of only human or animal remains, anatomical
parts, and/or tissue, the bags/containers used to collect and transport the waste material, and animal
bedding (if applicable).

Rack reclamation unit means a unit that burns the coatings off racks used to hold small items for
application of a coating. The unit burns the coating overspray off the rack so the rack can be reused.

Reconstruction means rebuilding a CISWI unit and meeting two criteria:

(1) The reconstruction begins on or after June 1, 2001.

(2) The cumulative cost of the construction over the life of the incineration unit exceeds 50 percent
of the original cost of building and installing the CISWT unit (not including land) updated to
current costs (current dollars). To determine what systems are within the boundary of the CISWI
unit used to calculate these costs, see the definition of CISWTI unit.

Refuse-derived fuel means a type of municipal solid waste produced by processing municipal solid
waste through shredding and size classification. This includes all classes of refuse-derived fuel
including two fuels:

(1) Low-density fluff refuse-derived fuel through densified refuse-derived fuel.
(2) Pelletized refuse-derived fuel.

Shutdown means the period of time after all waste has been combusted in the primary chamber.

Solid waste means any garbage, refuse, sludge from a waste treatment plant, water supply
treatment plant, or air pollution control facility and other discarded material, including solid,
liquid, semisolid, or contained gaseous material resulting from industrial, commercial, mining,
agricultural operations, and from community activities, but does not include solid or dissolved
material in domestic sewage, or solid or dissolved materials in irrigation return flows or industrial
discharges which are point sources subject to permits under section 402 of the Federal Water
Pollution Control Act, as amended (33 U.S.C. 1342), or source, special nuclear, or byproduct
material as defined by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2014).

Standard conditions, when referring to units of measure, means a temperature of 68 °F (20 °C) and
a pressure of 1 atmosphere (101.3 kilopascals).

Startup period means the period of time between the activation of the system and the first charge to
the unit.

Wet scrubber means an add-on air pollution control device that utilizes an aqueous or alkaline
scrubbing liquor to collect particulate matter (including nonvaporous metals and condensed
organics) and/or to absorb and neutralize acid gases.

Wood waste means untreated wood and untreated wood products, including tree stumps (whole or
chipped), trees, tree limbs (whole or chipped), bark, sawdust, chips, scraps, slabs, millings, and
shavings. Wood waste does not include:

(1) Grass, grass clippings, bushes, shrubs, and clippings from bushes and shrubs from residential,
commercial/retail, institutional, or industrial sources as part of maintaining yards or other private
or public lands.

(2) Construction, renovation, or demolition wastes.
(3) Clean lumber.
[65 FR 75350, Dec. 1, 2000, as amended at 70 FR 55580, Sept. 22, 2005]

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-126



Table 1 to Subpart CCCC of Part 60—FEmission Limitations

You must meet this

per run)

emission Using this averaging And determining compliance
For the air pollutant limitation® time using this method
Cadmium 0.004 milligrams per [3-run average (1 hour  [Performance test (Method 29 of
dry standard cubic minimum sample time [|appendix A of this part).
meter per run)
Carbon monoxide 157 parts per million [3-run average (1 hour  |Performance test (Method 10,
by dry volume minimum sample time [10A, or 10B of appendix A of this

part).

Dioxins/furans (toxic

0.41 nanograms per

3-run average (1 hour

Performance test (Method 23 of

per run)

equivalency basis) dry standard cubic minimum sample time |[Appendix A of this part).
meter per run)
Hydrogen chloride 62 parts per million by |3-run average (1 hour  [Performance test (Method 26A of
dry volume minimum sample time [appendix A of this part).
per run)
Lead 0.04 milligrams per  |3-run average (1 hour  [Performance test (Method 29 of
dry standard cubic minimum sample time |appendix A of this part).
meter per run)
Mercury 0.47 milligrams per  |3-run average (1 hour  |Performance test (Method 29 of
dry standard cubic minimum sample time [appendix A of this part).
meter per run)
Opacity 10 percent 6-minute averages Performance test (Method 9 of
appendix A of this part).
Oxides of nitrogen 388 parts per million |3-run average (1 hour  [Performance test (Method 7, 7A,
by dry volume minimum sample time [7C, 7D, or 7E of appendix A of
per run) this part).
Particulate matter 70 milligrams per dry |3-run average (1 hour  |Performance test (Method 5 or 29
standard cubic meter |minimum sample time |of appendix A of this part).
per run)
Sulfur dioxide 20 parts per million by |3-run average (1 hour  |[Performance test (Method 6 or 6¢c
dry volume minimum sample time |of appendix A of this part.

*All emission limitations (except for opacity) are measured at 7 percent oxygen, dry basis at
standard conditions. [66 FR 16606, Mar. 27, 2001]

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE

C-127




Table 2 to Subpart CCCC of Part 60—Operating Limits for Wet Scrubbers

For these And monitoring using these minimum frequencies
operating [ You must establish these
i Data Data
parameters operating limits v 3 ]
measurement recording Averaging time
Charge rate |[Maximum charge rate  [[Continuous Every hour |[Daily (batch units) 3-hour rolling
(continuous and intermittent units)®
Pressure Minimum pressure drop [[Continuous Every 15 3-hour rolling®
drop across |or amperage minutes
the wet
scrubber or
amperage to
wet v
scrubber
Scrubber  [Minimum flow rate Continuous Every 15 3-hour rolling®
liquor flow minutes
rate
Scrubber  [|[Minimum pH Continuous Every 15 3-hour rolling®
liquor pH minutes

Calculated each hour as the average of the previous 3 operating hours.
Table 3 to Subpart CCCC of Part 60—Toxic Equivalency Factors

Dioxin/furan congener Toxic equivalency factor
2,3,7,8-tetrachlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin 1
1,2,3,7,8-pentachlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin 0.5
1,2,3,4,7,8-hexachlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin 0.1
1,2,3,7,8,9-hexachlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin 0.1
1,2,3,6,7,8-hexachlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin 0.1
1,2,3,4,6,7,8-heptachlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin 0.01
octachlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin 0.001
2,3,7,8-tetrachlorinated dibenzofuran 0.1
2,3,4,7,8-pentachlorinated dibenzofuran 0.5
1,2,3,7,8-pentachlorinated dibenzofuran 0.05
1,2,3,4,7,8-hexachlorinated dibenzofuran 0.1
1,2,3,6,7,8-hexachlorinated dibenzofuran 0.1
1,2,3,7,8,9-hexachlorinated dibenzofuran 0.1
2,3,4,6,7,8-hexachlorinated dibenzofuran 0.1
1,2,3,4,6,7,8-heptachlorinated dibenzofuran 0.01
1,2,3,4,7,8,9-heptachlorinated dibenzofuran 0.01
octachlorinated dibenzofuran 0.001
NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-128




Table 4 to Subpart CCCC of Part 60—Summary of Reporting Requirements®

Report

Due date

Contents

Reference

Preconstruction
report

Prior to commencing construction

* Statement of intent to construct
* Anticipated date of
commencement of construction

¢ Documentation for siting
requirements

+ Waste management plan

* Anticipated date of initial
startup

§60.2190

Startup notification

Prior to initial startup

* Type of waste to be burned

* Maximum design waste
burning capacity

* Anticipated maximum charge
rate

* If applicable, the petition for
site-specific operating limits

§60.2195

Initial test report

No later than 60 days following
the initial performance test

¢ Complete test report for the
initial performance test

* The values for the site-specific
operating limits

* Installation of bag leak
detection system for fabric filter

§60.2200

Annual report

No later than 12 months
following the submission of the
initial test report. Subsequent
reports are to be submitted no
more than 12 months following
the previous report

* Name and address

» Statement and signature by
responsible official

* Date of report

* Values for the operating limits
* If no deviations or
malfunctions were reported, a
statement that no deviations
occurred during the reporting
period

* Highest recorded 3-hour
average and the lowest 3-hour
average, as applicable, for each
operating parameter recorded for
the calendar year being reported
* Information for deviations or
malfunctions recorded under
§60.2175(b)(6) and (c) through
()

* If a performance test was
conducted during the reporting
period, the results of the test

* If a performance test was not
conducted during the reporting

§§60.2205 and
60.2210

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE

C-129




period, a statement that the
requirements of §60.2155(a) or
(b) were met

* Documentation of periods
when all qualified CISWI unit
operators were unavailable for
more than 8 hours but less than 2
weeks

Emission limitation
or operating limit
deviation report

By August 1 of that year for data
collected during the first half of
the calendar year. By February 1
of the following year for data
collected during the second half
of the calendar year

* Dates and times of deviation
» Averaged and recorded data for
those dates

* Duration and causes of each
deviation and the corrective
actions taken

* Copy of operating limit
monitoring data and any test
reports

« Dates, times, and causes for
monitor downtime incidents

« Whether each deviation
occurred during a period of
startup, shutdown, or
malfunction

§60.2215 and
60.2220

Qualified operator
deviation notification

Within 10 days of deviation

» Statement of cause of deviation
* Description of efforts to have
an accessible qualified operator

* The date a qualified operator
will be accessible

§60.2225(a)(1)

Qualified operator
deviation status
report

Every 4 weeks following
deviation

* Description of efforts to have an
accessible qualified operator

* The date a qualified operator
will be accessible

* Request for approval to continue
operation

§60.2225(a)(2)

Qualified operator
deviation notification

Prior to resuming operation

of resumed operation

* Notification that you are
resuming operation

§60.2225(b)

*This table is only a summary, see the referenced sections of the rule for the complete

requirements.

NSPS Subparts Eb,

Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE

C-130



Subpart EEEE—Standards of Performance for Other Solid Waste Incineration Units for
Which Construction is Commenced After December 9, 2004, or for Which Modification or
Reconstruction is Commenced on or After June 16, 2006

Electronic Code of Federal Regulations (e-CFR) current as of March 29, 2007 - Title 40:
Protection of Environment, Part 60-Standards Of Performance For New Stationary Sources

Source: 70 FR 74892, Dec. 16, 2005, unless otherwise noted.
Introduction
§ 60.2880 What does this subpart do?

This subpart establishes new source performance standards for other solid waste incineration
(OSWI) units. Other solid waste incineration units are very small municipal waste combustion
units and institutional waste incineration units.

§ 60.2881 When does this subpart become effective?

This subpart takes effect June 16, 2006. Some of the requirements in this subpart apply to planning
the incineration unit and must be completed even before construction is initiated on the unit (i.e.,
the preconstruction requirements in §§60.2894 and 60.2895). Other requirements such as the
emission limitations and operating limits apply when the unit begins operation.

Applicability
§ 60.2885 Does this subpart apply to my incineration unit?

Yes, if your incineration unit meets all the requirements specified in paragraphs (a) through (c) of
this section.

(@) Your incineration unit is a new incineration unit as defined in §60.2886.

(b) Yourincineration unit is an OSWI unit as defined in §60.2977 or an air curtain incinerator subject
to this subpart as described in §60.2888(b). Other solid waste incineration units are very small
municipal waste combustion units and institutional waste incineration units as defined in §60.2977.

(c) Your incineration unit is not excluded under §60.2887.
§ 60.2886 What is a new incineration unit?

(a) A new incineration unit is an incineration unit subject to this subpart that meets either of the
two criteria specified in paragraphs (a)(1) or (2) of this section.

(1) Commenced construction after December 9, 2004.

(2) Commenced reconstruction or modification on or after June 16, 2006.

(b) This subpart does not affect your incineration unit if you make physical or operational changes
to your incineration unit primarily to comply with the emission guidelines in subpart FFFF of this
part. Such changes do not qualify as reconstruction or modification under this subpart.

§ 60.2887 What combustion units are excluded from this subpart?

This subpart excludes the types of units described in paragraphs (a) through (q) of this section, as
long as you meet the requirements of this section.

(a) Cement kilns. Your unit is excluded if it is regulated under subpart LLL of part 63 of this
chapter (National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants from the Portland Cement
Manufacturing Industry).

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-131



(b) Co-fired combustors. Your unit, that would otherwise be considered a very small municipal
waste combustion unit, is excluded if it meets the five requirements specified in paragraphs (b)(1)
through (5) of this section.

(1) The unit has a Federally enforceable permit limiting the combustion of municipal solid waste to
30 percent of the total fuel input by weight.

(2) You notify the Administrator that the unit qualifies for the exclusion.

(3) You provide the Administrator with a copy of the Federally enforceable permit.

(4) You record the weights, each calendar quarter, of municipal solid waste and of all other fuels
combusted.

(5) You keep each report for 5 years. These records must be kept on site for at least 2 years. You
may keep the records off site for the remaining 3 years.

(c) Cogeneration facilities. Your unit is excluded if it meets the three requirements specified in
paragraphs (c)(1) through (3) of this section.

(1) The unit qualifies as a cogeneration facility under section 3(18)(B) of the Federal Power Act
(16 U.S.C. 796(18)(B)).

(2) The unit burns homogeneous waste (not including refuse-derived fuel) to produce electricity
and steam or other forms of energy used for industrial, commercial, heating, or cooling purposes.
(3) You notify the Administrator that the unit meets all of these criteria.

(d) Commercial and industrial solid waste incineration units. Your unit is excluded if it is regulated
under subparts CCCC or DDDD of this part and is required to meet the emission limitations
established in those subparts.

(e) Hazardous waste combustion units. Your unit is excluded if it meets either of the two criteria
specified in paragraph (e)(1) or (2) of this section.

(1) You are required to get a permit for your unit under section 3005 of the Solid Waste Disposal
Act.

(2) Your unit is regulated under 40 CFR part 63, subpart EEE (National Emission Standards for
Hazardous Air Pollutants from Hazardous Waste Combustors).

(f) Hospital/medical/infectious waste incinerators. Your unit is excluded if it is regulated under
subparts Ce or Ec of this part (New Source Performance Standards and Emission Guidelines for
Hospital/Medical/Infectious Waste Incinerators).

(g) Incinerators and air curtain incinerators in isolated areas of Alaska . Your incineration unit is
excluded if it is used at a solid waste disposal site in Alaska that is classified as a Class II or Class
I1I municipal solid waste landfill, as defined in §60.2977.

(h) Rural institutional waste incinerators . Your incineration unit is excluded if it is an institutional
waste incineration unit, as defined in §60.2977, and the application for exclusion described in
paragraphs (h)(1) and (2) of this section has been approved by the Administrator.

(1) Prior to initial startup, an application and supporting documentation demonstrating that the
institutional waste incineration unit meets the two requirements specified in paragraphs (h)(1)(i)
and (ii) of this section must be submitted to and approved by the Administrator.

(i) The unit is located more than 50 miles from the boundary of the nearest Metropolitan Statistical
Area,
(i) Alternative disposal options are not available or are economically infeasible.

(2) The application described in paragraph (h)(1) of this section must be revised and resubmitted to
the Administrator for approval every 5 years following the initial approval of the exclusion for
your unit.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-132



(3) If you re-applied for an exclusion pursuant to paragraph (h)(2) of this section and were denied
exclusion by the Administrator, you have 3 years from the expiration date of the current exclusion
to comply with the emission limits and all other applicable requirements of this subpart.

(1) Institutional boilers and process heaters. Your unit is excluded if it is regulated under 40 CFR
part 63, subpart DDDDD (National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants for
Industrial, Commercial, and Institutional Boilers and Process Heaters).

() Laboratory Analysis Units. Your unit is excluded if it burns samples of materials only for the
purpose of chemical or physical analysis.

(k) Materials recovery units. Your unit is excluded if it combusts waste for the primary purpose of
recovering metals. Examples include primary and secondary smelters.

(1) Pathological waste incineration units. Your institutional waste incineration unit or very small
municipal waste combustion unit is excluded from this subpart if it burns 90 percent or more by
weight (on a calendar quarter basis and excluding the weight of auxiliary fuel and combustion air)
of pathological waste, low-level radioactive waste, and/or chemotherapeutic waste as defined in
§60.2977 and you notify the Administrator that the unit meets these criteria.

(m) Small or large municipal waste combustion units. Your unit is excluded if it is regulated under
subparts AAAA, BBBB, Ea, Eb, or Cb, of this part and is required to meet the emission limitations
established in those subparts.

(n) Small power production facilities. Your unit is excluded if it meets the three requirements
specified in paragraphs (n)(1) through (3) of this section.

(1) The unit qualifies as a small power-production facility under section 3(17)(C) of the Federal
Power Act (16 U.S.C. 796(17)(C)).

(2) The unit burns homogeneous waste (not including refuse-derived fuel) to produce electricity.
(3) You notify the Administrator that the unit meets all of these criteria.

(0) Temporary-use incinerators and air curtain incinerators used in disaster recovery. Your
incineration unit is excluded if it is used on a temporary basis to combust debris from a disaster or
emergency such as a tornado, hurricane, flood, ice storm, high winds, or act of bioterrorism and
you comply with the requirements in §60.2969.

(p) Units that combust contraband or prohibited goods. Your incineration unit is excluded if the
unit is owned or operated by a government agency such as police, customs, agricultural inspection,
or a similar agency to destroy only illegal or prohibited goods such as illegal drugs, or agricultural
food products that can not be transported into the country or across State lines to prevent
biocontamination. The exclusion does not apply to items either confiscated or incinerated by
private, industrial, or commercial entities.

(9) Incinerators used for national security. Your incineration unit is excluded if it meets the
requirements specified in either (q)(1) or (2) of this section.

(1) The incineration unit is used solely during military training field exercises to destroy national
security materials integral to the field exercises.

(2) The incineration unit is used solely to incinerate national security materials, its use is necessary
to safeguard national security, you follow the exclusion request requirements in paragraphs
(9)(2)(i) and (ii) of this section, and the Administrator has approved your request for exclusion.

(i) The request for exclusion and supporting documentation must demonstrate both that the
incineration unit is used solely to destroy national security materials and that a reliable alternative
to incineration that ensures acceptable destruction of national security materials is unavailable, on
either a permanent or temporary basis.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-133



(ii) The request for exclusion must be submitted to and approved by the Administrator prior to
initial startup.

§ 60.2888 Are air curtain incinerators regulated under this subpart?

(a) Air curtain incinerators that burn less than 35 tons per day of municipal solid waste or air
curtain incinerators located at institutional facilities burning any amount of institutional waste
generated at that facility are subject to all requirements of this subpart, including the emission
limitations specified in Table 1 of this subpart.

(b) Air curtain incinerators that burn only less than 35 tons per day of the materials listed in
paragraphs (b)(1) through (4) of this section collected from the general public and from residential,
commercial, institutional, and industrial sources; or, air curtain incinerators located at institutional
facilities that burn only the materials listed in paragraphs (b)(1) through (4) of this section
generated at that facility, are required to meet only the requirements in §§60.2970 through 60.2974
and are exempt from all other requirements of this subpart.

(1) 100 percent wood waste.

(2) 100 percent clean lumber.

(3) 100 percent yard waste.

(4) 100 percent mixture of only wood waste, clean lumber, and/or yard waste.

§ 60.2889 Who implements and enforces this subpart?

(a) This subpart can be implemented and enforced by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA), or a delegated authority such as your State, local, or tribal agency. If EPA has delegated
authority to your State, local, or tribal agency, then that agency (as well as EPA) has the authority
to implement and enforce this subpart. You should contact your EPA Regional Ofﬁce to find out if
this subpart is delegated to your State, local, or tribal agency.

(b) In delegating implementation and enforcement authority of this subpart to a State, local, or
tribal agency, the authorities contained in paragraphs (b)(1) through (6) of this section are retained
by EPA and are not transferred to the State, local, or tribal agency.

(1) Approval of alternatives to the emission limitations in Table 1 of this subpart and operating
limits established under §60.2916 and Table 2 of this subpart.

(2) Approval of petitions for specific operating limits in §60.2917.

(3) Approval of major alternatives to test methods.

(4) Approval of major alternatives to monitoring.

(5) Approval of major alternatives to recordkeeping and reporting.

(6) The status report requirements in §60.2911(c)(2).

§ 60.2890 How are these new source performance standards structured?

These new source performance standards contain nine major components, as follows:
(a) Preconstruction siting analysis.

(b) Waste management plan.

(c) Operator training and qualification.

(d) Emission limitations and operating limits.

(e) Performance testing.

(f) Initial compliance requirements.

(g) Continuous compliance requirements.

(h) Monitoring.

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-134



(1) Recordkeeping and reporting.

§ 60.2891 Do all components of these new source performance standards apply at the same time?
No, you must meet the preconstruction siting analysis and waste management plan requirements
before you commence construction, reconstruction, or modification of the OSWI unit. The
operator training and qualification, emission limitations, operating limits, performance testing and

compliance, monitoring, and most recordkeeping and reporting requirements are met after the
OSWI unit begins operation. et

NSPS Subparts Eb, Ec, AAAA, CCCC, and EEEE C-135



ATTACHMENT D

AIR POLLUTION CONTROL DISTRICT
SAN DIEGO COUNTY

WORKSHOP REPORT

ADOPTION BY REFERENCE OF
NEW SOURCE PERFORMANCE STANDARDS FOR
SOLID WASTE COMBUSTION

A workshop notice was mailed to companies in San Diego County that are potentially subject
to any of the 40 Code of Federal Regulations Part 60 (40 CFR Part 60), New Source
Performance Standards (NSPSs) listed below that are proposed for adoption by reference.
Notices were also mailed to all Economic Development Corporations and Chambers of
Commerce in San Diego County, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), the
California Air Resources Board (ARB), and other interested parties.

The workshop was held on March 14, 2007. There were no public comments at the
workshop.

The following NSPSs are proposed to be adopted by reference:
Subpart Eb Standards of Performance for Large Municipal Waste Combustors for

Which Construction Is Commenced After September 20, 1984 or for
Which Modification or Reconstruction Is Commenced After June 19,

1996

Subpart Ec Standards of Performance for Hospital/Medical/Infectious Waste
Incinerators for Which Construction Is Commenced After June 20,
1996

Subpart AAAA Standards of Performance for Small Municipal Waste Combustion
Units for Which Construction Is Commenced After August 30, 1999 or
for Which Modification or Reconstruction Is Commenced After June 6,
2001

Subpart CCCC Standards of Performance for Commercial and Industrial Solid Waste
Incineration units for Which Construction Is Commenced After
November 30, 1999 or for Which Modification or Reconstruction Is
Commenced on or After June 1, 2001

Subpart EEEE Standards of Performance for Other Solid Waste Incineration Units for
Which Construction Is Commenced After December 9, 2004 or for
Which Modification or Reconstruction Is Commenced on or After June
16, 2006





